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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS 
DECISION 

Petitioner Bernard Bellerouche asks this Court to grant 

review of the court of appeals' published majority and dissenting 

opinions in State v. Bellerouche, No. 84887-9-I, filed March 17, 

2025 (Appendix A). A majority of the panel denied Bellerouche's 

motion for reconsideration on March 26, 2025 (Appendix B). 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is this Court's review warranted to resolve the sharp 

divide among the three-judge panel in Bellerouche' s case as to 

how courts determine whether language used at trial could be 

racially coded and, in tum, whether the prosecutor's repeated use 

of the term "beef' was a racially coded term in the context of 

Bellerouche's trial, where one Black man was accused of shooting 

another Black man but no motive was ever established? 

2. Is this Court's review warranted, where the three-

judge panel also could not agree as to whether the trial court erred 

under ER 403 in admitting at best marginally relevant but at worst 
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powerfully inflammatory photographs of Bellerouche wearing a 

shirt depicting a woman's bare bottom and a sexually suggestive 

pun, which could have triggered jurors' unconscious biases and 

alienated Bellerouche from the jury? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petitioner Bernard Bellerouche is a Black man accused of 

shooting another Black man, Terrance Robinson. Although 

Bellerouche's trial was lengthy, with several detectives and expert 

witnesses testifying, the case ultimately boiled down to 

Bellerouche's word against Robinson's. No other eyewitnesses to 

the event testified, and no evidence corroborated Robinson's 

testimony any more than Bellerouche' s testimony. 1 

On July 25, 2020, a large group of people including 

Bellerouche gathered to remember Bellerouche' s best friend, 

Lloyd Whitney, who had passed away the prior year. 2RP 852-53, 

862. Bellerouche's childhood friend, Solomon Egger, also 

1 The dissenting opinion also thoroughly lays out the relevant 
facts of Bellerouche's trial. Dissent, 3-24. 
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attended the memorial. 2RP 857. Egger died in September of 

2020 and so did not testify at Bellerouche's trial. 2RP 636-38. A 

video found on Egger's phone depicted about 10 minutes of the 

memorial, at one point showing a Remy Martin cognac bottle, 

which Bellerouche acknowledged he and others drank from that 

night. 2RP 858-59; Ex. 65 (6: 14 elapsed time, "ET"). 

Many of the attendees, including Bellerouche, his first 

child's mother Leandra Stanton, and Egger, eventually traveled to 

North Seattle to lay flowers at the site where Whitney died. 2RP 

861-63. The attendees dispersed around midnight and a smaller 

group went to get Chinese food at a restaurant in a Shoreline 

business plaza. 2RP 306,863. Egger drove Bellerouche's vehicle, 

with Bellerouche in the front passenger seat and Stanton in the 

back. 2RP 863. 

All day, Bellerouche had been encouraging another friend, 

Dino Nguyen, to attend the memorial. Ex. 86, at 17-24; 2RP 860. 

Nguyen finally joined the group in Shoreline, and Bellerouche 

visited with him for a while. 2RP 865-66. Nguyen could never be 
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located after the shooting and so also did not testify at 

Bellerouche's trial. 2RP 638. 

By 2:00 a.m., Bellerouche was back sitting in the passenger 

seat of his own vehicle. 2RP 869-70. Video from the McDonald's 

drive-through just to the north depicted the bottom half of 

Bellerouche' s black BMW parked next to Nguyen's white Audi 

SUV: 
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Ex. 17; 2RP 865. The Remy Martin bottle is just visible between 

the two vehicles and was later found there. lRP 1180-812
; 2RP 

633-34. Bellerouche's fingerprints were on the bottle. 2RP 382-

84. 

For the next 33 minutes, Bellerouche sat in the passenger 

seat of his vehicle, talking with Stanton, her friend, and Egger, who 

was in and out of the driver's seat. 2RP 869-70. Bellerouche was 

not paying attention to who was in Nguyen's vehicle or what was 

happening in there. 2RP 871. Stanton, who can be seen on the 

McDonald's video at various times, left with her friend at 2:26 a.m. 

2 lRP refers to the transcript from the first half of Bellerouche's 
trial done by Rose Landberg (filed on October 31, 2023). This 
transcript was originally done by a different transcriptionist, but 
it had numerous inaccuracies and inaudible notations, so Ms. 
Landberg redid the transcript. Mot. for Reconsideration, 2-5. 
The original majority and dissenting opinions relied on the old, 
incomplete transcripts. Mot. for Reconsideration, 2, 5-8. The 
dissenting judge corrected the error sua sponte, but the two-judge 
majority refused to reconsider its opinion in light of the new, 
complete transcripts by Ms. Landberg. 3/ 17 /25 Order 
Withdrawing & Substituting Opinion; 3/26/25 Order Denying 
Mot. for Reconsideration. 
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2RP 870-71, 894. Egger can also be seen at times moving around 

outside the vehicle. Ex. 17 (13 :49 ET); 2RP 871-72. 

Bellerouche left the parking lot with Egger driving when 

they heard what sounded like gunshots. 2RP 872. Cell tower 

evidence showed Bellerouche's and Egger's phones in close 

proximity moving south through the Greenwood neighborhood, 

consistent with them leaving together. 2RP 795-98; Ex. 92. 

Bellerouche did not talk to Nguyen about the shooting, because 

"[t]hat whole situation was just sketchy" and he "didn't want to get 

involved with that situation." 2RP 881. 

Robinson's version of events largely lined up with 

Bellerouche's except, of course, for a few key points. Robinson 

was a longtime friend of Egger's. lRP 934-35. Robinson also 

knew Nguyen through Egger and they hung out with the same 

group. lRP 935-36. Robinson claimed to know Bellerouche, as 

well, although only by his nickname Crucial. lRP 936-37. 

Bellerouche did not have Robinson's contact information in his 

phone. 2RP 514. 
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Robinson joined the group in Shoreline at the Chinese 

restaurant. lRP 943-45. Robinson explained he was first there 

with a romantic interest, but refused to give her full name. lRP 

995-96; 2RP 685-86. Eventually, though, Robinson got in the 

back seat of Nguyen's white Audi. lRP 949-50. Robinson said 

he sat behind Nguyen in the driver's seat, with Bellerouche in the 

front passenger seat. lRP 950. There were no arguments; 

apparently, "[e]verything was cordial." lRP 947. 

At 2:20 a.m., the McDonald's video shows Robinson 

cracking his door. Ex. 17 (20:51 ET). Robinson had asked 

Nguyen to unlock the doors because he did not like being locked 

in the car. lRP 957-58. A short time later, Robinson said 

Bellerouche pulled out a black handgun without provocation and 

shot him in the face. lRP 959-60, 1004. As Robinson scrambled 

to get out of the vehicle, he was shot twice more in the shoulder. 

lRP 959; 2RP 258. 

The McDonald's video shows Robinson running from the 

white Audi at 2:33 a.m. Ex. 17 (33:50 ET). Ten seconds later, 
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Nguyen's vehicle leaves to the left, while Bellerouche's vehicle 

leaves heading straight. Ex. 17 (34:00 ET). A third vehicle facing 

the other two also leaves the scene following Nguyen. Ex. 17 

(34:08 ET). Robinson knew the occupant of that vehicle but 

refused to identify him. lRP 960, 1013-14. 

The prosecution charged Bellerouche with first degree 

assault and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 1-2, 

229-30. Bellerouche proceeded to a jury trial. lRP 505. No one 

who identified as Black served on Bellerouche's jury. CP 93. 

Robinson testified Bellerouche was the one who shot him, 

although refused to use Bellerouche' s name or even his nickname, 

calling him only "the defendant" or "the passenger in the white 

truck," referring to Nguyen's white Audi SUV. lRP 944-45, 947, 

950, 955, 960, 970. Bellerouche testified at trial that he was not 

the shooter and instead was sitting in the passenger seat of his own 

vehicle, the black BMW, at the time of the shooting. 2RP 869-72. 

There was no apparent motive for the shooting. 2RP 957. 
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After deliberating for almost two full days, the jury found 

Bellerouche guilty of first degree assault. CP 259-60, 463-64. A 

brief bifurcated trial followed, at which Bellerouche stipulated to 

a prior serious offense but maintained he was not the shooter. 2RP 

1042, 1059. The jury also found Bellerouche guilty of unlawful 

possession of a firearm. CP 260. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

On appeal, Bellerouche raised concerns about implicit racial 

bias potentially infecting his trial. Bellerouche argued the fairness 

of his trial was undermined by (1) race-based prosecutorial 

misconduct throughout trial, as well as (2) trial court error under 

ER 403 in admitting overly prejudicial photographs of him that 

could have triggered harmful stereotypes about Black men. 3 

3 Bellerouche raised an additional claim of prosecutorial 
misconduct based on a comment made during closing argument, 
which he does not advance here. Br. of Appellant, 39-45. 
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1. The sharply divided court of appeals' opmmn 

necessitates this Court's guidance as to how courts 

determine whether language could be racially 

coded and whether racially coded language was 

used in Bellerouche's case. 

Bellerouche's first argument, race-based prosecutorial 

misconduct, centered on the prosecution's repeated use of the term 

"beef' during trial. Br. of Appellant, 29-39; Reply Br., 11-18. 

Neither Robinson nor Bellerouche, nor any other witness, 

introduced the concept of "beef' in their testimony. But the 

prosecution repeatedly used that term, starting with operung 

statement: "Terrance Robinson was unsuspecting. There had been 

no argument. There was no beef." lRP 905. 

Then, on direct-examination of Robinson, the prosecution 

asked, "you have any beef with Solomon Egger?" lRP 934. 

Robinson responded, "Not at all. " lRP 934. The prosecution 

shortly thereafter asked Robinson, "were you fighting [ with Egger] 

or anything like that around July 26th?" lRP 935. Robinson said, 

"Nothing like that." lRP 935. The prosecution then asked, "Prior 
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to this, July 26, 2020, did you have any beef or any argument with 

Crucial?" lRP 937. 

The prosecution brought up "beef' again unprompted on 

cross-examination of Bellerouche. The prosecution first asked 

whether Bellerouche was in fear for his safety from Nguyen, 

Egger, or Robinson. 2RP 890. Bellerouche said no. 2RP 890. 

The prosecution then asked whether Bellerouche had "any 

arguments with any of them on or about July 25th and July 26th, 

2020?" 2RP 890. When Bellerouche responded that he did not, 

the prosecution persisted, "Any beef with any of them?" 2RP 891. 

The prosecution reiterated the term in closing argument, 

"Yes, Terrance was correct, there were no arguments, no beefs 

between anybody at that parking lot that Mr. Bellerouche knew 

about." 2RP 956. 

Bellerouche argued "beef' was a racially coded term in the 

context of his trial-a Black man accused of indiscriminate gun 

violence another Black man-and the prosecutor's repeated use of 
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the term constituted race-based misconduct requiring reversal of 

his convictions. Br. of Appellant, 29-39. 

Bellerouche demonstrated the term "beef' has often been 

used a colloquialism associated with the Black community and/or 

gang violence. For instance, the Oxford English Dictionary 

etymology provides: "Originally in African American usage: 

animosity, ill feeling, antipathy, as between rivals or rival groups. 

Frequently in to have beef (with a person): to hold a grudge 

(against someone), to feud (with someone)," from 1986 to 

present.4 Bellerouche additionally cited to scholarly authority, 

news articles, and alternative dictionaries like Urban Dictionary 

demonstrating the same. Br. of Appellant, 33-35; Reply Br. 12-13 

& n.3. Bellerouche further emphasized the term "beef' is 

frequently used by Black hip-hop and rap artists to connote 

violence, gun violence in particular. Br. of Appellant, 34-35. 

4 OXFORD ENGLISH DICTIONARY, "beef (n.2)" (June 2024), 
https://www.oed.com/dictionary/beef n2?tab=meaning and us 
e#1374537080 (last visited Apr. 25, 2025). 
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Bellerouche emphasized "[n]ot all appeals to racial 

prejudice are blatant." Br. of Appellant, 31  ( quoting State v. 

Monday. 171 Wn.2d 667, 678, 257 P.3d 551 (20 11)). Subtle 

references to racial stereotypes can be "just as insidious" and 

"[p]erhaps more effective." Monday. 171 Wn.2d at 678; see also 

State v. Bagby. 200 Wn.2d 777, 794, 522 P.3d 982 (2023) 

(recognizing "[b ]iases are often activated through the use of coded 

language or racial code words"). 

Bellerouche argued an objective observer could conclude 

repeated use of the term "beef' evoked harmful stereotypes of 

Black men as prone to violent crime. Br. of Appellant, 37-38. The 

term "othered" both Bellerouche and Robinson, suggesting a 

world of feuding, rival gangs, and gun violence likely foreign to 

Bellerouche's jury, none of whom identified as Black. CP 93. 

And, although Robinson and Bellerouche denied any "beef," the 

concept supplied the missing motive for a seemingly senseless act 

of violence by appealing to jurors' unconscious biases about Black 
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men. This, in turn, suggested it was more likely Bellerouche shot 

Robinson because of his race. 

Bellerouche stressed that the prosecution's use of the term 

"beef' was completely unnecessary. Br. of Appellant, 36-37. 

With all but one reference to "beef," the prosecutor also said there 

were no arguments and no fighting between Robinson and 

Bellerouche-neutral ways to convey the same thing. See, e.g., 

lRP 905 ("There had been no argument. There was no beef."), 

937 ("did you have any beef or any argument with Crucial?"); 2RP 

956 ("there were no arguments, no beefs between anybody"). 

Indeed, the prosecutor first asked Bellerouche whether he had "any 

arguments" with Nguyen, Egger, or Robinson. 2RP 890. After 

Bellerouche said no, the prosecutor persisted, "Any beef with any 

of them?" 2RP 89 1. The unnecessary follow-up question, already 

answered, served to emphasize the term "beef' and the distinct 

racially coded concepts inherent in the term. 

Bellerouche' s argument sharply divided the court of 

appeals. The two-judge majority rejected Bellerouche's claim, 

- 14-



drawing a scathing dissent from Judge Linda Coburn. Both 

opinions analyzed but came to very different conclusions about the 

four-factor framework for evaluating race-based misconduct 

claims: "(1) the content and subject of the questions and 

comments, (2) the frequency of the remarks, (3) the apparent 

purpose of the statements, and ( 4) whether the comments were 

based on evidence or reasonable inferences in the record." Bagby. 

200 Wn.2d at 794; Majority, 19; Dissent, 29. 

(1) Content and subject of prosecutor's remarks. The 

majority disagreed with Bellerouche that "beef' was a racially 

coded term in the context of his trial, rejecting Bellerouche's 

reliance on etymology, nonstandard dictionaries, and pop culture 

references. Majority, 21-24. The majority instead concluded, "we 

should assess the words prosecutors use-in the first instance and 

when necessary-by reference to the general meaning of the term 

found in a standard dictionary, particularly when a term is widely 

used." Majority, 22. 
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"Using a standard dictionary," the majority found "the 

meaning of the term 'beer is simply slang for a 'grievance or 

ground for complaint' without any racialized sense of the word." 

Majority, 21 ( quoting WEBSTER' s THIRD INIERNAT'L DICTIONARY 

196 (2002)). The majority therefore held "the term 'beer does not 

have a clear racial connotation to an objective observer, absent 

additional context," because "a racial meaning is not umnistakably 

or exclusively tied to the term 'beef."' Majority, 23. 

The dissent believed the majority's "exercise in semantics 

and etymology . . .  to discern the 'general meaning' of 'beer 

effectively disregard[ ed] the objective observer lens that a court 

must adopt to determine if a prosecutor's language is racially 

coded." Dissent, 30. The dissent criticized the majority for relying 

on inapt statutory interpretation cases to apply the standard 

dictionary definition. Dissent, 30. The dissent emphasized the 

question should not be "whether a word or phrase umnistakably or 

exclusively, or even likely, has a racial connotation, as the majority 

suggests, but instead whether an object observer could recognize 
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in the context of Bellerouche's trial that the prosecutor's use of 

'beer constituted an allusion to negative biases or stereotypes 

about the Black community." Dissent, 31 (footnote and internal 

quotation marks omitted). 

The dissent concluded such was the case here. The dissent 

noted the prosecutor "repeatedly used 'beer in combination with 

'argument' or 'fighting."' Dissent, 35. This juxtaposition "subtly 

suggest[ ed] that 'beer means something more, something 

different than just an argument, fight, or some other generic 

disagreement." Dissent, 35. The sources Bellerouche cited 

demonstrated that, "[u]nlike 'fighting' or 'argument,' 'beer is 

commonly associated with Black hip hop and rap culture to refer 

to feuds between rappers, including rivalries that result in gun 

violence with tragic endings." Dissent, 35. The dissent believed 

"the prosecutor's particular and unnecessary use of 'beer could 

have primed jurors to pay more attention, even subconsciously, to 

Bellerouche's race and activated jurors' implicit biases to cause 

them to associate Bellerouche with stereotypes that position Black 
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criminal defendants in worlds and lifestyles marked by crime and 

violence." Dissent, 36. 

(2) Frequency of the remarks. The majority 

acknowledged the prosecutor used the term "beef' five times 

during Bellerouche's 10-day trial, but emphasized it "was spread 

out over those 10 days." Majority, 25-26. The majority condoned 

the repeated use because it believed each instance "focused, not on 

the State's trial theme, but on a major weakness of the State's case, 

the apparent lack of a motive for the shooting." Majority, 26. 

The dissent disagreed, concluding, "[b ]y introducing 'beef 

early in opening and referring back to it in closing, the prosecutor 

presented a racially driven prism through which the jury should 

view the evidence." Dissent, 42. The dissent further emphasized 

the prosecutor "punctuated the trial at key points by reinforcing the 

racially tied term when examining both Bellerouche and 

Robinson." Dissent, 42. In the dissenting judge's view, this 

demonstrated the term was employed in "an objectively strategic 

manner. " Dissent, 42. 
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(3) Apparent purpose for the term. The majority 

concluded the prosecution's use of the term "beef' in its 

examination of Robinson and Bellerouche was simply "to 

determine the circumstances surrounding and prior to the 

shooting." Majority, 27. 

The dissent believed the majority, m so concluding, 

"critically fail[ ed] to consider the larger trial narrative in which the 

remarks were made." Dissent, 43. The dissent emphasized 

Washington Supreme Court precedent requires courts "to assess 

an allegation of race-based prosecutorial misconduct within the 

entire context of the trial." Dissent, 43 (citing cases). In the 

context of Bellerouche's entire trial, the dissent concluded, "the 

objective observer could conclude that the 'beef remarks were 

among the breadcrumbs dropped by the prosecutor to lead jurors 

down a path to fill an obvious gap in the State's evidence-why 

would Bellerouche shoot Robinson?" Dissent, 43. 

This context, among other things, included a detective 

misidentifying another Black man as Bellerouche in the Egger 
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video and speculating that the man "appeared" to have a firearm in 

his hand. Dissent, 44, 48; 2RP 468-69. The defense demonstrated 

the man was, in fact, Bellerouche's friend Demetrius Lindsey and 

he was carrying a key chain. 2RP 856-58; Ex. 78. The prosecution 

played, over defense objection, the audio from the Egger video that 

featured Lil Wayne's entire rap song "I Miss My Dawgs," 

including the lyric "Me and you to the very end, for only you I'll 

sin again" repeated six times, as well as the lyric "We thug." 

Dissent, 44-47; Ex. 65 (starting at 1:14 ET); lRP 797-99. The 

prosecution also baselessly implied Bellerouche was a drug dealer. 

Dissent, 48-49; 2RP 888-89. The dissent believed this context 

demonstrated "the prosecutor effectively cleared the way for the 

jury to associate the word 'beef with other objectively odious 

breadcrumbs to reinforce the stereotype that Bellerouche, because 

he is Black, was more likely to have ruthlessly shot Robinson for 

no reason other than to 'sin again' as a commemorative act for his 

dead friend." Dissent, 47-48. 
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(4) Basis in the evidence. The majority finally concluded 

the prosecution's use of the term "in its opening statement and 

closing argument derived directly from its examination of 

Robinson and Bellerouche." Majority, 28. 

The dissent countered that "[n]either Robinson nor 

Bellerouche used the term during their testimony." Dissent, 51 

n.47. Instead, the dissent emphasized, "[t]he only time that 'beer 

was uttered during trial was by the prosecutor." Dissent, 51 . The 

dissent noted Bellerouche did not advance any defense theory or 

argument "regarding a preceding 'beer that would objectively 

warrant the State's response. "  Dissent, 50. Nor were the 

prosecutor's remarks "prompted by the facts of the case," where 

there was "no evidence of any 'beer between Bellerouche and 

Robinson, or any of the individuals who were present at the 

parking lot when the shooting occurred." Dissent, 50. The dissent 

stressed, "if the prosecutor's purpose was only to establish the 

circumstances around the crime, the prosecutor could have simply 
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limited the remarks or questions to the sanitized terms of 

'argument' or 'fight."' Dissent, 50. 

The stark division among the three-judge panel 

demonstrates the need for this Court's ongoing guidance on issues 

of racial bias in the legal system. Bellerouche's case, in particular, 

presents the unresolved question of how Washington courts should 

determine whether a word or phrase could be racially coded. 

RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 

Bellerouche also believes the majority opinion is in conflict 

with this Court's precedent, most particularly the holding from 

Henderson: "When a participant in the trial uses language that 

could evoke racist stereotypes, courts should not presume that such 

language has no effect----on them or on the jurors." Henderson v. 

Thompson, 200 Wn.2d 417, 439, 518 P.3d 10 11  (2022). 

RAP 13.4(b)(l). The majority fashioned a new standard that the 

language used must "unmistakably or exclusively" have a racial 

connotation. Dissent, 23. This too-high standard undermines 
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courts' continuous obligation to eradicate racial bias from the legal 

system. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 

Review of Bellerouche's race-based misconduct claim is 

not only warranted, but necessary. 

2. This Court's review is also warranted to resolve 

whether tenuously relevant and unnecessary 

photographs of Bellerouche could have triggered 

jurors' implicit biases. 

Bellerouche's second argument, the trial court's ER 403 

error, centered around two photographs of Bellerouche the trial 

court admitted over defense objection. Br. of Appellant, 45-53; 

Reply Br., 1-11. Well into Bellerouche's trial, the prosecution 

sought to introduce two photographs taken of Bellerouche at the 

time of his December 2020 arrest wearing a shirt depicting a 

woman's buttocks, a bottle of Hennessy, and the pun, "Hennything 

Is Possible Tonight": 
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Ex. 68 (cropped to remove Bellerouche' s face). The prosecution's 

theory of relevance was that Hennessy is a type of cognac, m alcing 

it more likely Bellerouche drank from the Remy Martin cognac 

bottle on the night in question. 2RP 421-22. 

Defense counsel objected to admission of the photographs 

under ER 403, asserting the "incredibly attenuated" probative 

value was "deep! y outweighed by presenting :Mr. Bell erouche in a 

shirt with an exposed woman's bottom in it." 2RP 421. Counsel 
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emphasized the prosecution had already presented testimony from 

two latent print examiners who found Bellerouche's fingerprints 

on the Remy Martin bottle. 2RP 423. Counsel further argued the 

arresting detective could simply testify Bellerouche was wearing a 

shirt that referenced Hennessy, negating any need for the "totally 

prejudicial" photos. 2RP 424. 

The trial court agreed "it's a different brand" of cognac and 

"the fact that he's wearing the shirt doesn't necessarily mean that 

he drinks it." 2RP 424. The court further agreed "there's prejudice 

by the fact that the shirt can be potentially considered by the jury 

as crude." 2RP 425. The court nevertheless admitted the 

photographs, finding the relevance as articulated by the 

prosecution outweighed the danger of unfair prejudice. 2RP 425. 

The prosecution displayed the photographs to the jury 

during the arresting detective's testimony and asked him to 

describe Bellerouche's shirt. 2RP 475-76. The prosecution also 

questioned Bellerouche about the shirt, even after Bellerouche 

acknowledged he drank from the Remy Martin bottle. 2RP 858-
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59, 886-87. The photographs were admitted into evidence for the 

jury's viewing during deliberations. Ex. 68; CP 476. 

Bellerouche argued on appeal that the trial court abused its 

discretion under ER 403 in admitting the at best marginally 

relevant but powerfully inflammatory photographs. Br. of 

Appellant, 45-53. Bellerouche asserted it was tenuous to say he 

was drinking from the Remy Martin bottle on the night in question 

because he was wearing a shirt over four months later with a 

different kind of cognac on it. Br. of Appellant, 47. 

Far more probative was the undisputed fact that his 

fingerprints were on the Remy Martin bottle, which could also be 

seen on the Egger video. 2RP 382-84, 404-07; Ex. 65 (6: 14 ET). 

Additionally, Bellerouche had already conceded in opening 

statement that he "was in the parking lot that evening when this 

incident occurred." lRP 918. The defense further agreed the 

arresting detective could testify Bellerouche was wearing a 

Hennessy shirt, a far less prejudicial way of introducing the same 

exact evidence. 2RP 424. 
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Conversely, Bellerouche argued, the photographs of his 

shirt were unfairly prejudicial. Br. of Appellant, 48-49. The shirt 

depicted a woman's bare bottom with the sexual innuendo 

"Hennything Is Possible Tonight." Ex. 68. As the trial court itself 

recognized, the shirt was "crude." 2RP 425. Many jurors probably 

found the shirt distasteful, even offensive, given that Bellerouche 

was living with his significant other and young children at the time 

of his arrest. The shirt invited the jury to speculate about 

Bellerouche's apparent lifestyle and irrelevant personal choices. 

Bellerouche argued there was a reasonable probability the 

photographs affected the jury's decision. Br. of Appellant, 49-53. 

Bellerouche emphasized "[h]ighly prejudicial images may sway a 

jury in ways that words cannot." Br. of Appellant, 49 (quoting In 

re Pers. Restraint ofGlasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696,707,286 P.3d 673 

(20 12)). Images should therefore "not be used to communicate to 

the jury a covert message that would be improper if spoken aloud." 

State v. Salas, 1 Wn. App. 2d 931, 945, 408 P.3d 383 (20 18). 

Certainly, it would have been improper for the prosecution to 
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verbally emphasize the woman's bare bottom or to argue 

Bellerouche objectified women, which the shirt suggested. Br. of 

Appellant, 50-51. 

Furthermore, the photographs primed the jury in a way 

courts and scholars recognize can trigger unconscious racial 

biases. Bagby. 200 Wn.2d at 795. For instance, the photographs 

could have triggered harmful stereotypes of Black men as 

misogynistic or '"intensely sexual,"' which in turn could have 

alienated Bellerouche from the jury with no Black participants. Br. 

of Appellant, 51  (quoting N. Jeremi Duru, The Central Park Five, 

the Scottsboro Boys, and the Myth of the Bestial Black Man, 25 

CARDOZO L. REV. 1315, 1345 (2004)). 

The harmful stereotypes that could be drawn from 

Bellerouche' s shirt were particularly problematic in a case that 

boiled down to Bellerouche's word against Robinson's. See 

Bagby. 200 Wn.2d at 795 (recognizing subtle manipulations of the 

accused's background "cues can affect juror decision-making 

more so than even explicit references to race"). The jurors had to 
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assess Bellerouche's credibility in light of what they knew about 

him. The inflammatory, unnecessary photographs put a proverbial 

thumb on the prosecution's scale. Bellerouche therefore argued 

for reversal on this additional basis. Br. of Appellant, 52-53. 

The two-judge majority rejected Bellerouche's argument, 

holding he failed to show the photographs "create[ d] an unfairness 

that substantially outweigh[ ed]" their concededly "marginal 

probative value." Majority, 12. The majority agreed the trial court 

"accurately described the shirt as 'crude."' Majority, 11. The 

majority nevertheless concluded Bellerouche's concerns about the 

photographs triggering unconscious racial biases "are based on 

questionable leaps oflogic." Majority, 11. The majority reasoned, 

though Bellerouche's shirt contained a "sexually suggestive 

image," it was merely "cheesey" and "lightly embarrassing" to 

Bellerouche. Majority, 12. 

The majority further held, even if wrongly admitted, 

Bellerouche failed to demonstrate prejudice from admission of the 

photographs. Majority, 14-16. The majority reasoned 
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Bellerouche' s shirt was not emphasized during testimony and was 

not referenced during closing argument. Majority, 14. The 

majority further concluded "the jury had ample evidence other 

than the shirt photos to assess Bellerouche' s word against 

Robinson's." Majority, 15. The majority ultimately found it "hard 

to believe" that "a jury of Bellerouche' s peers would convict him 

of such a serious crime because of a shirt." Majority, 15. 

The dissenting judge again disagreed with the majority and 

would have reversed on this additional basis. Dissent, 51-52. The 

dissent emphasized "evidence of scant or cumulative probative 

force, dragged in by the heels for the sake of its prejudicial effect 

is not permitted." Dissent, 56 (internal quotation marks omitted) 

(quoting Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 223, 867 P.2d 610 

( 1994)). The dissent concluded the majority failed to consider, as 

required by ER 403, that there was "ample alternative evidence to 

place Bellerouche at the scene of the shooting." Dissent, 60 

( footnote omitted). 
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The dissent acknowledged,"[ w]here some may describe the 

image as 'cheesy' and 'lightly embarrassing,' as the majority does 

here, others could describe the image as objectifying women and 

agree with defense that the photos improperly cast Bellerouche in 

a negative light laced with misogyny." Dissent, 51-52 (citation 

omitted). Thus, the dissent reasoned, the majority inappropriately 

"filter[ ed] the potential prejudicial effect of evidence through only 

its own subjective lens." Dissent, 59. The dissent concluded the 

majority failed to "consider it is just as likely that one juror may 

not be impacted by the 'crude' or 'risque' T-shirt as it is that 

another may be offended by it-or by the notion that someone 

would choose to wear it." Dissent, 60. 

To this end, the dissent agreed with Bellerouche that 

"[i]mages can sway jurors in ways that words cannot by triggering 

rapid unconscious responses." Dissent, 57. The dissent 

recognized "[a] person's dress can cause viewers to make 

decisions about the person's social background and moral 

character," and research has found "that clothing 'influences the 
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credibility of individuals,"' undermining the majority's contrary 

conclusion. Dissent, 58 (quoting Mohammad Aliakbari, Does It 

Matter What We Wear? A Sociolinguistic Study of Clothing and 

Human Values, 5 INT'L J. LINGUISTICS 34, 36 (20 13)). The dissent 

therefore would have held "the photos risked othering or 

distancing Bellerouche from the jury by portraying him in an 

unfavorable light." Dissent, 65. 

The majority and dissenting opinions raise the important 

question of whether ER 403 is completely toothless even when it 

comes to tenuously relevant evidence that could alienate the 

accused from the jury and trigger jurors' implicit biases. 

RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). The diverging opinions further raise the 

question of whether the reviewing court should apply its own 

subjective perceptions of evidence in evaluating whether the 

danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs its minimal 

probative value. RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). In other words, how do courts 

examine evidence that could appeal to jurors' unconscious biases 
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and in tum undermine the fairness of the trial? This Court should 

therefore grant review ofBellerouche's ER 403 claim. 

E. CONCLUSION 

This Court should grant review and reverse the court of 

appeals. 

DATED this 25th day of April, 2025. 

I certify this document contains 4,984 words, excluding 

those portions exempt under RAP 18.17. 

Respectfully submitted, 

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 

MARY T. SWIFT, WSBA No. 45668 
Attorney for Petitioner 
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3/ 1 7/2025 

Court of Appeals 
D iv ision I 

State of Wash ington 

IN TH E COU RT OF APPEALS OF TH E STATE OF WAS H I N GTON 

STATE OF WAS H I NGTO N ,  

Respondent ,  

V .  

BERNARD BELLEROUCHE ,  

Appel lant .  

No. 84887-9- 1 

D IVIS ION ONE  

PUBL ISHED  O P I N ION 

DiAZ , J .  -A j u ry convicted Bernard Bel lerouche of assau lt i n  the fi rst deg ree 

and un lawfu l possess ion of a fi rearm , for shooti ng Terrence Rob inson th ree t imes, 

i nc lud ing once i n  the face . Bel lerouche pr imari ly a l leges th ree errors occu rred at 

tria l .  F i rst, he cla ims the court shou ld have excluded , under ER 403 , photos of the 

sh i rt he wore at h is arrest, which conta i ned a sexual ly suggestive p ictu re .  Second , 

Bel lerouche,  who is African American ,  argues the State comm itted race-based 

prosecutor ial m isconduct by us ing the term "beef" five t imes du ring tria l ,  largely 

when d iscuss ing whether he and Rob inson ,  who is also B lack, had a d ispute prior 

to the shooti ng . Th i rd ,  he avers that the State based its clos ing argument on an 

un reasonable i nference or evidence outs ide the record when it cla imed Rob inson 

feared Bel lerouche wou ld "come back and fi n ish the job . "  We hold there is no 

revers ib le error and affi rm Bel lerouche's convict ions ,  but remand th is matter to 

stri ke the vict im pena lty assessment and to correct a clerical error i n  h is judgment 

and sentence .  
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I .  BACKGROU N D  

A. Overview of the Shooting 

On Ju ly 25 ,  2020 , Bel lerouche attended a memoria l  for a deceased friend . 

After the memoria l ,  Bel lerouche,  Rob i nson , Solomon Egger, 1 and D ino Nguyen 2 

trave led to a bus i ness p laza near the i ntersect ion of Au rora Avenue and 1 52nd 

Street. At approximate ly 2 : 30 a . m . ,  Rob i nson fled from the bus i ness p laza after 

he was shot .  Rob i nson suffered th ree gunshot wounds ,  inc lud ing one to the face . 

Rob i nson ran to a cas ino across the street for he lp .  The cas i no's emp loyees ca l led 

9 1 1 and an ambu lance took Rob i nson to the hospita l .  

A surve i l lance camera at  a nearby McDonalds part ia l ly captu red the 

incident. However, the surve i l lance video d id not captu re the shooti ng itself as it 

occu rred i ns ide Nguyen 's wh ite Aud i SUV. Rob i nson and Bel lerouche testified to 

vastly d ifferent accounts of the shooti ng . We add ress each . 

1 .  Su rve i l lance Video 

The surve i l lance video's t imestamp starts at 2 : 00 a .m .  A b lack BMW is 

parked in the upper rig hthand corner of the video . However, on ly the lower ha lf of 

the BMW is vis ib le and its windows are enti re ly out of frame. At tria l ,  Bel lerouche 

testified the B lack BMW belonged to h im .  

1 At tria l ,  Rob i nson and  Bel lerouche each testified that Egger was the i r  friend and 
that he was present near the scene of the shooti ng . However, a detective testified 
that Egger d ied in September 2020 before authorit ies cou ld locate or contact h im .  
Add it iona l ly ,  the record uses both "Egger" and  "Eggers . "  However, we uti l ize 
"Egger" as the parties' appel late briefs both use that spel l i ng . 
2 At tria l ,  Rob i nson and Bel lerouche each testified that they knew Nguyen and that 
the shooti ng occu rred i ns ide Nguyen 's wh ite Aud i .  Bel lerouche fu rther testified 
that Nguyen was h is friend . However, a detective testified that they were unable 
to locate Nguyen after the shooti ng . 

2 
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A wh ite Aud i SUV is parked approximate ly one parki ng spot away from the 

BMW. Most, if not a l l ,  of the Aud i is vis ib le .  Even so ,  it is d ifficu lt , if not imposs ib le ,  

to see i ns ide of the Aud i 's windows . Tria l  test imony establ ished that the wh ite Aud i 

belonged to Nguyen .  

At 2 :20 a . m . ,  the Aud i 's d river s ide back door opens bu t  i s  qu ickly closed 

and left s l ig htly ajar .  I t  is not poss ib le to see who is i ns ide the veh icle even when 

th is back door is opened . Rob i nson testified at tria l  that he was i n  the back seat 

and opened the door .  At 2 : 33 :25  a . m . ,  the Aud i 's d river s ide back door opens 

aga in  and Rob i nson sticks h is foot out .  At 2 : 33 :49 a . m . ,  Rob i nson's foot sudden ly 

jo lts and he qu ickly runs to the left out of the video's frame after s lamming the car 

door .  At 2 : 33 : 57 a . m . ,  the Aud i then d rives off to the left out of the video's frame. 

At 2 : 34 : 0 1  a . m . ,  the BMW then d rives off to the rig ht out of the v ideo's frame.  The 

video ends at 2 : 34 : 20 a . m .  

2 .  Rob i nson's Account 

Rob inson testified that he arrived at the bus i ness p laza alone sometime 

after m idn ight .  Subsequently, Bel lerouche,  Egger, and Nguyen also arrived . 

Rob i nson said the fou r  were "U ] ust hang ing out" and consumed cognac and 

coca ine .  

At the t ime of  the shooti ng , Rob i nson claimed he sat i n  the d river's s ide 

back seat of  Nguyen 's wh ite Aud i ,  wh i le Nguyen sat i n  the d river's seat and 

Bel lerouche sat i n  the front passenger seat. Rob i nson subsequently to ld h is 

stepfather , detectives , and the j u ry that Bel lerouche shot h im .  

As wi l l  be  d iscussed i n  more deta i l  below, the State also asked Rob inson if 
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he was "arguing with anybody" prior to the shooting . Robinson responded "I don't 

know." Robinson also testified that he opened the Audi's driver side back door 

before the shooting "u]ust some for wild reason" (sic) and because he "was 

scared." 

Robinson claimed he met Bellerouche in 2009 or 201 0. But, Robinson 

ind icated he never socialized with Bellerouche "one-on-one." 

3 .  Bellerouche's Account 

Bellerouche testified that he arrived at the business plaza around midnight 

with Egger and about thirty other people from the memorial. He claimed he did not 

remember seeing or interacting with Robinson at the business plaza. He further 

claimed he did not consume any drugs that night. However, he acknowledged that 

his fingerprints were found on a cognac bottle seen on the surveillance video and 

later found at the scene. 

At the t ime of the shooting, Bellerouche claimed he sat in the front 

passenger seat of his BMW, while Egger sat in the driver's seat. Bellerouche 

further testified that, sometime before the shooting, Nguyen arrived at the business 

plaza in his white Audi. But, Bellerouche claimed he "wasn't really paying attention 

to who was in" the Audi. 

At around 2:30 a .m . ,  Bellerouche testified that Egger and he "left the parking 

[lot] when [they] heard something that sounded like gunshots." Bellerouche further 

claimed Egger later updated Bellerouche on the shooting, telling him only that 

Nguyen was unharmed. Bellerouche also claimed to have talked with Nguyen a 

"day or two later or something l ike that." The State then asked Bellerouche why 

4 
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he d id not i nqu i re fu rther about the shooti ng when he previously said Nguyen was 

h is friend . Bel lerouche responded that the "situation was j ust sketchy" and he 

"d id n 't want to get i nvo lved . "  

The State asked Bel lerouche i f  he had ever previously spoken with 

Rob i nson and Bel lerouche responded " [n ]o ,  not necessari ly , no . "  Bel lerouche 

fu rther testified he was unaware that Rob inson had been shot unt i l  h is arrest i n  

December 2020 .  

B .  Overview of the I nvestigation as  Testified at Tria l  

At tria l ,  detectives testified as to Rob inson's i n it ia l  re luctance to cooperate . 

Rob i nson refused to speak with a detective at the hosp ita l on the day of the 

shoot ing and "wasn't rea l ly forthcoming with a lot of i nformat ion" at the i r  fi rst 

meet ing i n  J u ly 2020 . 

Further , and as acknowledged by the State , Rob i nson made statements on 

the day of the shooti ng that were incons istent with h is later identificat ion of 

Bel lerouche as the shooter. For example ,  the State's open ing argument 

acknowledged Rob inson "to ld the patro l officer that a b l u ish car . . .  pu l led up  on 

me and somebody i ns ide that car shot me" but that the surve i l lance v ideo wou ld 

instead show Rob inson "was shot i ns ide the wh ite Aud i . "  The State fu rther 

acknowledged that Rob inson to ld fi rst responders that "he d id not get a good look 

at who shot h im"  even though the video and test imony wou ld i nd icate Rob inson 

"had been i n  that car for 24 m i nutes before Bel lerouche shot h im . "  

U lt imate ly, the State presented un rebutted test imony that Rob inson 

identified Bel lerouche as the shooter at th ree d ifferent t imes . On the day of the 
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shooting , Rob i nson told h is stepfather at the hosp ita l that "Crucia l"  shot h im .  The 

stepfather passed th is n ickname on to detectives . Later on at tria l ,  Bel lerouche 

stipu lated that "Crucia l"  is h is n ickname.  

At the i r  i n it ia l  i nterview i n  J u ly 2020 ,  detectives offered to show Rob inson a 

photo montage that conta i ned a photo of Bel lerouche.  Rob i nson refused to look 

at the montage .  I nstead , Rob i nson sa id  " I ' l l  do  you one better" and showed 

detectives a photo of Bel lerouche on h is phone .  The detective recogn ized the 

photo as Bel lerouche as it was the same photo used i n  the montage .  Sti l l ,  

Rob i nson d id not g ive detectives a name with the  photo . 

I n  August 2020 ,  Rob inson met with detectives aga i n .  Once agai n ,  the 

detectives sought to show Rob inson a photo montage that conta i ned a photo of 

Bel lerouche.  A detective testified that Rob inson "seemed unwi l l i ng to look at it" 

and he "d id n 't want to or was unwi l l i ng to make an identification . "  I nstead , 

Rob i nson "said someth ing , i n  essence ,  ' I  showed you the photo before , '  and that 

was it . "  Rob i nson d id ,  however, te l l  detectives that "Crucia l"  shot h im .  

C .  Procedu ral  H istory and  Tria l  

In October 2020 , the State charged Bel lerouche with assau lt i n  the fi rst 

deg ree and un lawfu l possess ion of a fi rearm i n  the fi rst deg ree . I n  December 2020 ,  

the  pol ice arrested Bel lerouche at  a home i n  Arizona .  

A ten-day j u ry tria l  began i n  September 2022 . Rob i nson testified he was 

shot by the "passenger in the wh ite truck , "  referri ng to the wh ite Aud i SUV. 

Rob i nson also p icked Bel lerouche's photo from a montage in front of the j u ry .  

In October 2023 ,  the j u ry found Bel lerouche gu i lty as charged . The court 
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sentenced Bel lerouche to 249 months of i ncarceration .  Bel lerouche t imely 

appeals . 

I I .  ANALYS IS  

A .  Adm issib i l ity of Sh i rt Photos U nder ER 403 

Bel lerouche argues that the court abused its d iscret ion under ER 403 by 

adm itt ing over h is object ion "marg i na l ly re levant" but "powerfu l ly i nflammatory" 

photog raphs of the sh i rt Bel lerouche wore du ring h is arrest. As described by 

Bel lerouche,  the sh i rt dep icted a "woman's bare bottom with the sexual i n nuendo 

'Hennyth ing Is  Poss ib le Ton ight . "' We hold Bel lerouche d id not carry h is bu rden 

to show the court abused its cons iderable d iscret ion i n  adm itt ing the photo and , 

even if it d i d ,  we conclude that the error was harm less . 

1 .  Add it ional Facts 

Outs ide the presence of the j u ry ,  Bel lerouche's tria l  counsel moved to 

exclude the sh i rt photos from the December 2020 arrest. H is counsel expressed 

concern that the "State is try ing to make a connect ion that because Mr. 

Bel lerouche is weari ng a Hennessy, ent i re ly d ifferent brand of cognac, t-sh i rt that 

therefore ,  he is more l i ke ly to have comm itted th is crime or be connected to th is 

crime because a cognac bottle was" found at the scene ,  which was "an i ncred ib ly 

attenuated argument . "  I n  other words ,  h is counsel argued under ER 403 that the 

photos' " i ncred ib ly m i n imal"  p robative va lue was "deeply outweighed by presenti ng 

Mr. Bel lerouche i n  a sh i rt with an exposed woman's bottom i n  it . "3 

3 On appea l ,  the State avers that Bel lerouche improperly "argues for the fi rst t ime 
on appeal that the exh ib it was unfa i rly prejud ic ia l  because it amounted to a 
'comment' on h is 'apparent l ifestyle . "' Even assum ing arguendo Bel lerouche fa i led 
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The State responded in  part that Rob i nson had testified that Bel lerouche 

was d ri nking cognac the n ight of th is shoot ing and the "fact that M r. Bel lerouche is 

later arrested weari ng a cognac t-sh i rt . . .  makes it more l i ke ly that that Rob i nson's 

test imony on the matter is cred ib le . "  

The court den ied Bel lerouche's motion , exp la i n i ng that " it i s  re levant the fact 

that Hennessy, a cognac bottle was found at the scene . . .  and Bel lerouche was 

photog raphed with a Hennessy sh i rt . "  The court acknowledged that "there's 

prejud ice by the fact that the sh i rt can be potentia l ly cons idered by the j u ry as 

crude , "  but found that "the probative va lue i n  th is instance outweighs the danger 

of any unfa i r  p rej ud ice . "  

The  court adm itted the sh i rt photos after the State la id fu rther foundation . 

Du ring its cross examinat ion , the State asked Bel lerouche if he d rank cognac at 

the scene of the shooting and if he wore a Hennessy branded sh i rt when he was 

arrested . Bel lerouche responded affi rmative ly to both questions .  There were no 

questions re lated to the image on the sh i rt .  

2 .  D iscuss ion 

a .  Relevance 

I n  genera l ,  " [a] I I  re levant evidence is adm iss ib le . "  ER 402 . Evidence is 

re levant " if it makes the existence of a fact of consequence more or less probable 

to be true than without the evidence . "  State v .  Arredondo ,  1 88 Wn .2d 244 , 259 ,  

394 P . 3d 348 (20 1 7) ;  ER 401 . Fu rther, th is cou rt has held that " [w]hen the identity 

to fu l ly flesh out th is argument be low, we exercise our  d iscret ion to cons ider it as 
presented here .  RAP 2 . 5(a) . 
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of the perpetrator of a crime is at issue ,  any evidence tend ing to identify the 

accused as the gu i lty person is re levant . " State v .  Sel lers ,  39 Wn . App .  799 , 805 , 

695 P .2d 1 0 1 4  ( 1 985) ; see also State v. Huber ,  1 29 Wn . App .  499 , 50 1 -02 , 1 1 9 

P . 3d 388 (2005) . I n  sum ,  " [t] he th reshold to adm it re levant evidence is very low" 

and " [e]ven m in ima l ly re levant evidence is adm iss ib le . "  State v. Darden , 1 45 

Wn .2d 6 1 2 , 62 1 ,  4 1  P . 3d 1 1 89 (2002) . 

"Th is cou rt reviews a tria l  cou rt's evident iary ru l i ngs for abuse of d iscretion . "  

I n  re Pers .  Restra int of Qu i ntero ,  29 Wn . App .  2d 254 ,  290 ,  54 1 P . 3d 1 007 (2024) . 

"A reviewing court may not fi nd abuse of d iscret ion s imp ly because it wou ld have 

decided the case d ifferently-it must be convi nced that 'no reasonable person 

wou ld take the view adopted by the tria l  court . "' State v. Salgado-Mendoza , 1 89 

Wn .2d 420,  427 ,  403 P . 3d 45 (20 1 7) ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng 

State v .  Perez-Cervantes , 1 4 1  Wn .2d 468, 475 , 6 P . 3d 1 1 60 (2000)) . 

Bel lerouche concedes the photog raphs were re levant but asserts that they 

were "on ly marg i na l ly re levant . " He argues that there was on ly a "tenuous" 

connection between h im d ri nking a Remy Mart in cognac bottle on the n ight of the 

shoot ing and him weari ng a Hennessey cognac sh i rt over fou r  months later. 

Wh i le this may be true as far as it goes , we hold that the court d id not abuse 

its d iscret ion i n  fi nd ing the sh i rt photos were at least somewhat re levant and , th us 

without more ,  adm iss ib le .  Darden ,  1 45 Wn .2d at 62 1 . The sh i rt Bel lerouche wore 

i n  the photos references a brand of cognac and a cognac bottle was found at the 

scene .  The sh i rt photos , th us ,  make it at least somewhat more probable that 

Bel lerouche was at the scene of the shooti ng , clearly a re levant fact , even if not 
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contested . Arredondo ,  1 88 Wn .2d at 259 .  Further , Rob i nson testified that he saw 

Bel lerouche d ri nking cognac, and , thus ,  the sh i rt photos have some tendency to 

bo lster Rob i nson 's cred ib i l ity , a fact re levant to Bel lerouche's cu lpab i l ity . Sel lers ,  

39 Wn . App .  a t  805 . Bel lerouche fa i ls to estab l ish the court's fi nd ing that the 

evidence is s imp ly re levant is one "no reasonable person" wou ld take . Salgado­

Mendoza , 1 89 Wn .2d at 427 .  

b .  Substantia l ly Outweighed by  Prejud ice 

The next question is whether th is re levant evidence " is substantia l ly 

outweighed by the danger of unfa i r  p rejud ice . "  ER 403 . 4 "Evidence causes unfa i r  

p rejud ice when i t  is 'more l i ke ly to  arouse an emotional  response than a rat ional 

decis ion by the j u ry . "' C ity of Auburn v .  Hed lund , 1 65 Wn .2d 645 , 654 , 20 1 P . 3d 

3 1 5 (2009) ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng State v. Cron i n ,  1 42 Wn .2d 

568 , 584 , 1 4  P . 3d 752 (2000)) . And "the bu rden of demonstrat ing unfa i r  p rej ud ice 

is on the party seeking to exclude the evidence , "  here ,  Bel lerouche .  State v .  

Bu rki ns ,  94 Wn . App .  677 , 692 , 973 P .2d 1 5  ( 1 999) . 

The " l i nchp in  word is ' unfa i r"' and the court must "we igh the evidence i n  the 

context of the tria l  itse lf. " State . v .  Bernson ,  40 Wn . App .  729 ,  736 , 700 P .2d 758 

( 1 985) . As such , an ER 403 analys is "shou ld consider the ava i lab i l ity of other 

means of proof" among other factors . State v .  McCreven ,  1 70 Wn . App .  444 , 457 ,  

284 P . 3d 793 (20 1 2) .  

4 ER 403 includes many ways i n  which the probative va lue of re levant evidence 
may be outweighed by other considerations ,  i ncl ud i ng the "need less presentat ion 
of cumu lative evidence . "  Bel lerouche ass igns error on ly to the danger of unfa i r  
p rejud ice .  
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The super ior cou rt's "balancing of probative va lue aga inst its prejud ic ia l  

effect or  potent ial to m is lead under ER 403 with a g reat deal of deference ,  using a 

'man ifest abuse of d iscret ion '  standard of review. "  State v. Luvene ,  1 27 Wn .2d 

690 ,  707 , 903 P .2d 960 ( 1 995) (quoti ng State v .  Russe l l ,  1 25 Wn .2d 24 , 78 ,  882 

P .2d 747 ( 1 994)) . A man ifest abuse of d iscret ion occu rs when " ' the tria l  cou rt's 

exercise of d iscret ion is man ifestly un reasonable or based upon untenable 

g rounds or reasons . "' State v .  Case , 1 3  Wn . App .  2d 657 , 668 ,  466 P . 3d 799 

(2020) ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng State v .  L i le ,  1 88 Wn .2d 766 , 

782 , 398 P . 3d 1 052 (20 1 7)) . 

We hold that Bel lerouche has not carried h is bu rden to show a man ifest 

abuse of d iscretion . The court accu rate ly described the sh i rt as "crude . "  It 

u nnecessari ly then found that "the probative va lue . . .  outweighs the danger of any 

unfa i r  p rejud ice . "  That is not the test . Bel lerouche has to show, now on appea l ,  

that the  unfa i r  p rejud ice "substantia l ly" outweighs the  probative va lue of  th is 

re levant evidence ,  a h ig her standard .  ER 403 . 

Bel lerouche's tria l  counsel 's sole argument was that the State was "aski ng 

for the j u ry to d raw" i nferences and ask "hypotheticals , "  such as "why someone 

buys the sh i rt ,  why someone wears the sh i rt ,  what that means . "  On appea l ,  

Bel lerouche avers that these photos "amounted to  a prej ud ic ia l  comment on Mr. 

Bel lerouche's apparent l ifestyle that a l ienated h im from the j u ry" as it " reca l ls 

offens ive stereotypes of a m isogyn istic 'gangster' or  'th ug"' and "eas i ly trigger 

j u rors' unconscious racia l  b iases . "  

We hold that these arguments are based on questionable leaps of log ic .  I t  
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is unclear to us how a s ingu lar  image on a "cheesy" sh i rt ,  wh ich Bel lerouche 

happened to be weari ng on the day of h is arrest, wou ld "man ifestly" cause the 

j u rors to engage i n  such specu lation and a l ienation , such that it "arouse[s] an 

emotional"  rather than "a rat ional decis ion by the j u ry , "  when considering h is gu i lt 

and freedom , let a lone clearly cause the j u ry to sit i n  j udgment of h is ent i re l ifestyle . 

Luvene ,  1 27 Wn .2d at  707 ; Hed l und , 1 65 Wn .2d at  654 . That is a stretch . 

Moreover, it is unclear to us how the p ictu re of the sh i rt is "u nfa i r , "  when 

aga in  it s imp ly happens to be the l ig htly embarrass ing sh i rt Bel lerouche happened 

to choose to wear the day he happened to be arrested . Bernson ,  40 Wn . App .  at 

736 . The putative unfa i rness cannot come from the fact that he was weari ng a 

sh i rt advertis ing a lcohol  or  that he d ri nks such alcohol  (as he testified to both) ,  but 

on ly that the photos conta ined a s ingu lar  sexual ly suggestive image on i t .  

McCreven ,  1 70 Wn . App .  at 457 . 

We hold that Bel lerouche has not shown , as is h is burden ,  that that image 

creates an unfa i rness that substantially outweighs the marg i nal  p robative va lue of 

the connect ion between the sh i rt and either Bel lerouche's presence at the scene 

or Rob i nson's cred ib i l ity . Thus,  under the "g reat deal of deference" afforded to 

such decis ions ,  we do not fi nd revers ib le error. Luvene ,  1 27 Wn .2d at 707 . 

c. Harm lessness 

Even assuming arguendo that the court erred in balancing the probative 

va lue and prejud ic ia l  effect of the photos , an " [e]vident iary error is g rounds for 

reversal on ly if it resu lts i n  prejud ice . "  State v. Nea l ,  1 44 Wn .2d 600 ,  6 1 1 ,  30 P . 3d 

1 255 (200 1 ) .  "An error is prejud ic ia l  if, 'with i n  reasonable probab i l it ies , had the 
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error not occu rred , the outcome of the tria l  wou ld have been materia l ly affected . "' 

� (quoti ng State v. Sm ith , 1 06 Wn .2d 772 , 780 ,  725 P .2d 95 1 ( 1 986)) . Fu rther, 

" [ i ]mproper adm iss ion of evidence constitutes harm less error if the evidence is of 

m i nor s ign ificance i n  reference to the evidence as a whole . "  �; see also State v .  

P i rt le , 1 27 Wn .2d 628,  653 ,  904 P .2d 245 ( 1 995) (" I n  l i ght of the g ruesome photos 

of the vict ims that were also before the j u ry ,  it cannot be said that the ' i n- l ife' photos 

cou ld have added much add it ional  p rej ud ice . ") .  

Bel lerouche argues the photog raphs of h is sh i rt were "powerfu l ly 

i nflammatory" d ue to the sh i rt 's "depict[ ion of] a woman's bare bottom with the 

sexual i n nuendo ' Hennyth ing Is  Poss ib le Ton ight . "' He reasons the case 

essentia l ly "bo i led down to Mr. Bel lerouche's word aga inst M r. Rob i nson's" and the 

" i nflammatory,  u nnecessary photog raphs put a proverb ia l  thumb on the 

prosecution 's scale . "  

I n  support ,  Bel lerouche ana log izes to  State v .  Salas , 1 Wn . App .  2d 93 1 , 

408 P . 3d 383 (20 1 8) .  There ,  the State showed the j u ry a PowerPoint s l ide 

comparing a photo of the defendant to that of the victim .  � at 94 1 .  The victim 's 

photo showed h im "at an amusement park . . .  crouched down , sm i l i ng , su rrounded 

by th ree people d ressed i n  cartoon costumes . "  � Further, the photo's caption 

read '"Band leader ,  saxophone p layer, customer service representative . "' � 

"J uxtaposed with th is photog raph is a g rim image of Salas's face cropped from h is 

d river's l icense . "  � The photo's capt ion reads '" Footbal l  p layer, fig hter, 

outdoorsman . "' I d .  

Th is cou rt held that the photos improperly "evoke[d] h i g h  school 
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stereotypes" and "made the visual  po int that [the defendant] was dangerous ,  wh i le 

[the vict im] was meek. " .!sl at 945 , 947 . The court fu rther l i kened the photo 

comparison to the problematic usage of a "booki ng photo in Walker" which was 

"shown alongside a smi l i ng  p ictu re of the victim . "  .!sl at 945 (citi ng State v. Walker ,  

1 82 Wn .2d 463 ,  474 , 34 1 P . 3d 976 (20 1 5)) . Fu rther , th is cou rt observed that 

" [v] isua l  arguments 'man ipu late aud iences by harness ing rap id and unconscious 

or emotional  reason i ng process and by exp lo iti ng the fact that we do not genera l ly 

question the rap id concl us ions we reach based on visua l ly presented i nformation . "' 

.!sl at 946 ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng I n  re Pers .  Restra int of 

G lasmann ,  1 75 Wn .2d 696 , 708 , 286 P . 3d 673 (20 1 2)) . And we held that the " risk 

of swaying a j u ry th rough use of prej ud ic ia l  imagery is perhaps h ighest d u ring 

clos ing argument ,  when j u rors may be particu larly aware of, and suscept ib le to , 

the arguments presented . "  .!sl at 947 .  

The present appeal i s  d isti ngu ishable from Salas . Here ,  there was no  

j uxtaposit ion with Rob inson i n  the p ictu re ,  evoki ng sympathy or preferences for the 

victim .  There ,  the photos p layed a much more central  ro le as they were 

prom inently d isp layed du ring the State's clos ing argument .  .!sl at 94 1 . Here ,  the 

sh i rt photos were on ly briefly referenced by the State in front of the j u ry when 

question ing a detective and Bel lerouche.  There was no l i ngering on nor questions 

about the sexual ly suggestive image on the sh i rt ,  and the photos were not 

d isp layed and the sh i rt was not referenced at clos ing argument a l l .  I n  sum ,  even 

if we were to hold that the image here is somehow s im i lar  to the j uxtaposed , 

subconsciously man ipu lative photos i n  Sa las s imp ly for be ing a photo , the State 
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here d id not uti l ize or emphas ize the sh i rt photos i n  the same manner as Salas, 

thus e l im inat ing any analogous mater ial effect on the outcome of the tria l ,  i . e . , its 

prejud ice .  Sm ith , 1 06 Wn .2d at 780 . 

Equa l ly importantly, Bel lerouche's j u ry had numerous add it ional  p ieces of 

evidence ,  fi rst , to gauge the cred ib i l ity of Bel lerouche versus Rob inson 's .  For 

example ,  the j u ry heard test imony on Rob inson 's i n it ia l  re luctance to cooperate 

with authorit ies . The j u ry also heard test imony and argument on Rob inson's 

statements that were incons istent with h is later identificat ion of Bel lerouche.  The 

j u ry also heard Rob inson 's test imony that he ,  and Bel lerouche,  consumed cognac 

and , indeed , coca ine the n ight of the shooti ng . Bel lerouche also asserted that ce l l  

phone locat ion data supported h is test imony that he left the scene with Egger .  The 

j u ry a lso heard ,  and thus cou ld eva luate , Bel lerouche's exp lanat ions for why he 

d id not attempt to contact h is friend Nguyen for days after the shooti ng . I n  other 

words ,  the j u ry had ample evidence other than the sh i rt photos to assess 

Bel lerouche's word aga inst Rob inson 's .  

F ina l ly ,  we cannot ho ld that it is "with i n  reasonable probab i l it ies , "  that, had 

the arguendo "error not occu rred , the outcome of the tria l  wou ld have been 

materia l ly affected . "  Nea l ,  1 44 Wn .2d at 6 1 1 .  The vict im reported at th ree d ifferent 

t imes prior to tria l  and testified at tria l ,  a lbeit re luctantly, that Bel lerouche shot h im 

i n  the face . A sh i rt with a p ictu re of  a bare bottom is noth ing i f  not of  "m inor  

s ign ificance" i n  that context . kl We fi nd i t  hard to  bel ieve , even i n  a "cred ib i l ity 

contest , "  as Bel lerouche describes the central  issue ,  that a j u ry of Bel lerouche's 

peers wou ld convict h im of such a serious crime because of a sh i rt .  
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Thus ,  i n  the context of the enti re tria l ,  Bel lerouche has fa i led to estab l ish it 

is l i ke ly the photos , even if wrong ly adm itted , p rej ud iced h im .  Bernson ,  40 Wn . 

App .  729 ; Nea l ,  1 44 Wn .2d at 6 1 1 (quoti ng Sm ith , 1 06 Wn .2d at 780) . 

B .  State's Usage of the Term "Beef" 

The State used the term "beef" five t imes du ring tria l  when exp loring 

whether Bel lerouche and Rob inson (or  others) had a d isag reement. Bel lerouche 

argues that such use of "the racia l ly coded" term '"beef' to characterize argument 

between young B lack men . . .  evoked harmfu l stereotypes of B lack men engaged 

in ind iscrim inate gun  v io lence ,  suggesti ng Mr. Bel lerouche was more l i ke ly to have 

shot Mr. Rob i nson because of h is race . "  We d isag ree . 

1 .  Add it ional Facts 

The State used the term "beef" the fo l lowing five t imes du ring tria l .  5 F i rst, 

near the beg i nn ing of the State's open ing  statement, it cla imed "Rob i nson was 

unsuspecti ng . There had been no argument .  There was no beef. Sudden ly 

without provocat ion . . .  Crucia l  [ i . e . , Bel lerouche] tu rned on [Rob i nson] pu l led the 

gun  and shot h im .  Pointb lank . "  (Emphasis added . )  

Second , d u ring the State's d i rect examination of Rob inson ,  i t  asked i f  he  

"ha[d] any beef with . . .  Eggers [sic] ?" (Emphasis added . )  Rob i nson responded 

" [n]ot at a l l . "  S im i larly, the State then asked Rob i nson i f  he had  "any beef or any 

argument with Crucia l?" (Emphasis added . )  Rob i nson responded " [n]o . "  

Fourth , d u ring the State's cross examinat ion of Bel lerouche,  i t  asked i f  he 

5 The State also used the term "beef" a s ixth t ime.  However, th is reference is 
i rre levant as it referred to a "Mongol ian beef" d ish at a restau rant near the scene 
of the shooting . 

1 6  



No .  84887-9- 1/1 7 

"ha[d] any arguments with [Nguyen ,  Egger, or  Rob i nson] on or about J u ly 25th and 

Ju ly 26th , 2020?" Bel lerouche responded " [n]o . "  The State then asked "[a]ny beef 

with any of them?" (Emphasis added . )  Bel lerouche aga in  responded " [n]o . "  The 

State add it iona l ly asked if he "ha[d] any arguments with anybody else who was 

present that n ight at the parki ng lot outs ide the Ch i nese restau rant?" Bel lerouche 

aga in  responded " [n]o . "  

F ina l ly ,  t he  State claimed du ring its clos ing argument that " [Robinson] was 

correct , there were no arguments ,  no beefs between anybody at that parki ng lot 

that M r. Bel lerouche knew about . "  (Emphasis added . )  The State made th is remark 

with i n  a l ist of "the many th ings that [Robi nson] testified to about Crucial" and the 

shoot ing itse lf. 

2 .  D iscuss ion 

A prosecutor serves "as the representative of the people" and "[d]efendants 

are among the people the prosecutor represents . "  State v. Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d 

667 , 676 , 257 P . 3d 551 (20 1 1 ) .  Thus ,  the State "owes a duty to defendants to see 

that the i r  rig hts to a constitutiona l ly fa i r  tria l  are not vio lated . "  kl The State violates 

a defendant's " rig ht to an impart ial j u ry when the prosecutor resorts to racist 

argument and appeals to racial stereotypes or racial b ias to ach ieve convictions . "  

kl (citi ng CONST. art .  I ,  § 22) . 

When a defendant cla ims race-based prosecutor ial m isconduct ,  

Wash ington cou rts apply the objective observer test . State v. Bagby. 200 Wn .2d 

777 , 792-93 ,  522 P . 3d 982 (2023) . U nder th is test, cou rts must determ ine whether 

the State "flag rantly or  apparently i ntentiona l ly appealed to j u rors' potent ial racial 

1 7  



No .  84887-9- 1/1 8 

b ias" i n  the sense that "an objective observer could view the prosecutor's questions 

and comments as an appeal  to j u rors' potential p rejud ice ,  b ias ,  or  stereotypes i n  a 

manner that underm ined the defendant's cred ib i l ity or  the presumption of 

i nnocence . "6 .!sl at 793 (emphasis added) ;  Henderson v. Thompson ,  200 Wn .2d 

4 1 7 ,  438-39 , 5 1 8 P . 3d 1 0 1 1 (2022) (same) . The State's "subjective i ntent is not 

cons idered i n  race-based prosecutor ial m iscond uct cla ims . "  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 

79 1 . Further , the court cons iders "the context of the tria l  as a whole . "  State v .  

Roberts , 32 Wn . App .  2d 57 1 , 607 , 553 P . 3d 1 1 22 (2024) . 

We also assume an objective observer " is aware of the h istory of race and 

ethn ic  d iscrim inat ion i n  the U n ited States and that imp l ic it ,  i nstitutiona l ,  and 

unconscious b iases , i n  add ition to pu rposefu l d iscrim i nation , have i nfluenced j u ry 

6 We ag ree with our  esteemed co l league i n  d issent that the term "cou ld"  does not 
mean always . D issent at 3 1 , n .  28 (citi ng S imbu lan v. Nw. Hosp. & Med . Ctr. , 32 
Wn . App .  2d 1 64 ,  1 77 ,  1 83 ,  555 P . 3d 455 (2024)) . And , instead , the term "cou ld "  
means " reasonable poss ib i l ity . "  .!sl (citi ng A l  Hayek v.  M i les , No .  39989-3- 1 1 1 ,  s l i p  
op .  at  9 (Wash .  Ct .  App .  Jan . 30 ,  2025) , 
https ://www.courts .wa .gov/op in ions/pdf/399893_pub . pdf) ;  see also State v .  
Ph i l l ips , No .  39857-9- 1 1 1  (Wash .  Ct. App .  Jan . 30 ,  2025) , 
https ://www.courts .wa .gov/op in ions/pdf/398579_pub . pdf. That is the standard we 
are applyi ng . We are not demand ing that the term "beef' '" unm istakably or 
excl us ively , '  or  even l i kely, has a racial connotation , "  as the d issent accuses the 
majority of do ing . D issent at 3 1 . But it is worth repeat ing that mere conceivab i l ity 
or  theoretica l poss ib i l ity is not the standard .  S imbu lan , 32 Wn . App .  2d at 1 76-77 
(d isti ngu ish ing  "poss ib le" from "probab le") ((quoti ng WEBSTER'S TH IRD NEW 
I NTERNATIONAL D ICTIONARY 323 (2002)) ; see also WEBSTER'S TH IRD I NTERNATIONAL 
D ICTIONARY 1 77 1  (2002) (defi n ing "poss ib le" as "fa l l i ng  with i n  the bounds of what 
may be . . .  conce ived") ; BLACK'S LAW D ICTIONARY 1 4 1 0 ( 1 2th ed . 2024) (defi n i ng 
"poss ib i l ity" as a "qua l ity , state , or  cond ition of being conceivable i n  theory") . And , 
respectfu l ly ,  the d issent's analys is at key poi nts strays i nto theoretica l poss ib i l ity . 
See , �. D issent at 36 (" . . .  use of ' beef cou ld have pr imed j u rors to pay more 
attention , even subconsciously ,  to Bel lerouche's race") , 40 (the fact that the vict im 
was b lack "does not negate the reasonable poss ib i l ity that the prosecutor's racial ly­
coded language could have also impacted j u rors' decis ion-making processes as 
to Bel lerouche's gu i lt") . 
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verd icts i n  Wash i ngton State . "  .!sl at 801 . Further , "courts must account for the 

un ique natu re of imp l icit b ias" and the i nherent chal lenge of gaug i ng imp l icit b ias .  

State v .  Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d 647 ,  663 , 444 P .3d 1 1 72 (20 1 9) .  After a l l ,  " [n ]ot a l l  

appeals to racial p rej ud ice are b latant" and "a carefu l word here and there can 

trigger racial b ias . "  Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 678 . 

To make such a determ ination ,  ou r  Supreme Court d i rects us to "cons ider 

( 1 ) the content and subject of the quest ions and comments ,  (2) the frequency of 

the remarks , (3) the apparent pu rpose of the statements ,  and (4) whether the 

comments were based on evidence or reasonable i nferences in the record . "  

Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 794 . We add ress each factor in tu rn . 

a .  Content and  Subject of the  State's Quest ions and  Comments 

Our  Supreme Court observed i n  Bagby that " [c]oded language often 

i nvo lves themes or euphem isms that evoke a conception of ' us' versus 'them . "' 

200 Wn .2d at 794 (quoti ng Praatika Prasad , Note , Implicit Racial Biases in 

Prosecutorial Summations: Proposing an Integrated Response, 86 FORDHAM L .  

REV. 309 1 , 3 1 0 1  (20 1 8)) . Th is  "otheri ng" '" h i gh l ig ht[s] the d ifference between the 

j u rors and B lack defendants' and suggest[s] that B lack defendants are i nherently 

d ifferent from wh ite j u rors and deserve less sympathy. "  .!sl 

I n  Bagby, the State cal led "attent ion to Bagby's ' nat iona l ity , "' and "p layed 

i nto a stereotype that to be American is to be wh ite and to be B lack is somehow 

'fore ig n . "' .!sl at 795 (citi ng C la i re Jean Kim ,  President Obama and the 

Polymorphous "Other" in U. S. Political Discourse, 1 8  ASIAN AM . L . J . 1 65 ,  1 68 ,  1 70 

(20 1 1 )) . Add it iona l ly ,  the State's "use of racial identifiers and frequent 
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j uxtaposit ion ing  of B lack versus wh ite fu rther d rew attent ion to Bagby's race as a 

factor i n  the tria l . "  !sl at 796 . 

The State's questions and comments i n  Bagby, and other s im i lar  cases , 

perta i ned to content or  referred to subjects that clearly i nvoked racial b iases . !sl 

at 795-96 ; Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 678-79 (State referenced the '" no sn itch ing '  

movement" and " referr[ed] to  'po l ice' as ' po- leese"') ; State v .  l barra-Erives , 23 Wn . 

App .  2d 596 , 606 , 5 1 6  P . 3d 1 246 (2022) ('"Mexican ounce"') ;  State v. McKenzie ,  

21 Wn . App .  2d 722 , 723 ,  508 P . 3d 205 (2022) ("The on ly pu rpose served by 

referenc ing the gori l la p imp concept was to tap i nto deep-seated racial p rej ud ice") ; 

State v. Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d 698 , 703 ,  5 1 2  P . 3d 5 1 2 (2022) (State referenced a 

'"d rug bust down at Nogales"' as wel l  as "border secu rity ,  i l legal immigration , 

u ndocumented immigrants ,  and d rug smugg l i ng . ") ;  State v. Loughbom , 1 96 Wn .2d 

64 , 67 ,  470 P . 3d 499 (2020) ( i nvocat ion of the '"war on d rugs"') .  

Here ,  Bel lerouche argues that "beef" " is frequently used by B lack h i p-hop 

and rap artists , and connotes vio lence ,  gun vio lence i n  part icu lar . "  Bel lerouche 

cites to two sou rces i n  support of h is understand ing of the mean ing of th is term : 

(a) non-standard d ict ionaries and (b) scholarly sou rces , news art icles , and rap 

lyrics , which he cla ims defi ne the term 's mean ing i n  popu lar  cu ltu re .  We add ress 

each in tu rn .  

Bel lerouche re l ies on the on l i ne  U rban Dictionary,  Wiktionary,  and the 

etymology with i n  the Oxford Eng l ish D ictionary in aski ng us to understand the term 

"beef" as an "argument between two young B lack men . "7 

7 At oral  argument ,  th is cou rt asked Bel lerouche's appel late counsel which of these 
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Although i n  a s l ig htly d ifferent context , we have long u rged cou rts to ava i l  

themselves of  and to uti l ize , not j ust any resource , but a "standard d ictionary" when 

seeking to understand an undefi ned term . State v .  Watson ,  1 46 Wn .2d 947 , 954 ,  

5 1  P . 3d 66  (2002) . Bel lerouche's citat ions are not to the standard d ictionaries we 

have re l ied on i n  the past to defi ne a term . See , �, State v. Gonzalez, 1 68 Wn .2d 

256 , 263-64 , 226 P . 3d 1 3 1 (20 1 0) (cit ing WEBSTER'S TH IRD I NTERNATIONAL 

D ICTIONARY) ; State V .  Hammock, 1 54 Wn . App .  630 , 635 ,  226 P . 3d 1 54 (20 1 0) 

(same) ; State v. Myles , 1 27 Wn .2d 807 , 8 1 3 , 903 P .2d 979 ( 1 995) (same) . Us ing 

a standard d ict ionary,  the mean ing of the term "beef" is s imp ly s lang for a 

"g rievance or g round for compla i nt" without any racial ized sense of the word . 

WEBSTER'S TH IRD I NTERNATIONAL D ICTIONARY 1 96 (2002) . 8 The State cites to 

Webster's and it is hard ly "cherry p icki ng"  d ictionaries , as Bel lerouche asserts to 

re ly on that d ictionary rather than the many found i n  the recesses of the I nternet to 

understand the mean ing or content of the term . 

At oral  argument ,  Bel lerouche's counsel "absol utely acknowledge[d] that 

' beef' has ga i ned much wider usage , "  but averred that "we sti l l  have to be carefu l 

sou rces , if any, we shou ld re ly on as "standard d ict ionaries . "  State v. Bel lerouche,  
No.  84887-9- 1 (Sept. 1 3 , 2023) , at 1 m in . ,  35 sec.  th rough 1 m in . ,  48 sec.  video 
record i ng by TVW, Wash i ngton State's Pub l ic  Affa i rs Network, 
https ://tvw. org/video/d ivis ion-1 -cou rt-of-appeals-
202409 1 2 1 1 /?eventl D=202409 1 2 1 1 .  H is counsel responded , "certa in ly the OED . "  
llL at 1 m in . ,  48  sec. through 1 m in . ,  5 1  sec. 
8 The Oxford Eng l ish D ictionary's (OED) pr imary defi n it ion of "beef'' s im i larly is " [a] 
comp la int ,  a g rievance ;  a protest . "  OXFORD ENGL ISH D ICTIONARY, 
https ://www.oed . com/d ictionary/beef_n2 ( last vis ited Nov. 1 1 ,  2024) . Even if we 
were to ava i l  ou rse lves , not of its defi n it ion ,  but of the OED's famous etymology, 
the h istorica l sou rces of that pr imary defi n it ion orig inated i n  late 1 890's and 
conti nued th rough th is decade ,  a lso without any reference to a racial ized 
connotation . 
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with co l loqu ia l isms . "  Wash .  Ct. of Appeals oral  argument ,  State v .  Bel lerouche,  

No.  84887-9- 1 (Sept. 1 3 , 2023) , at 20 m in . ,  33 sec.  th rough 20 m in . ,  42 sec.  video 

record i ng by TVW, Wash i ngton State's Pub l ic  Affa i rs Network, 

https ://tvw. org/video/d ivis ion-1 -cou rt-of-appeals-

202409 1 2 1 1 /?eventl O=202409 1 2 1 1 .  I t  is true that prosecutors shou ld be carefu l 

with co l loqu ia l isms,  but we shou ld assess the words prosecutors use-in the fi rst 

instance and when necessary-by reference to the general  mean ing of the term 

found in a standard d ict ionary,  part icu larly when a term is widely used . 9 

As to h is citat ions i n  support of the pop cu ltu re defi n it ion ,  Bel lerouche avers 

that "the late rapper Notorious B . I . G . ,  who was h imself a vict im of gun  vio lence , "  

wrote a song conta i n i ng numerous references to the term "beef. " Bel lerouche also 

cites to "L i l  Wayne , "  who also wrote a rap song that references "beef. " And 

Bel lerouche cites to a law review article and a newspaper analyzing such 

references . 

Our  Supreme Cou rt i n  Bagby. however, appeared to caution aga inst 

determ in ing a word 's  mean ing th rough pop cu ltu re references . 200 Wn .2d at 804 , 

808 (Stephens ,  J . ,  concu rring) . There ,  five just ices d isag reed with the ma in  

op in ion 's argument that the State "prim [ed] the j u ry to th i nk  of  M ichael Vick and 

associate Bagby with an imal abuse . "  kl at  804 (Stephens ,  J . ,  concu rri ng) . We 

9 The d issent accuses the majority of " l im it[ i ng] review of a prosecutor's rhetoric 
with i n  the bounds of standard d ict ionaries . "  D issent at 30. We do no such th ing . 
It is Bel lerouche who attempts to g round the mean ing of "beef" i n  a d ictionary of 
some kind . When assess ing th is fi rst factor ("content and subject") , we ag ree with 
Bel lerouche than mean ing matters , but caution aga inst cherry-p icki ng a defi n it ion 
from random d ict ionaries or other questionable sou rces . 
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l i kewise shou ld be wary then about effectively search ing the I nternet for a term 

and derivi ng mean ing from the various h its that appear. A standard d ictionary is a 

better to p lace to start .  Watson ,  1 46 Wn .2d at 954 .  

At a m i n imum ,  t h i s  exercise shows that, un l i ke the terms or ph rases uti l ized 

in cases l i ke Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 678-79 ,  l barra-Erives , 23 Wn . App .  2d at 606,  

or  Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 703 ,  a racial mean ing is not unm istakably or exclus ive ly 

tied to the term "beef. " I n  other words ,  we hold that the term "beef" does not have 

a clear racial connotat ion to an objective observer, absent add it ional context . 

As to that context , we are cogn izant that facia l ly neutra l  terms can become 

suspect depend ing on the context of the i r  usage .  For example ,  ou r  Supreme Court 

reversed a civi l case because of "defense counsel 's re l i [ance] on racist stereotypes 

about B lack people and us-versus-them descriptions to underm ine the cred ib i l ity 

of Henderson and her witnesses . "  Henderson , 200 Wn .2d at 437 . There ,  "defense 

counsel repeated ly characterized Henderson as 'combative' and confrontat ional"' 

which "evoke the harmfu l stereotype of an 'ang ry B lack woman . "' kl at 436 . I n  

contrast, the defendant characterized themselves "as ' rig htly' ' i nt im idated ' and 

emotional '  which " i nvited the j u ry to make decis ions on improper bases l i ke 

prejud ice or b iases about race agg ress ion and victimhood . "  kl at 436-37 .  

Add it iona l ly ,  Henderson i nvo lved a defendant who "was a wh ite woman . 

The j udge was a wh ite woman , and there were no B lack j u rors .  The on ly B lack 

people in the courtroom were Henderson ,  her attorney and her lay witnesses . "  kl 

at 423 .  

I n  th is matter, i n  contrast , the State's use of the term "beef" d id not j uxtapose 
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one s ide to another to create the appearance of an "us-versus-them" narrative , as 

seen in Henderson , 200 Wn .2d at 437 ,  and Bagby. 200 Wn .2d at 794 .  Here ,  the 

State asked both Robinson and Bel lerouche whether any "beef" preceded the 

shooting . The State fu rther used the term "beef' at open ing and clos ing 

arguments ,  but d id so to emphas ize how both Bel lerouche and Rob inson claimed 

there was no argument or  an imos ity preced ing the shooti ng . I n  other words ,  the 

context of the State's usage of "beef" wou ld not i nd icate to an objective observer 

that there cou ld be an apparent i ntent to contrast one s ide to another. Bagby, 200 

Wn .2d at 792-93 .  

Moreover, wh i le none of  the j u rors i n  Bel lerouche's tria l  identified as B lack, 

both Rob inson and Bel lerouche were B lack, as was the tria l  j udge .  Un l i ke in Bagby 

then ,  it wou ld be incoherent here to conclude that the term was used to "suggest 

that B lack defendants are i nherently d ifferent from wh ite j u rors and deserve less 

sympathy. "  200 Wn .2d at 794 . To do so wou ld have deprived the vict im and the 

presid ing j udge of the i r  h uman ity as wel l .  If dehuman iz ing every b lack person i n  

t he  courtroom had been the apparent i ntent, t he  lack of an object ion wou ld be 

perp lexi ng . See State v .  Swan ,  1 1 4 Wn .2d 6 1 3 ,  66 1 , 790 P .2d 6 1 0 ( 1 990) ( lack 

of object ion "strong ly suggests to a court that the argument or  event in question 

d id not appear crit ica l ly prejud ic ia l  to an appel lant i n  the context of the tria l") . 1 0  

Thus ,  we are unconvi nced that the fi rst Bagby factor favors Bel lerouche's 

1 0  The d issent is "profound ly troub le[ed]" by the " i nd i rect imp l icat ion" that th is 
op in ion wi l l  perm it " racism i n  moderation . "  D issent at 40, n . 39. Noth ing i n  the 
preced ing th ree parag raphs wou ld sanct ion such a th ing . There s imp ly are facts 
i n  the l im ited precedent we cite that are not present here .  
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cla im that an objective observer wou ld view the State's "questions and comments 

as an appeal to j u rors' potent ial p rejud ice . "  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 793 . 

b .  F requency 

The second Bagby factor concerns "the frequency of the remarks . "  .!sl at 

793 .  There ,  the prosecutor "asked nearly every witness about Bagby's nationa l ity . "  

.!sl at  795 . I n  other words ,  the prosecutor "questioned witnesses about Bagby's 

' nat ional ity' at least ha lf a dozen t imes" and "also asked the witnesses to identify 

[the defendant] and other witnesses by the i r  race over a dozen t imes . "  .!sl at 796.  

Euphem istica l ly ,  it "was not an isolated incident . "  .!sl at 796 . 

I n  Henderson , the defense repeated ly i nvoked the p la i ntiff's race . 200 

Wn .2d at 424-26 ,  436-38 .  The defense's i nvocat ions took many forms ,  such as 

d i rectly comparing and contrast ing defendant and p la i ntiff, accus ing the p la i ntiff of 

be ing on ly motivated by money, and add it ional ly describ ing the p la i ntiff's witnesses 

as '" i n herently b iased . "' .!sl 

That said , ou r  Supreme Court also has found m isconduct when the State 

" referenced the war on d rugs th ree t imes . "  Loughbom , 1 96 Wn .2d at 68 .  As such , 

a re latively smal l  number of references is not necessari ly determ inative of whether 

there is race-based m isconduct .  The p lacement and dep loyment of the chal lenged 

language matters . Loughbom was a one-day tria l  i n  which the State's " i nvocat ion 

of the war on d rugs [ in  i ts open ing statement and twice i n  i ts clos ing argument] 

was a thematic narrative designed to appeal to a broader socia l  cause . "  1 96 

Wn .2d at 70 .  

Here ,  the State used the term "beef" five re levant t imes in  a 1 0-day tria l .  
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Wh i le the State's usage was spread out over those 1 0  days , each usage of the 

term beef focused , not on the State's tria l  theme,  but on a major weakness of the 

State's case , the apparent lack of a motive for the shooting . The use of the term 

"beef" d id not, as i n  Loughbom , constitute " improper framing of [the] prosecution 

as representi ng" someth ing ent i re ly tangential to the j u ry's charge ,  there ,  the war 

on d rugs .  1 96 Wn .2d at 75 (emphasis om itted) .  The term "beef" d id no framing of 

any k ind and p layed no ro le i n  the State's theory of the case . 

I n  short ,  even if the term 's content and subject were improper, we are 

unconvi nced that the second Bagby factor favors Bel lerouche's cla im that an 

objective observer cou ld view the State's "questions and comments as an appeal 

to j u rors' potent ial p rejud ice . "  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 793 . 

c. Apparent Pu rpose 

The th i rd Bagby factor cons iders the "the apparent pu rpose of the 

statements . "  Id . To be clear, "a race-neutral  a lternative exp lanat ion does not 

excuse the effect of language that appeals to racial b ias . "  Henderson ,  200 Wn .2d 

at 439 . The State's subjective i ntent is a lso i rre levant. Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 79 1 . 

I nstead , we must d iscern how an objective observer cou ld "understand" the 

pu rpose of the State's conduct .  kl at 796.  

To i l l ustrate , our Supreme Court i n  Bagby held that "the State's use of the 

term ' national ity' can be understood only as a way to emphas ize Bagby's race . "  

kl (emphasis added) .  I n  Henderson , defense counsel repeated ly " re l ied on racist 

stereotypes about B lack people and us-versus-them descriptions to underm ine the 

cred ib i l ity of Henderson and her witnesses . "  200 Wn .2d at 437 . There was no 
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other pu rpose i n  those cases but appeals to racial p rej ud ices . 

I n  contrast, th is cou rt has previously held that th is factor weighed i n  favor of 

the State when "the prosecutor's apparent purpose for e l icit i ng the test imony was 

to show that [the defendant] was describ ing the c i rcumstances of the bu rg lary i n  

h is mus ic  video and  rap lyrics , "  which "seemed to  contrad ict the defense theory . "  

Roberts , 32 Wn . App .  2d at 607 . 

Th is case is much closer to Roberts than Bagby or Henderson . The State's 

use of the term "beef, " e . g . ,  i n  its examination of Rob inson and Bel lerouche,  was 

to determ ine the c i rcumstances surround ing  and prior to the shooti ng . Before 

aski ng Rob i nson about h is potent ial "beef" with Bel lerouche and others ,  the State 

asked about h is fam i l ia rity with the scene of the shooti ng and the general  state of 

h is re lationsh ips with Egger and Bel lerouche.  The State then went through a step­

by-step i nqu i ry of the shoot ing itse lf. S im i larly, the State asked Bel lerouche about 

any poss ib le "beef" with Rob inson ,  contemporaneously to showing him the 

surve i l lance video and aski ng about h is act ions after the shooti ng . We hold that 

an objective observer cou ld on ly fi nd that the pu rpose of the term "beef" was s imp ly 

part of estab l ish ing the "ci rcumstances of the [crime] , "  as i n  Roberts , 32 Wn . App .  

2d  at 607 . 

I n  tu rn , we are unconvi nced that the th i rd Bagby factor favors Bel lerouche's 

cla im that an objective observer cou ld view the State's "questions and comments 

as an appeal to j u rors' potent ial p rejud ice . "  Bagby. 200 Wn .2d at 793 . 

d .  Basis i n  Evidence 

The fou rth Bagby factor concerns "whether the comments were based on 
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evidence or reasonable i nferences i n  the record . "  .!sl at 793 . I n  Bagby's case , h is 

"cit izensh ip  had absolutely nothing to do with the crimes he was charged with or  

the facts of the case . "  .!sl at 797 (emphasis added) .  I n  so  ho ld i ng ,  t he  Cou rt 

rejected the State's argument that the questions "about Bagby's race was to he lp 

witnesses identify partic ipants" because "Bagby's identity was not at issue i n  th is 

case" as "he d id not deny that he was the person i nvolved" and because "the on ly 

issue at tria l  was whether h is act ions constituted a crime . "  .!sl I n  other words ,  the 

State's remarks were made "not to prove a re levant fact nor [were] based on 

evidence in the record . "  .!sl 

Here ,  the State's use of the term "beef, " e . g . ,  i n  its open ing statement and 

clos ing argument derived d i rectly from its examinat ion of Rob i nson and 

Bel lerouche.  Th is court recently den ied a race-based ass ignment of error, i n  part ,  

because the "few isolated instances" of the putative ly offend ing term were "d i rectly 

tied to [the part ies'] test imony and re levant to the case . "  S imbu lan v .  Nw. Hosp. & 

Med . Ctr. , 32 Wn . App .  2d 1 64 ,  1 86 ,  555 P . 3d 455 (2024) . The present appeal is 

much closer to S imbu lan than Bagby, where the State's questions had "absol utely 

noth ing"  to do with the charges . 200 Wn .2d at 797 . Had Rob inson adm itted he 

had a "beef" with Bel lerouche,  the j u ry cou ld have i nterpreted that as b ias ,  which 

is "a lways re levant . " State v Orn ,  1 97 Wn .2d 343 , 353 , 482 P . 3d 9 1 3 (202 1 ) .  Or ,  

had Bel lerouche adm itted he had a "beef" with Rob inson ,  that fact cou ld have 

bolstered the State's case by estab l ish ing a motive . And the fact that there was 

no underlyi ng d isag reement is tied to the actual test imony of these key witnesses . 

As such , we are unconvi nced that the fi na l  Bagby factor favors 
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Bel lerouche's cla im that an objective observer cou ld view the State's "questions 

and comments as an appeal to j u rors' potential p rejud ice . "  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 

793 . 1 1  

For the reasons above , we hold a l l  fou r  Bagby factors weigh aga inst 

Bel lerouche's cla im and he has fa i led to estab l ish that an objective observer cou ld 

view the State's conduct as an appeal to racial p rejud ice .  kl at 793-94 . 1 2  

C .  State's Argument That Bel lerouche Wou ld "Come Back and  F i n ish the Job" 

The State asserted i n  its clos ing argument that Rob inson refused to retu rn 

to h is apartment after the shooti ng because Bel lerouche "m ight wel l  come back 

and fi n ish the job . "  Bel lerouche argues the State's comm itted prosecutorial 

1 1  Fol lowing oral  argument ,  the State fi led a mot ion to supp lement the record . As 
we need not re ly on the evidence the State wishes to add to the record , we deny 
th is motion as moot. 
12 Bel lerouche also more genera l ly argues that "at every tu rn , harmfu l racial 
stereotypes about young B lack men cropped up" even though the "defense 
successfu l ly obta i ned the excl us ion of some of that evocative evidence . "  
Specifica l ly ,  he compla ins about (a) a ce l lphone video , which the State argued 
showed Bel lerouche with a g u n ;  (b) song lyrics which cou ld be heard in the same 
ce l lphone video , though s lu rs were redacted ; and (c) the fact that the State 
unsuccessfu l ly attempted to adm it approximate ly 200 photos from Bel lerouche's 
Arizona home, the vast majority of which the tria l  cou rt excl uded . I t  is true that we 
are instructed to gauge the State's conduct " i n  the context of the enti re record and 
the c i rcumstances at tria l . "  State v .  Azevedo ,  31 Wn . App .  2d 70, 78 ,  547 P . 3d 
287 (2024) . But ,  as to (c) , we "genera l ly do not apply the concept [of prosecutor ial 
m iscond uct] to the i ntrod uct ion of evidence . "  State v .  Ke l ly ,  32 Wn . App .  2d 24 1 , 
260 , 555 P . 3d 9 1 8 (2024) . And , sti l l  as to (c) , Bel lerouche does not connect the 
chal lenged evidence to the State's usage of "beef. " For none of this does 
Bel lerouche exp la in  specifica l ly how the State's act ions above were not in good 
fa ith . kl We are left with noth ing more than h igh  leve l accusations of "pervasive" 
racial b ias ,  t ied to very l itt le in the record . Otherwise , the d issent's assert ion that ,  
i n  considering these facts (and others Bel lerouche does not) , " the objective 
observer cou ld conclude that the ' beef' remarks were among the breadcrumbs 
d ropped by the prosecutor to lead j u rors down a path . . .  to j u rors' racial b ias" is 
another example of straying i nto "theoretica l conceivab i l ity , "  rather than 
" reasonable poss ib i l ity . "  D issent at 43-48 .  
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m iscond uct when its clos ing argument improperly " u rge[d] the j u ry to decide the 

case based on evidence outs ide the record" and "appeal[ed] to j u rors' fear of 'what 

wou ld have happened . "' U n ited States v. Nobari , 574 F . 3d 1 065 ,  1 077 (9th C i r. 

2009) . I n  other words ,  he avers the State's clos ing argument "was not a 

reasonable i nference from Mr. Rob i nson's test imony" and " i nvited j u rors to 

specu late about what m ight happen if they d id not convict M r. Bel lerouche . "  We 

d isag ree . 

1 .  Add it ional Facts 

The State argued in fu l l :  

[Robi nson] real ized that [Egger] wasn't h is friend , that [Egger] was 
better friends with [Bel lerouche] . Wh ich meant, of cou rse , that 
[Bel lerouche] cou ld figu re out i n  a m inute where . . .  Rob i nson l ived 
because . . .  Egger had been l iv ing there too .  And . . .  Rob i nson 
knew that if [Bel lerouche] d id th is at 2 : 35 a . m .  on Ju ly 26, 2020 ,  he 
might well come back and finish the job . 

(Emphasis added . )  Bel lerouche's tria l  counsel objected , stat ing " [f]acts not i n  

evidence" and " [e]motional  appea l . "  The court overru led the objection .  

Earl ier  at tria l ,  the State asked Rob i nson i f  Egger "was sta[y ing] 1 3  with you 

at the t ime of th is shooti ng i n  you r  apartment?" Rob inson answered affi rmative ly. 

The State then asked " [d ] id  you ever go back to that apartment after the shooti ng?" 

Rob inson answered " I  d id not . "  When the State asked Rob i nson why he never 

retu rned to the apartment, he exp la i ned he "wasn't tak ing no chances" and "U ]ust 

the fact that [Egger] knew that I got shot ,  just ( inaud ib le) that apartment . "  

Add it iona l ly ,  Bel lerouche ag reed with the State's characterizat ions that he had 

13  The tria l  transcript used the word "stand ing . "  However, "stand i ng"  is l i ke ly a typo 
g iven the context of the State's questions .  
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been "friends" with Egger "for years . "  

2 .  D iscuss ion 

For a cla im of non-race-based prosecutorial m isconduct ,  " the defendant 

bears the bu rden of provi ng the prosecutor's conduct was both improper and 

prejud icia l . "  State v .  Emery, 1 74 Wn .2d 74 1 , 756 , 278 P . 3d 653 (20 1 2) .  

We assess the propriety of a prosecutor's conduct " i n  the context of the 

enti re record and the c i rcumstances at tria l . "  State v .  Azevedo ,  31 Wn . App .  2d 

70, 78, 547 P . 3d 287 (2024) . We have long held that prosecutors have "wide 

latitude i n  clos ing argument to d raw reasonable i nferences from the evidence . "  

State v .  Boehn i ng ,  1 27 Wn . App .  5 1 1 ,  5 1 9 ,  1 1 1  P . 3d 899 (2005) . That said , "a 

prosecutor may not make statements that are unsupported by the evidence and 

prejud ice the defendant . "  kl Further , " [ r]eferences to evidence outs ide of the 

record and bald appeals to pass ion and prej ud ice constitute m iscond uct . "  State v. 

F isher, 1 65 Wn .2d 727 ,  747 , 202 P . 3d 937 (2009) . 

If '"the defendant objected at tria l , "  as Bel lerouche d id here ,  "the defendant 

must show that the prosecutor's m isconduct resu lted i n  prejud ice that had a 

substant ial l i ke l i hood of affect ing the j u ry's verd ict . "' Azevedo ,  3 1  Wn . App .  2d at 

78 .  

"Evident iary ru l i ngs are reviewed for abuse of  d iscret ion and reversed on ly 

if the 'exercise of its d iscret ion is man ifestly un reasonable or based upon untenable 

g rounds or reasons . "' State v .  Lormor,  1 72 Wn .2d 85 ,  94 , 257 P . 3d 624 (20 1 1 )  

(quoti ng I n  re Det. of Post, 1 70 Wn .2d 302 , 309 , 24 1 P . 3d 1 234 (20 1 0)) . 

Tyi ng these princ ip les together, our  Supreme Court reversed a convict ion 
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because the State i nvoked the defendant's "associations with [the American I nd ian 

movement] rather than properly adm itted evidence . "  State v .  Belgarde ,  1 1 0 Wn .2d 

504 , 507-08 ,  755 P .2d 1 74 ( 1 988) . As a fu rther example ,  th is court d isapproved 

of the State's "argument as to [the defendant's] thought process before the crimes . "  

State v .  P ierce , 1 69 Wn . App .  533 , 553 , 280 P . 3d 1 1 58 (20 1 2) .  Wh i le the State 

"cou ld have properly argued that the j u ry shou ld i nfer from the evidence" what the 

defendant's motivat ions were , the State "went beyond" and "effectively testif[ ied] 

about what particu lar thoughts [the defendant] must have had i n  h is head . "  I d .  at 

554-55 .  

I n  the present appea l ,  the State's clos ing argument was based on a 

reasonable i nference from tria l  test imony. Rob i nson testified that he d id not retu rn 

to h is apartment as he was "tak ing no chances . "  Rob i nson fu rther exp la i ned that 

Egger, h is then roommate and a friend of Bel lerouche,  "knew that I got shot . "  The 

State reasonably i nferred from th is test imony that Rob inson was "tak ing no 

chances" because he feared Bel lerouche cou ld fi nd h im th rough h is friend , Egger .  

In response , Bel lerouche cites to Russe l l ,  1 25 Wn .2d at 89 ,  for the 

proposit ion that "prosecutors are not perm itted to p lay to the j u ry's fear with 

hypothetica l scenarios . "  There ,  our  Supreme Court d isapproved of the 

prosecutor's comment that the defendant wou ld "fi nd new friends" as there '" is no 

shortage of naieve [sic] , trusti ng , foo l ish young people in the cit ies of th is country . "' 

1 25 Wn .2d at 89 .  

I n  the present appea l ,  the State's clos ing argument was closely tied to 

Rob i nson and Bel lerouche's own test imony. It was not based on mere 
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"hypothetica l scenarios" as Bel lerouche argues under Russe l l ,  but on a reasonable 

i nference from Rob inson 's des i re not to retu rn home. As our  Supreme Cou rt 

exp la i ned i n  State v. Dha l iwal ,  the "spontaneous statements" untethered to the 

record in cases l i ke Belgarde l ie in stark contrast to " i nferences from prior 

testimony. " 1 50 Wn .2d 559 , 579 ,  79 P . 3d 432 (2003) . 

As such , we hold the State's argument was ne ither based on evidence 

outs ide the record or a "bald appeal" to the j u ry's prejud ice or pass ions .  F isher, 

1 65 Wn .2d at 747 .  I n  other words ,  the court d id not abuse its d iscret ion i n  

overru l i ng  Bel lerouche's objection .  Lormor ,  1 72 Wn .2d a t  94 . 1 4  

D .  Vict im Penalty Assessment and  Clerical Error 

At Bel lerouche's January 2023 sentencing , the court imposed a Vict im 

Pena lty Assessment (VPA) . Subsequently, the leg is latu re amended RCW 

7 .68 . 035 to add subsect ion (4) which states the "court sha l l  not impose the pena lty 

assessment under th is sect ion if the court fi nds that the defendant ,  at the t ime of 

sentencing , is ind igent . " LAWS OF 2023 ,  ch . 449 ,  § 1 .  The leg is latu re also added 

that " [u]pon motion by a defendant ,  the court sha l l  wa ive any vict im pena lty 

assessment imposed prior to [the effective date] if . . .  [t] he person does not have 

the ab i l ity to pay the pena lty assessment . . .  if the person is ind igent . "  llL Later, 

this cou rt held that because "th is amendment d id not take effect unt i l  after [the 

defendant's ]sentencing , it appl ies to [the defendant] because th is case is on d i rect 

1 4  Bel lerouche also briefly a l l udes to the cumu lative error doctri ne ,  which "appl ies 
when severa l errors occu rred du ring tria l  that wou ld not merit reversal stand ing 
a lone ,  but together effectively den ied the defendant a fa i r  tria l . "  I n  re Det. of 
McGray. 1 75 Wn . App .  328 , 343 ,  306 P . 3d 1 005 (20 1 3) .  Th is doctri ne is 
inapp l icable where ,  as here ,  we have found no error. 
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appea l . "  State v .  E l l i s ,  27 Wn . App .  2d 1 ,  1 6 , 530 P . 3d 1 048 (2023) . 

Here ,  Bel lerouche argues and the State concedes that th is cou rt shou ld 

remand to stri ke the VPA. As Bel lerouche's case is on d i rect appea l ,  we accept 

the State's concess ion and remand with instruct ions for the super ior cou rt to stri ke 

the VPA. 

Bel lerouche's j udgment and sentence also states he was convicted of 

assau lt i n  the fi rst deg ree under both subsect ions (a) and (d) of RCW 9A. 36 . 0 1 1 ( 1  ) .  

RCW 9A. 36 . 0 1 1 ( 1  ) (a) requ i res the accused act "with i ntent to i nfl ict g reat bod i ly 

harm" and " [a]ssau lt[] another with a fi rearm . "  RCW 9A. 36 . 0 1 1 ( 1 ) (d)  requ i res the 

accused act with the same i ntent, but to "assau lt[] another and i nfl ict[] g reat bod i ly 

harm . "  At tria l ,  the court instructed the j u ry on ly on RCW 9A. 36 . 0 1 1 ( 1 ) (a) . Fu rther, 

the j u ry retu rned a verd ict on ly on RCW 9A. 36 . 0 1 1 ( 1 ) (a) . 

Here ,  Bel lerouche argues and the State concedes that the j udgment and 

sentence l ists RCW 9A. 36 . 0 1 1 (1  ) (d)  i n  error. We accept the State's concess ion 

and remand with instruct ions for the superior cou rt to correct the error and stri ke 

a l l  references to RCW 9A. 36 . 0 1 1 ( 1  ) (d)  from Bel lerouche's j udgment and sentence .  

I l l .  CONCLUS ION 

We remand the matter with instruct ions for the super ior cou rt to stri ke the 

VPA and references to RCW 9A. 36. 0 1 1 ( 1 )(d) in Bel lerouche's judgment and 

sentence .  Otherwise , we affi rm . 

I CONCUR :  
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State v. Bel lerouche No .  84887-9-1 

COBURN , J .  (concu rri ng in part and d issenti ng in part) - Th is appeal stems from 

a tria l  i n  which Bernard Bel lerouche,  a B lack man ,  was convicted of shoot ing Terrance 1 

Rob inson ,  another B lack man . 2 There is no quest ion that Rob i nson was shot .  The issue 

for the j u ry was by whom .  With no d i rect evidence to identify Bel lerouche as the shooter 

other than Rob inson's test imony, and no evidence of a motive , the tria l  h i nged on the 

j u ry's assessment of Bel lerouche's cred ib i l ity as compared to that of the victim .  

With regard to Bel lerouche's race-based prosecutoria l  m iscond uct cla im , the 

majority correctly identifies that the proper test in determ in ing whether a prosecutor 

"flag rantly or  apparently i ntentiona l ly appealed to j u rors' potent ia l racia l  b ias" requ i res 

an appel late court to "ask whether an objective observer cou ld view the prosecutor's 

questions and comments as an appeal to j u rors' potent ial p rejud ice ,  b ias ,  or  stereotypes 

in a manner that underm ined the defendant's cred ib i l ity or  the presumption of 

i nnocence . "  State v .  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d 777 , 793 ,  522 P . 3d 982 (2023) (p lu ra l ity 

op in ion) (footnote om itted) ;  3 see majority at 1 8 . And although the majority mentions ,  

correctly, that th is analys is must be considered i n  "the context of the tria l  as a whole , "  

1 The record varies i n  the spe l l i ng of Robinson's fi rst name.  Th is d issent uses the 
spe l l i ng that is used by the part ies i n  their briefi ng to th is court .  

2 This d issent uses the term "B lack" instead of "African American" because it is the term 
used by Bel lerouche in h is briefs . It is und isputed that Robinson also identifies as Black. 

3 As stated in a per curiam summary that preceded the lead opin ion ,  the state Supreme 
Court i n  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 779 ,  unan imously held that "the prosecutor's conduct objectively 
constituted a flag rant or apparently i l l - i ntent ioned appeal to j u rors' racial b ias i n  a way that 
underm ined the defendant's cred ib i l ity and presumpt ion of i nnocence . "  The two bases of race­
based m isconduct were the prosecutor's repeated use of the term "nat ional ity" to d ifferent iate 
Bagby from other witnesses and the prosecutor's descri pt ion of severa l Wh ite witnesses as 
"Good Samaritans" wh i le conspicuously not do ing the same for the on ly B lack witness . kl 
However, as fu rther d iscussed below, five just ices i n  a concurri ng op in ion written by Just ice 
Stephens d isag reed with the four-just ice lead op in ion that the prosecutor comm itted race-based 
m isconduct by question ing a witness about Bagby's dog . See id .  at 779-80 ( lead op in ion of 
Montoya-Lewis ,  J . ) ;  i d .  at 804-08 (Stephens,  J . ,  concurri ng) .  
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State v. Roberts , 32 Wn . App .  2d 57 1 , 607 , 553 P . 3d 1 1 22 (2024) , they fa i l  to do so , 

either re legati ng much of the re levant context to a footnote or ignoring it a ltogether. See 

majority at 1 8 , 22 n . 9 .  Desp ite recogn iz ing that the Wash ington Supreme Court has held 

that "a race-neutral  a lternative exp lanat ion does not excuse the effect of language that 

appeals to racial b ias , "  Henderson v. Thompson ,  200 Wn .2d 4 1 7 , 439 , 5 1 8 P . 3d 1 0 1 1  

(2022) (citi ng State v .  Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d 647 , 666 , 444 P . 3d 1 1 72 (20 1 9)) , the majority 

shrugs off the prosecutor's "beef" remarks as isolated uses of a term that is "s imp ly 

s lang for a 'g rievance or g round for compla i nt' without any racial ized sense of the word . "  

Majority at 2 1  (quoti ng WEBSTER'S TH IRD NEW I NTERNATIONAL D ICTIONARY 1 96 (2002)) , 

25 .  The majority recogn izes but fa i ls to apply the lens by which we are to look at a 

prosecutor's rhetoric, which is not constra i ned to any d ictionary's chosen lexicon but 

th rough the perspective of an objective observer who is aware of the h istory of race and 

ethn ic  d iscrim inat ion i n  our country and that imp l ic it ,  i nstitutiona l ,  and unconscious 

b iases , i n  add ition to i ntentional  d iscrim ination , have i nfl uenced j u ry verd icts i n  our  

state . Bagby. 200 Wn .2d at  793 n . 7 .  

I n  cons ideration of a tria l  that tu rned on a cred ib i l ity contest and based o n  a close 

review of the record , I bel ieve Bel lerouche met h is bu rden in estab l ish ing  race-based 

prosecutor ial m isconduct .  An objective observer cou ld conclude that by repeated ly and 

unnecessari ly us ing the term "beef" i n  the context of th is tria l ,  it was apparent that the 

prosecutor i ntentiona l ly appealed to j u rors' potent ial racial b ias to specu late a potent ial 

motive that was not otherwise supported by the evidence .  Add it ional ly ,  I bel ieve that the 

tria l  cou rt abused its d iscret ion by adm itt ing photos of Bel lerouche weari ng a T-sh i rt with 

a sexual ly suggestive pun  and image that cou ld be viewed as objectify ing women , and 

2 
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that such error was not harm less . E ither error vio lates Bel lerouche's constitutiona l  rig ht 

to a fa i r  tria l  before an impart ial j u ry .  Thus ,  I respectfu l ly d issent. I concu r with the 

majority's resolut ion of the rema in ing  issues.  

FACTS 

Because " [a] n a l legation of race-based prosecutoria l  m isconduct requ i res a close 

and thorough examination of the record , "  State v .  Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d 698 , 704 ,  5 1 2  

P . 3d 5 1 2  (2022) , I start by provid ing a summation of the facts . Though adm itted ly 

lengthy, it is these facts that provide the determ inative context that supports remand for 

a new tria l .  I then examine Bel lerouche's race-based prosecutor ial m iscond uct and 

evident iary content ions i n  tu rn . 

A. The Memorial 

I n  the afternoon on Ju ly 25 ,  2020 ,  Bel lerouche d rove h imself to a memoria l  for 

h is ch i ld hood best friend Lloyd Wh itney. Wh itney had d ied the previous year i n  north 

Seattle near 1 02nd Street and Au rora Avenue .  The memorial was held on Whitney's 

b i rthday outs ide h is s ister's house in Auburn .  4 See Ex. 65. Many ch i ld ren and ad u lts 

attended the memoria l ,  i nc lud ing Solomon Egger. 5 See Ex. 65 .  Bel lerouche and Egger 

were friends and also g rew up  with each other . At th is t ime,  Egger was stay ing with 

Terrance Rob inson .  Rob i nson testified he d ropped Egger off at a gatheri ng in Auburn 

but d id not attend h imself. 

The State i ntroduced a text message exchange between Bel lerouche and Egger 

that occu rred around 1 a . m .  the morn i ng of the memoria l .  See Ex. 86 . Bel lerouche 

4 Though the test imony descri bed the locat ion as outs ide a "house , "  the event that is 
captured on video appears to take place i n  the parki ng lot of an apartment complex. See Ex. 65.  

5 As the majority notes , the record also uses "Eggers . "  Th is d issent uses "Egger" based 
on the part ies' briefi ng . 

3 
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wrote , " I 'm  sad bro . "  Ex. 86 . Egger responded i n  part ,  " I  m iss h im so much Bro I need 

you Bro . "  Ex. 86 . Bel lerouche texted , "I can't  do it b ro .  I can't .  Gotta get my m ind rig ht .  

I ' l l  l ink with you i n  the morn i ng bro . "  Ex. 86 . Egger responded , " I  u nderstand I 'm here if  

you need me . "  Ex. 86 .  When asked what Bel lerouche was ta lk ing about ,  Bel lerouche 

testified he was referri ng to going to Wh itney's memoria l .  Bel lerouche testified he 

u lt imate ly attended the memoria l  because "my kids' mother convi nced me to go ,  saying 

that Lloyd [Wh itney] wou ld actual ly want me there . "  

At the memoria l ,  i nd ivid ua ls ,  i ncl ud i ng someone i n  a b l ue  sh i rt later identified at 

tria l  by Bel lerouche as h is friend Demetri us L indsey, d istributed bal loons for people to 

write messages on before re leas ing them . Ex. 65 ,  at 08 sec. to 23 sec. ; 0 1  m in . ,  59 

sec. ; 02 m in . ,  01 sec.  to 02 m in . ,  25 sec. ; 08 m in . ,  21 sec.  to 08 m in . ,  43 sec. 6 

Bel lerouche took photos of the re leased bal loons with h is ce l l  phone.  See Ex. 1 1 . 1 - .4 .  7 

One of the photos from Bel lerouche's ce l l  phone captu red part of L indsey's b lue sh i rt at 

the memoria l .  See Ex. 1 1 . 1 .  Some of the memorial was recorded i n  a video on Egger's 

ce l l  phone. See Ex. 65 .  Th roughout the day of the memoria l ,  Bel lerouche texted h is 

friend D ino Nguyen .  Bel lerouche expressed sad ness and encouraged Nguyen to come 

to the memoria l .  Bel lerouche testified that someone brought a bottle of Remy Mart in 

cognac to the memorial that he and "var ious" people d rank from . Bel lerouche d rank 

from the bottle th roughout the n ight but testified he was not i ntoxicated . 

Later i n  the even ing , the memorial gatheri ng moved to the locat ion i n  north 

Seattle where Wh itney d ied . Bel lerouche d rove h imself and h is fi rst son 's mother, 

6 All t imes referenced to exh ib it 65 represent m i nutes and seconds i n  re lat ion to playi ng 
t ime of the video and not the t ime of day. 

7 Citat ion to exh ib it 1 1  i ncorporates how the sl ides of the photos are identified by 
number. The same appl ies for exh ib its 54 and 68.  

4 
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Leand ra Stanton ,  to the north Seattle location . F ifty or more people ,  i nc lud ing Rob inson ,  

gathered to p lace cand les and  flowers and  re lease more bal loons .  

B. The Business Plaza Shooting 

Around m idn ight about 30 people left the north Seattle s ite and gathered outs ide 

of a Ch i nese restau rant i n  a bus i ness p laza i n  Shore l i ne near 1 52nd Street and Au rora 

Avenue .  Accord ing to Bel lerouche,  Egger d rove h imself and Bel lerouche in  

Bel lerouche's BMW to the bus i ness p laza , a long with Bel lerouche's ch i ld ren and 

Stanton .  Nguyen also arrived i n  h is Aud i .  Rob i nson d rove h is renta l car and arrived 

before the BMW or Aud i .  After he arrived at the p laza , Rob i nson fi rst met up with a " lady 

friend" named Naj .  They got some Ch inese food together, but by 2 : 30 a . m . ,  she was 

gone .  At tria l  Rob i nson testified that Bel lerouche d rove the BMW to the bus i ness p laza . 8 

Rob inson d id not particu larly take note as to how Egger arrived , but i nd icated that Egger 

cou ld have arrived i n  either Bel lerouche's BMW or Nguyen 's Aud i .  People ,  i nc lud ing 

Bel lerouche and Rob inson ,  got food at  the bus i ness p laza and d rank cognac i n  the 

parki ng lot .  

A secu rity video from a McDonald 's restau rant neighboring the bus i ness p laza 

shows part of the bus iness p laza's parki ng lot where the shooti ng occu rred . The video 

never shows Bel lerouche,  Nguyen ,  or  the shooti ng . The video starts at two i n  the 

morn i ng with Nguyen 's Aud i and Bel lerouche's BMW a l ready parked in the parki ng lot. 

8 In response to the prosecutor's question ,  "Do you know who was drivi ng which truck 
when they arrived?" Robinson responded , "You know, drivi ng his truck and [Nguyen] drivi ng h is  
truck . "  I t  is apparent from the preceding exchange that "trucks" refers to Nguyen's wh ite Aud i  
and Bel lerouche's black BMW. Robinson identified Nguyen as the owner of the Audi and 
Bel lerouche as the owner of the BMW. 

5 
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See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 00 : 00 a . m .  9 Rob inson 's renta l car also is a l ready parked , located on 

the far s ide of the parking lot from the Aud i and BMW. See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 00 : 00 a . m .  

Pol ice on ly requested and obta i ned one h o u r  of secu rity video from McDonald 's for the 

t ime period of 2 a . m .  to 3 a . m .  

At the start of the video , other than the Aud i ,  BMW, and Rob i nson's renta l car, a 

few other veh icles are parked in  the part of the parki ng lot captu red by the secu rity 

camera .  Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 00 : 00 a . m .  Nobody can be seen i ns ide any of the veh icles and 

nobody can be seen outs ide in  the parki ng lot .  Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 00 : 00 a .m .  For the enti re 

video , the d river's s ide of Nguyen 's wh ite Aud i is closest to the secu rity camera .  Ex. 1 7 . 

To the rig ht of the Aud i ,  about one parki ng space over, is Bel lerouche's b lack BMW. 

See Ex. 1 7 . Throughout the video , on ly the bottom half of the d river's s ide of the BMW 

can be seen .  Ex. 1 7 . The backs of the Aud i and BMW face the camera and are ang led 

in a way that makes it imposs ib le to see the passenger s ide of either veh icle at any 

po int in the video . Ex. 1 7 . An empty bott le ,  later identified as the Remy Mart in cognac 

bott le ,  s its on the pavement near the cu rb between the two veh icles . See Ex. 1 7 . At tria l  

Bel lerouche conceded h is fi ngerpri nts were on the Remy Mart in cognac bott le .  

The fi rst half an hour of the video , see Ex. 1 7 , captu res a few veh icles that come 

i n  and out of the scene.  Rob i nson testified that the person d rivi ng an SUV that is shown 

temporari ly stopped in front of the Aud i "was l i ke a brother" to h im but Rob i nson d id not 

want to g ive h is name.  See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 02 : 34 a . m .  to 2 : 04 : 54 a .m .  A few m inutes later, 

Rob i nson is seen walk ing out from beh ind the passenger side of the Aud i to h is renta l 

car and later retu rn ing to the Aud i and gett ing i nto the back seat on its d river's s ide .  See 

9 Time references re lated to events captured in the McDonald 's video, exh ib it 1 7 , reflect 
the t ime of day ind icated on the video record i ng .  
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Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 06 : 09 a . m .  to 2 : 06 :40 a . m . ;  2 : 09 :48 a . m .  to 2 : 09 : 5 1  a . m . ;  2 : 1 0 :26 a . m .  

Rob i nson testified h e  had a gun  with h im the n ight of the shooti ng but gave confl ict ing 

test imony at tria l  regard i ng the gun .  He testified both that he left it i n  h is rental  car 

before later gett ing i nto Nguyen 's Aud i ,  and also answered , "No .  Not sure" when asked 

if he retrieved the gun  when he is shown in the video gett ing i nto h is renta l car before 

later gett ing i nto Nguyen 's Aud i .  

The video also captu res someone walk ing back and forth between the BMW and 

the Aud i before walk ing out of view. Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 09 :48 a . m .  to 2 : 09 : 5 1  a . m . ;  2 : 1 1 :08 

a . m .  to 2 : 1 1 :41 a .m .  At tria l  Rob i nson testified th is person was "a baby mother . " The 

prosecutor asked Rob inson "whose" baby mother it was . Rob i nson 's answer was 

inaud ib le for the transcription ist. 

The video also captu res Egger exit ing the d river's seat of the BMW and stand 

and walk a longside the BMW. See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 1 3 : 52 a . m .  to 2 : 1 6 :44 a . m .  He is seen 

approach ing a sedan that eventua l ly parks in reverse in a parki ng spot that appears to 

be d i rectly across from and fac ing the Aud i .  See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 1 6 :44 a . m .  to 2 : 1 7 :43 a . m .  

When asked who was i n  that car, Rob i nson cla imed that h e  d id not know wh i le also 

g iv ing i nformat ion about the d river. He said the sedan was occup ied by a s ing le d river 

who was "an i nnocent bystander" from out of town who "d id n 't know what's go ing on"  

and was "not even here anymore . "  Rob i nson cla imed to not know the person's 

"government" name and d id not otherwise provide any name . .  

A coup le m i nutes later i n  the video , Egger walks back and forth between the Aud i 

and BMW. See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 1 9 : 3 1  a . m .  to 2 : 1 9 :42 a . m .  He eventua l ly gets i nto the 

d river's seat of the BMW where he s its with the door open after Rob inson opens the 

7 



84887-9- 1/8 

Aud i 's d river's s ide rear passenger door from the i ns ide and leaves it s l ig htly ajar .  See 

Ex. 1 7 , at 2 :27 :55 a . m .  to 2 : 33 : 57 a . m .  (Egger s its with door open) ; 2 : 20 : 5 1  a . m .  to 

2 : 20 : 56 a . m .  (Robinson opens door) .  About a m i nute before Egger gets i nto the d river's 

seat of the BMW, another veh icle is seen com ing i nto view from the rig ht of the BMW, 

d rivi ng i n  front of it and the Aud i and then out of view. Ex. 1 7 , at 2 :26 : 1 4  a . m .  to 2 :26 :22 

a . m .  Bel lerouche testified that Stanton and her friend were i ns ide th is veh icle . 

Severa l m i nutes later, the rear passenger door on the d river's s ide of the Aud i 

opens fu rther and remains a lmost fu l ly open .  Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 33 :25  a . m .  Rob i nson fi rst 

dang les h is left foot outs ide the door .  See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 33 :40 a . m .  to 2 : 33 :47 a . m .  He 

then kicks the door more open , j umps out of the Aud i ,  and s lams the door closed beh ind 

h im as he runs to the left out  of  frame. Ex .  1 7 , at  2 : 33 :49 a . m .  to 2 : 33 : 5 1  a . m .  Rob i nson 

testified to being shot i n  the face wh i le he was i n  the Aud i and that he bel ieved he was 

shot aga in  wh i le he ran away. On d i rect the prosecutor asked Rob inson , "Where'd the 

shot come from?" Rob inson answered , " I n  that truck, in the car. " The prosecutor asked , 

"Wh ich seat?" Rob i nson answered , "Defendant . " With i n  seconds of Rob inson runn i ng 

away, the Aud i ,  the BMW, and the un identified sedan that was parked d i rectly across 

from the Aud i d rive out of the frame.  See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 33 : 59 a . m .  to 2 : 34 : 1 3  a . m .  

Rob i nson ran across Au rora Avenue to a cas ino ,  where emp loyees ca l led 9 1 1 .  

Rob i nson i nformed an emergency responder that he d id not get a good look at who shot 

h im .  Accord ing to a respond ing deputy,  Rob i nson was able to commun icate that 

someone i n  a "b lu ish"  car pu l led up  to h im and shot h im wh i le he was walk i ng . Rob i nson 

testified at tria l  that he d id not remember what he to ld the deputy,  but when shown an 

exh ib it of the incident report ,  said , " If I sa id that, then I g uess that's what I to ld h im . "  

8 
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C. The Investigation 

Whi le at the hosp ita l after the shooti ng , Rob i nson refused to meet with 

detectives . Rob i nson's stepfather , Karlton Dan ie l ,  testified Rob inson to ld h im in the 

hosp ita l that "Crucia l"  was the person who shot h im .  The parties stipu lated du ring tria l  

that Bel lerouche's n ickname is "Crucia l . "  

I nvest igati ng detective John  Free connected the name "Crucia l"  with Bernard 

Bel lerouche and prepared a photomontage with h is photo . When detectives Free and 

Chris Johnson vis ited Rob inson on Ju ly 29,  Rob i nson was uncomfortable speaki ng with 

them and refused to look at the photomontage or be recorded . Both detectives testified 

that Rob i nson to ld them someth ing to the effect of "I can do one better" or  " I ' l l  do you 

one better, " and showed the detectives a photo th rough h is ce l l  phone .  Detective Free 

testified that the phone d isp layed the same photo of Bel lerouche that was in the 

photomontage and that after Rob i nson showed the photo on h is ce l l  phone ,  Rob i nson 

said , "That's him rig ht there . "  Rob i nson testified at tria l  that he d id not bel ieve he 

showed the detectives any photo , the same answer he gave the prosecutor previously 

d u ring a defense i nterview. 1 0  

After i n it ia l ly clos ing the i nvest igation as a resu lt of Rob i nson's lack of 

cooperation ,  detective Free vis ited Rob i nson aga in  on August 1 3 . Rob i nson aga in  

1 0  O n  d i rect Robinson was asked , "Wh i le you were with [detectives Free and Johnson] , 
d id  you show them a p icture of your  phone,  on your  phone,  of the person who shot you?" 
Robinson's answer was inaud ib le for the transcri pt ion ist . The prosecutor later asked , "D id you at 
that fi rst meet ing show the phone and te l l  Detective Free you ' l l  do him one better rather than the 
photo l i neup?" Robinson answered , " I  don 't remember the words .  I remember ( inaud ible) . "  The 
prosecutor then asked Robinson ,  "D id you te l l  Detective Free at that fi rst meet ing who shot 
you?" Robinson answered , " I  be l ieve so ,  yes . "  Defense i nqu i red with Robinson on cross, "You 
testified on d i rect that you don 't be l ieve you showed the detectives any photo . "  Robi nson 
confi rmed , "Right. " Defense asked , "And you never showed them a p icture from your  phone?" 
Robinson answered , " If I d id ,  I have no memories of it . " 
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appeared nervous ,  refused to be recorded , and identified "Crucia l"  as the person who 

shot h im .  Rob i nson identified both Egger and Nguyen th rough photomontages . After 

looki ng at a photomontage that i ncluded Bel lerouche,  Rob i nson wrote "No p ie" on the 

photomontage .  See Ex. 8 1 . At tria l  detective Free testified that Rob inson ,  as he was 

looki ng at the photomontage ,  said , "You saw the p ictu re I showed you before . "  Du ring 

th is same meeti ng , Free testified that Robi nson identified the shooter by the name 

"Crucia l . "  At tria l  Rob i nson testified he d id not identify "Crucia l"  i n  the photomontage .  

Bel lerouche moved to Arizona i n  September to jo in  th ree of h is ch i ld ren and  the i r  

mother, Amanda Marks . The State charged Bel lerouche i n  October with assau lt i n  the 

fi rst deg ree and un lawfu l possess ion of a fi rearm in the fi rst deg ree . A detective flew to 

Arizona and arrested Bel lerouche in December 2020.  Pol ice took photos of Bel lerouche 

at the t ime of h is arrest and of h is BMW parked i n  the d riveway. See Ex. 68 . 1 ; Ex. 54 .2-

.4 .  These photos , as wel l  as dozens of photos taken i ns ide Bel lerouche's home, were 

adm itted and shown at tria l .  

D. Trial 

Bel lerouche's 1 0-day tria l  was held the fa l l  of 2022 . 1 1  At the start of the State's 

open ing statement, the prosecutor i ntrod uced the State's theory of the case , stat ing : 

On Ju ly 26th , 2020 around 2 : 35 a . m . ,  Terrance Rob i nson was shot i n  the 
face wh i le he was sitt ing in the back of a parked car. A guy that [Robinson] 
knew as Dino [Nguyen] was i n  the d river's seat. And a guy that [Robi nson] 
knew by the n ickname Crucia l  was s itt i ng i n  the front passenger seat, to 
[Robi nson's] rig ht .  

Terrance Rob inson was unarmed . Terrance Rob i nson was 
unsuspecti ng . There had been no argument .  There was no beef. 

Sudden ly and without provocation ,  Crucia l ,  whose real name is 

1 1  Because the tria l  was bifu rcated , the j u ry on ly heard evidence re lated to the charge of 
assau lt i n  the fi rst degree and determ ined a verd ict before hearing un related evidence of 
Bel lerouche's previous convict ion that supported the second charge of un lawfu l possess ion of a 
fi rearm (UPF) i n  the fi rst degree.  The UPF charge was based on the shooting of Robinson .  

1 0  
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Bernard Bellerouche, . . .  turned on [Robinson], pulled a gun,  and shot him 

point blank . . . .  
As [Robinson) fled for his life, Bernard Bellerouche shot [Robinson) 

twice more, once in the shoulder as [Robinson) scrambled out of the car, 

once in his back, in Terrance Robinson's back, as he flailed and fled. 

Defense told the jury at opening that the day before the early morning shooting, 

on July 25, 2020, Bel lerouche was honoring the life and birthday of his best friend, T .C . ,  

who "had passed away the year before . You'l l  see text messages about how heavy 

[Bel lerouche) fe lt mourning the loss of his friend." Defense told the jury that in the 

memorial video they would see a bottle of cognac "being passed around, T.C. 's favorite 

alcohol ." Defense conceded at opening that Bellerouche was in the business plaza 

parking lot when Robinson was shot. Defense asserted , however, that Bellerouche 

"never was in Dino Nguyen's [Audi] . . .  and he was not the shooter" and that there was 

"nothing corroborating Terrance Robinson's story that he was." 

The State's only witness who was present at the time of the shooting was 

Robinson. By the time of trial, Robinson was will ing to identify Bel lerouche in the same 

photomontage he was shown by the detectives on August 1 3 , 2020. When asked why 

he did not previously identify "Crucial" in the photomontage presented by detectives, 

Robinson said, "Unsure. I don't know . . .  [d)on't want to go that route ." When asked why 

he did not previously identify "Bernard Bellerouche" in the photomontage, Robinson 

responded , "Not ready I guess." 

Detectives were unable to locate Nguyen.  Egger was "d iscovered dead in 

Seattle" before investigators could speak with h im.  Pol ice obtained Egger's cell phone. 

The prosecutor referenced Egger's death during the State's opening statement: 

On September 5 ,  2020, about five weeks after the shooting in this 
case, as investigators were seeking to talk with Solomon Egger about his 
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ro le i n  th is case as a witness i n  th is case , Solomon Egger was found dead 
in Seattle . There was an i nvest igation i nto Egger's death . Some evidence 
from that i nvest igation was included i n  th is case . A ce l lphone video was 
pu l led from Solomon Egger's phone .  

You ' l l  see that video du ring th is tria l .  I t  was taken a few hours 
before our  shooti ng . . . .  The video is from the even ing  of Ju ly 25th . It was 
at what appears to be a b i rthday party . You ' l l  see the cognac bottle that I 
mentioned earl ier  that Karlton Danie l  found .  You ' l l  see that i n  the video . 
You ' l l  see somebody who looks an awfu l lot l i ke Bernard Bel lerouche 
carry ing an object that looks an awfu l lot l i ke a fi rearm . 

The video of the memorial is captu red from the perspective of outs ide the rig ht s ide of 

Bel lerouche's BMW 1 2  that is partia l ly i n  view. See Ex. 65 .  

On d i rect the State questioned detective Joshua Ru rey about the contents of  the 

memoria l  video taken with Egger's ce l l  phone ,  which was also p layed for the j u ry du ring 

h is test imony. The video beg ins by showing a B lack man i n  a b lue sh i rt among a g roup 

of  ad u lts and ch i ld ren and a large co l lect ion of  bal loons that are be ing  d istributed . Ex. 

65, at 0 m i n .  to 0 m in . ,  05 sec. The man holds bal loons in both hands and walks toward 

the BMW. Ex. 65 ,  at 0 m i n .  to 0 m in . ,  20 sec. Someth ing s lender ,  s i lvery ,  and sh i ny 

appears to be dang l ing from h is left hand as he holds the bal loon stri ngs .  The video 

captu res a close-up  view of the man's face that shows a nose p ierci ng on the left s ide of 

h is nose and earri ngs i n  both ears . 1 3  Ex. 65 ,  at 0 m in . ,  52 sec. to 0 m in . ,  54 sec. He also 

appears to be weari ng prescription g lasses . The video also captu res someone s itt i ng in 

the BMW weari ng a b lack sh i rt with a des ign on it and what appears to be the person 

hold ing the phone that is tak ing the video . Ex. 65, at O m in . ,  56 sec. to 1 m in . ,  01 sec. 

1 2  The video itself does not ind icate that the black veh icle is Bel lerouche's BMW, but 
Bel lerouche testified at tria l  that it is h is  black BMW in  the video . 

1 3  The earri ng i n  the man 's rig ht ear can be seen the second t ime that h is  right ear 
appears on screen .  See Ex. 65 ,  at O m i n . , 52 sec. to O m in . ,  54 sec. In real t ime it can be d ifficu lt 
to see the earri ng in the man 's rig ht ear, but it is clearly v is ib le when the video is played at an 
extra s low speed . 
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Bel lerouche testified that he was the person weari ng the b lack sh i rt and was s itt i ng i n  

t he  d river's seat of the BMW, and  that the person tak ing the  video was Egger. About a 

m i nute later the video shows what appears to be the same B lack man i n  the b lue sh i rt 

who was previously hold ing bal loons walk ing with h is back to the camera around the 

front of the BMW with someth ing sticki ng out of h is rig ht hand that is s lender ,  s i lvery ,  

and sh iny .  Ex. 65 ,  at 1 m in . ,  58 sec. to 1 m in . ,  59 sec. 

Rurey testified that the man's "face appeared s im i lar  to Mr. Bel lerouche" and that 

he was hold ing what "appeared" to be a fi rearm . Detective Free also testified that he 

bel ieved the man i n  the b lue sh i rt to be Bel lerouche hold ing a g u n .  Free conceded that 

he reviewed the video with another detective who had the capab i l ity of enhancing the 

video to either ru le i n  or ru le out whether the object was a fi rearm , but the detectives 

decided not to get the video enhanced : 

Q :  You have the ab i l ity to - you have someone in  you r  office , 
Detective Mel l is? 

A: Yes . 
Q :  And he does video enhancement? 
A: He does , yeah .  
Q : And you both looked at th is particu lar video? 
A: Yes . 
Q :  Bu t  you decided not to get th is enhanced? 
A: Decided not to get it enhanced . I th i nk  - so he d id look at , he d id 

look at th is video , and I th i nk  we - u lt imate ly, it was my op in ion , and 
it was h is op in ion that it cou ld either be ru led out or  ru led i n  as a 
fi rearm . 

Q :  Alrig ht . Bu t  you have said that you bel ieved i t  to be  a fi rearm? 
A: Yes . In fact , the dark handle ,  the shape, the length , one particu lar 

fi rearm that comes to m i nd for me is an Airweight . 38 ,  but I don 't 
say for certa i n .  

Bel lerouche offered expert test imony of enhanced sti l l  images of the memoria l  video 

that showed the item in  the man's hand . See Ex. 78. The expert testified that the item 

was made up of two d ifferent parts with d ifferent hue and brig htness levels ,  and that the 
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lower p iece reflects more l i ght than the upper p iece and was about half the s ize of the 

holder's "next fi nger . " 

On cross , when shown sti l l  photos from the enhanced video that captu red a 

close-up of the B lack man 's face , detective Rurey confi rmed the image of the man's 

face appeared to show he had an earri ng and nose jewel ry .  See Ex.  7 1 . Bel lerouche 

testified he d id not have nose jewel ry or earri ngs ,  and the man in  the memorial v ideo 

was h is friend Demetrius L indsey who was hold ing car keys with a bottle opener 

attached . Photos that Bel lerouche took with h is own phone obta i ned by pol ice also 

i ncluded a photo that captu red in the foreg round a part of the B lack man in the b lue sh i rt 

identified by Bel lerouche as L indsey. See Ex. 1 1 . 1 .  1 4  L indsey was clean shaven i n  the 

memoria l  video . See Ex. 65, at O m in . ,  53 sec. to O m in . ,  54 sec. An identificat ion card of 

Bel lerouche obta ined du ring a search of h is home i n  Arizona and adm itted at tria l  

dep icts h im with a s l ight moustache and fi l led-out beard and without g lasses or a nose 

p ierci ng . 1 5  See Ex. 54 . 8 .  The arrest photos that were adm itted at tria l  also depict 

Bel lerouche with a s l ight moustache and fi l led-out beard and without g lasses , a nose 

p ierci ng , or earrings .  See Ex. 68 . 1 . Bel lerouche's test imony that the B lack man weari ng 

the b lue sh i rt was L indsey was un rebutted . Rob i nson was never asked to identify 

whether the B lack man i n  the b lue sh i rt was Bel lerouche,  whether the B lack man 

weari ng the b lue sh i rt was carry ing an object that resembled the gun that was used to 

shoot Rob inson ,  or whether Bel lerouche wore a b lue sh i rt at the t ime of the shooti ng . 

1 4  Bel lerouche's test imony that identified the man i n  the memorial photos taken with h is  
phone referred to exh ib it 1 2 . Both exh ib its 1 1  and 1 2  were adm itted at  tria l ,  but  exh ib it 1 2  was 
not designated in the clerk's papers .  The record shows that exh ib it 1 1  was i ntroduced as a CD 
of  photos from Bel lerouche's phone and exh ib it 1 2  consisted of  pri nted photos from that same 
CD .  

1 5  The identificat ion photo does not show the lobes of  Bel lerouche's ears .  See Ex .  54 .8 .  
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I n  the memoria l  video obta ined from Egger's ce l l  phone ,  the p layi ng of art ist L i l  

Wayne's enti re rap song / Miss My Dawgs 1 6  is captu red , and runs for approximate ly 4 

m i nutes and 1 8  seconds .  See Ex. 65 ,  at 1 m in . ,  1 2  sec. to 5 m in . ,  30 sec. Before tria l ,  

defense objected to the aud io ,  argu ing that "the cu ltu ra l express ions [ i n  the video] cou ld 

be m isperce ived as 'gangsta rap'  or  some sort of endorsement of gang-mental ity or  

attitudes" and p lace Bel lerouche in  an unfa i rly negative l i ght based on h is race . 

The State ag reed to redact any use of "the N word"  but argued the rema in ing 

song aud io shou ld remain i n  the video because the song overlaps with aud io re levant to 

the State's theory,  i nc lud ing someone aski ng , "Are you off to Au rora?" and the sound of 

l iq u id be ing poured out of what the State bel ieved was the Remy Mart in cognac bottle . 

The State exp la i ned that its theory of the case was based on "the idea" that Bel lerouche 

attended a b i rthday party for h is friend , Wh itney, "who had recently been murdered , "  

that Bel lerouche had that friend 's i n it ials tattooed on h is hand , that Bel lerouche ta lks 

about h is friend as h is '" rig ht-hand man , "' and that Bel lerouche was m iss ing the friend . 1 7  

The State exp la i ned the aud io i s  part of its "pouring one out" theory and the aud io of 

'"You off to Au rora' is obvious ly squarely re levant to provi ng that M r. Bel lerouche was 

later at Au rora . "  

Th i s  d iscuss ion fo l lowed the State's concess ion at an earl ier  pretria l  d iscovery 

heari ng when the court asked the State if it had identified a motive i n  the instant case 

and whether there was "a re lationsh ip  between these people that the state is a l leg ing 

wou ld have led to an act of  v io lence?" The prosecutor conceded that because there was 

16 Defense identified the art ist and song tit le to the tria l  court .  
1 7  Later at tria l  the State i ntroduced a photo of Bel lerouche's tattooed hand, wh ich I 

reference below. See Ex. 68 . 2 .  
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no ind icat ion that Rob inson or Egger had any connection with the "murder" of Wh itney, 

the State's theory was "not reta l iatory . "  I nstead , the prosecutor stated that "there is 

specu lat ion about the motive , I th i nk  that wi l l  be one of the d ifficu lt issues at tria l "  and 

that " [t] here is the specu lation from witnesses . . .  that it was done sort of to 

commemorate a prior mu rder" "as a reflect ion of the g ravity of that prior mu rder others 

must pay . "  The prosecutor said that " it 's not reta l iatory ,  [but] it 's commemoration , "  "sort 

of a poor [s ic] one out k ind of respect situation . " 1 8  At a d ifferent pretria l  hearing , the 

court g ranted the defense motion to l im it Rob i nson's stepfather's test imony by barri ng 

any references to d rug dea l ing , gang activity ,  other acts of v io lence ,  or  mu rders .  The 

court also d i rected the parties to ra ise any motions regard i ng gang activity to the extent 

either party bel ieved it became re levant to the case so that the issue cou ld be 

add ressed outs ide the presence of the j u ry .  

After the prosecutor made h is i n it ia l  argument du ring motions i n  l im ine as to why 

the enti re aud io of the video was needed , the tria l  cou rt poi nted out that " [t] he 

conversat ion about 'off to Au rora'?" occu rs before the song starts and that the pouring­

out sound of l iq u id occu rs after the song ends .  The prosecutor later renewed the 

request that on ly specific s l u rs be redacted from the aud io .  The prosecutor mainta i ned 

that d u ring the song there are moments of "some com ing and go ing"  and that the 

veh icle shown in the video is consistent with one the vict im identifies as belong ing to 

Bel lerouche.  The prosecutor conti nued : 

When we see the person k ind of walk ing across the screen ,  the i nd ivid ual  

1 8  At tria l  the j u ry d id  not hear any evidence that Wh itney was murdered or an 
explanat ion of the term "pouring out . " At tria l  the prosecutor asked Bel lerouche with regard to 
the sound of l iqu id  be ing poured out i n  the memoria l  video , "Does pouring out l iq uor l i ke that, 
does it have a mean ing?" Bel lerouche answered , " I 'm  not too sure . "  The prosecutor then asked 
Bel lerouche,  "You 've never l i ke heard of l i ke 'pour one out'?" Bel lerouche responded , "No . "  
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[ i n  the b lue sh i rt] we bel ieve is M r. Bel lerouche,  at two m inutes and 1 5  
seconds ,  we hear a car door close . If that portion ,  there was no aud io ,  we 
wou ldn 't be able to hear the car door clos ing . And so that just 
demonstrates a connection between the veh icle and the person in  the 
video and al l of that stuff. Somebody's ye l l i ng  "m iss ing h im"  at about th ree 
m inutes and 39 seconds .  And so there's j ust l i ke a lot of context that I 
th i nk  gets e l im inated when we use such a rough instrument by 
suppress ing a l l  of the aud io .  

Defense argued that p layi ng the music and its tone "may overemphas ize gang 

i nvolvement. " Defense asserted the song cou ld be connected to L i l  Wayne as the art ist 

"who very pub l icly boasts and brags of h is own gang i nvolvement .  So if any of the j u rors 

were to recogn ize that music and song , I th i nk  that's a very mainstream and pub l ic  

connection that the artist h imself has made . " 1 9  The tria l  cou rt den ied the motion but 

ordered certa i n  words be redacted from the song . 20  

At tria l  the video of the memoria l ,  exh ib it 65, was p layed for the j u ry and adm itted 

i nto evidence .  Contrary to what the prosecutor argued to the court ,  the video does not 

captu re the sound of a car door clos ing at 2 m inutes and 1 5  seconds after the B lack 

man in the b lue sh i rt walks in front of the BMW and out of view. I n  fact , at 4 m i nutes and 

57 seconds the man can be seen walk ing i n  front of and then away from the BMW to 

the rig ht .  Wel l  after the song has fi n ished , at 8 m i nutes and 43 seconds ,  the B lack man 

i n  the b lue sh i rt can be seen aga in  walk ing i n  front of the car to the left .  As the tria l  cou rt 

observed , the aud io of someone aski ng a question about "to Au rora" occu rs before the 

song beg ins at 45 seconds and the sound of pouring l iq u id occu rs around 6 m i nutes 

and 1 6  seconds after the song ends .  See Ex. 65 ,  at O m in . ,  44 sec. to O m in . ,  45 sec. 

19  In response to defense's argument ,  the prosecutor cited Wikiped ia as stat ing that "L i l  
Wayne is one of  the world 's best-se l l i ng mus ic artists of  a l l  t ime"  and is "often cited as one of  the 
g reatest rappers of a l l  t ime . "  

20 As ordered by the court ,  the State redacted the "n"  word , the word "b itch , "  and the 
word "motherfucker. "  See Ex. 65 ,  at 1 m in . ,  1 2  sec. to 5 m i n . , 30 sec. 
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(Au rora) ; 6 m in . ,  09 sec. to 6 m in . ,  1 1  sec. ( l iq u id ) ;  6 m in . ,  1 4  sec. to 6 m in . ,  1 6  sec. 

(cognac bottle) . Once the song p lays , it is so loud that it d rowns out most other sounds .  

See Ex. 65 ,  at 1 m in . ,  27 sec. to 5 m in . ,  30 sec. The lyrics to / Miss My Dawgs also 

come th rough loud and clear. See Ex. 65, at 1 m in . ,  27 sec. to 5 m in . ,  30 sec. The lyrics 

i nc lude the fo l lowing chorus that repeats th ree t imes : 

Man , I m iss my dawgs ,  many n ig hts cl ub  hopp in '  
Many n ig hts we were b lowin '  trees , many n ights we were hustl i ng 
Man I m iss my dawgs ,  me and you th rough th ick and th i n  
Me and  you to  the  very end , for on ly you I ' l l  s i n  aga in  
Man , I m iss my dawgs ,  many n ig hts cl ub  hopp in '  
Many n ig hts we were b lowin '  trees , many n ights we were hustl i ng 
Man I m iss my dawgs ,  me and you th rough th ick and th i n  
Me and  you to  the  very end , for on ly you I ' l l  s i n  aga i n .  

Ex. 65 ,  at 2 m in . ,  28 sec. to 2 m in . ,  53 sec. ; 3 m in . ,  42  sec. to 4 m in . ,  07  sec. ; 4 

m in . ,  56 sec. to 5 m in . ,  2 1  sec. The j u ry also heard these lyrics i n  the song : 

You was my [redacted] ,  my nerve , my joy,  my hu rt 
My ma in  [redacted] man Turk (oh) 
My other ,  my partner, I was teacher, he was father 
I sk i l led , he schoo led , we ch i l led , we moved 
We thug , we hung ,  we ate , we slept 
We l ived , we d ied , I stayed , you left 
Remember how we p layed to the left? 

Ex. 65 ,  at 4 m in . ,  07 sec. to 4 m in . ,  28 sec. During the State's cross-examination of 

Bel lerouche,  the prosecutor asked about Bel lerouche's re lationsh ip  with Wh itney: 

Q : . . . .  you were sad [the day of the memoria l ]? 
A: Yes . 
Q : Because Lloyd Wh itney was you r  friend? 
A: Yes . 
Q : You r  rig ht-hand man? 
A: My best friend . 
Q : You r  best friend . And you r  rig ht-hand man was the ph rase I was 

us ing . 
A: Yes . 
Q : And I 'm  po int ing to my own rig ht hand just because that's where 

you r  tattoo is located , rig ht? 

1 8  



84887-9- 1/1 9 

A: Yes . 
Q : And you texted with somebody - in  you r  text messages , you 

referred to Lloyd [Wh itney] as you r  rig ht-hand man , rig ht? 
A: Yes . 
Q : And Ju ly 25th , 2020 wou ld have been h is b i rthday had he sti l l  been 

al ive? 
A: Yes . 
Q : You were fee l ing emotional  that day about h im and h is s ituat ion 

and you r  loss , correct? 
A: Can you repeat that? 
Q : Yeah .  You were fee l i ng emotional  on Ju ly 25th of 2020 about h im 

and  the  s ituat ion and  you r  loss? 
A: Yes . 

Without objection , the State adm itted and pub l ished a photo of Bel lerouche's 

tattooed hand du ring detective Rurey's test imony. See Ex. 68 .2 .  The tattoo is a des ign 

made up of the letters "TC . "  See Ex .  68 .2 .  Later at  tria l  Bel lerouche testified he got the 

i n it ials tattooed on h is hand " [a]s a way to remember [Wh itney] by, "  who went by "TC" 

for the n ickname "Tone Capone . "  

The prosecutor asked Rob inson about h is re lationsh ips with Egger, Nguyen ,  and 

Bel lerouche.  Rob i nson testified that he was friends with Egger ,  had known h im for more 

than 1 0  years ,  and that Egger was staying with h im at h is apartment i n  Kent at the t ime 

of the shooting . The prosecutor asked , "D id you have any beef with Solomon Egger?" 

Rob i nson answered , "Not at a l l . "  The prosecutor i nqu i red aga i n ,  "Were you guys , were 

you try ing to kick h im out [of you r  Kent apartment] or  were you fig ht ing or anyth ing l i ke 

that around Ju ly 26th?" Rob i nson responded , "Noth ing l i ke that . "  Rob i nson testified that 

Egger i ntrod uced h im to Nguyen ,  who Rob i nson saw "[m]aybe once [or twice] a week" 

but d id not know wel l .  

Rob i nson testified he and  Bel lerouche had a friend ly re lationsh ip  before the 

shoot ing and had known each other s ince at least 2009 or 20 1 0 . S im i lar  to Egger, the 
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prosecutor inquired,  "Prior to this, July 26, 2020, did you have any beef or any argument 

with Crucial?" Robinson answered, "No." 

Robinson testified that he, Bellerouche, Egger, and Nguyen were "[h]anging out" 

together in the parking lot. A toxicology screening of Robinson's blood after the shooting 

was positive for cocaine and alcohol .  The prosecutor asked Robinson about what he,  

Bellerouche, Nguyen ,  and Egger were doing in the parking lot. Robinson confirmed they 

were drinking cognac but he did not know who brought it. When the prosecutor also 

asked, "Were you doing cocaine?" the fo llowing exchange took place: 

A. We were. 
Q .  Who brought that? 
A. I mean, they both had it. 

Q .  They both had it. What does that mean? 
A. [Nguyen] and the defendant both had it. I even purchased 

some from [Nguyen]. 

Q. Okay. Was that a normal thing to be doing in the parking lot 
when you're hanging out at that place? 

A. No.  

Q .  No? So it was a little unusual? 
A. Not unusual but just wasn't l ike that particular day. 
Q .  Okay. While you were drinking or eating or  doing whatever 

you were doing in the parking lot, were you ,  did you get into arguments 
with any of the people that were there? 

A. No.  They was cordial .  

Q. I 'm sorry? 
A. Everything was cordial .  

On cross Robinson testified he was high on cocaine and alcohol at the t ime of the 

shooting but "was stil l functioning." 

When the shooting occurred, Robinson testified he was sitting in the back seat of 

Nguyen's Audi on the driver's side.  Nguyen was in the driver's seat and Bellerouche 

was in the front passenger seat. Robinson testified that Egger was "next to" 

Bellerouche's BMW when the shooting occurred but that he had been in the Audi at 
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some point before the shooting . When asked on d i rect who shot h im ,  Rob i nson 

answered , "The passenger i n  the wh ite truck . "2 1  When the prosecutor fo l lowed up  by 

aski ng , " Is that you want to say? You don 't want to identify h im in  any other way?" 

Rob inson said , "The defendant . " Later the prosecutor aga in  asked Rob inson ,  " I 'm  go ing 

to ask you th is one last t ime.  D id Crucia l  shoot you?" Rob i nson answers , "Yes . "  

Bel lerouche testified that he  arrived at the bus i ness p laza around 1 2 :30 a . m .  He  

and  other people ta lked and  got food . He d id not see Rob inson at the prior gatheri ng i n  

north Seattle , bu t  Egger to ld h im that Rob i nson was a t  the bus i ness p laza parki ng lot. 

Bel lerouche knew Rob inson th rough Egger, and that Egger was stay ing at Rob i nson 's 

apartment at  the t ime.  When asked i f  he had seen Rob inson before Ju ly 26 ,  

Bel lerouche answered , " I  knew h im ,  I seen h im th rough [Egger] and l i ke that. But other 

than that, I d idn 't have any i nteract ions with h im or anyth ing l i ke that .  . . .  I d idn 't know 

h im wel l . "  

Bel lerouche den ied us ing any  d rugs the n ight of the shooting . The State cross­

examined Bel lerouche about coca ine :  

Q : I n  the parki ng lot . . .  let me be clear. I 'm  ta lk ing about . . .  the p lace 
of the shooting . I n  that parki ng lot that n ight prior to the shooting , 
were people do ing coca i ne? 

A: Not that I 'm aware of. 
Q : You heard [Robinson] testify that he bought some coca ine from 

[Nguyen]? 
A: Yes . 
Q : [Nguyen] was you r  friend for years .  Wou ld it su rprise you if 

[Nguyen] d id coca ine that n ig ht? 
A: I 'm  not su re what they were do ing that n ight .  
Q : You ' re not sure what they were do ing that n ig ht? 
A: No .  I 'm  not aware of any of that .  
Q : Wou ld you be su rprised if [Nguyen] sold coca ine to [Robi nson] that 

2 1  I t  is apparent from the record that Robinson was referri ng to a passenger i n  Nguyen's 
wh ite Aud i .  As noted above , see supra note 8 and accompanying text , Robinson referred to 
Nguyen's and Bel lerouche's veh icles as "trucks . "  
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n ig ht? 
A: I 'm  not aware of what [Nguyen] does . 
Q : You ' re not aware of what? 
A: I 'm not aware of h im doing any d rugs .  
Q : That n ight or  ever? 
A: Ever. 
Q : [Robi nson] a lso testified that he bought some coca ine from you .  
A: That's not true .  
Q : I s  that true because you know you d id not se l l  coca ine to 

[Robi nson] specifica l ly or  because you do not se l l  coca ine at a l l?  
A: Can you repeat the question? 
Q : Yeah .  You said it 's not true ,  so I 'm  aski ng if you are testify ing " I  

know I d id not se l l  coca ine to Terrance Rob inson , "  or  are you 
sayi ng " I t 's not true .  I never se l l  coca i ne"? 

Q : I 've never sold coca ine to Terrance Rob inson . 
A: To Terrance Rob inson .  How wou ld you know that if you don 't rea l ly 

know who Terrance Rob i nson is? 
A: I ,  I ' d  know if I d id someth ing with Terrance Rob inson .  
Q : How wou ld you know? 
A: Because I 've seen h im up  here on the stand , and I don 't recogn ize 

h im .  

Defense d id not object .  

Bel lerouche testified to s itt i ng i n  the passenger seat of h is BMW at 2 : 00 a . m .  

Wh i le i n  the BMW, Bel lerouche spent t ime ta lk ing to Stanton and her friend , who were 

on the passenger s ide of the BMW. Bel lerouche testified that start ing before 2 : 00 a .m . ,  

there were people gett ing i n  and out of the Aud i but h e  "wasn't rea l ly payi ng attent ion to 

who was i n  that veh icle . "  When Stanton and her friend left at 2 : 26 a . m . ,  Bel lerouche 

testified that Egger was a l ready i n  the BMW and that they "were gett ing ready to leave . "  

See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 26 : 1 8  a . m .  to 2 :26 :20 a .m .  

After heari ng what sounded l i ke gunshots around 2 : 30 a . m . ,  Bel lerouche testified 

that he and Egger left in the BMW. Bel lerouche testified he and Egger went to L indsey's 

house i n  Pacific Algona .  Bel lerouche provided ce l l  tower data analys is that showed h is 

ce l l  phone and Egger's ce l l  phone moving south th rough the same neighborhood , 
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supporting his testimony that they left the parking lot together and drove toward Pacific 

Algona. 

Bellerouche testified Egger told him someone got shot, but Bellerouche did not 

know who . He testified it was not until his arrest in Arizona that he learned it was 

Robinson who had been shot. The prosecutor cross-examined Bellerouche about Egger 

not telling him that Robinson was shot in the face: 

Q:  Were you aware that [Robinson] had a gun? 

A: I don't know [Robinson] l ike that to know that. 

Q:  Like that? " I  don't know [Robinson] l ike that." What do you mean 
"l ike that"? 

A: I don't, I don't know him.  All I know is what [Egger] has said, talked 
about it, and that's it. 

Q:  But [Egger] never talked to you about the fact that Terrance 

Robinson got shot in the face? 
A: No.  

Q:  Were you in fear for your safety with any of  those people, [Nguyen], 

[Egger], or [Robinson]? 
A: No.  

Q:  Did you have any arguments with any of  them on or about July 25th 

and July 26th, 2020? 
A: No.  

Q:  Any beef with any of  them? 

A: No.  
Q :  Did you have any arguments with anybody else who was present 

that night at the parking lot outside the Chinese restaurant? 

A: No.  

In  the State's closing argument, the prosecutor acknowledged to the jury the lack 

of an apparent motive for the shooting. The prosecutor stated ,  "Yes, [Robinson] was 

correct, there were no arguments, no beefs between anybody at that parking lot that Mr. 

Bellerouche knew about." The prosecutor continued: 

We talked earlier about the four things that I need to prove in this 
case. One thing that isn't on that list is why. Why? [Robinson] didn't give 

us a reason because he didn't have one. Why would Bernard Bellerouche 
shoot Terrance Robinson in such a cold-blooded way? Point blank. No 
provocation .  [Robinson] had no inkling of any argument . .  . .  
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So how does th is happen? The d isda in  it takes to commit th is crime 
I th i nk  is a c lue .  Because Bernard Bel lerouche's test imony yesterday 
demonstrated d isda in  towards Terrance Rob inson . . . .  Bel lerouche on ly 
says " I  seen [Rob i nson] . I d id n 't know h im . "  . . .  D isda infu l .  

There was no " I 'm  sorry about what happened to the friend of my 
friend , but I d idn 't do it . "  . . .  I nstead , "He was roommates with my friend 
Solomon Egger. Yeah ,  he was friend ly, [Robinson] was , with [Nguyen] , a 
guy I was ta lk ing to a l l  the t ime.  But no ,  I d id n 't know h im and I d id n 't even 
know he was shot . "  Fu l l  stop .  

And i n  that way, Bernard Bel lerouche in  h is test imony gave us the 
why in h is case , because Terrance Rob i nson meant noth ing to h im . . . .  
Terrance Rob inson d id not matter to Bernard Bel lerouche.  

The prosecutor later ended the State's rebutta l by stati ng : 

The witness i n  th is tria l  who owned up  to these actions ,  who 
acknowledged that he m ight be d ifferent from an average Seattle j u ror  
was Terrance Rob inson . He's not aski ng for you r  sympathy. He's not 
pretend ing to be a straight- laced boy scout hang ing out on Au rora at 2 : 30 
a . m .  He to ld you who he is .  He to ld you he's d ifferent .  He to ld you he's 
fam i l iar  with coca ine and guns .  And he told you what happened to h im .  
And he to ld you who d id it .  Crucia l  shot h im i n  the face from point b lank i n  
co ld b lood , and  then Crucial shot h im aga in  as  he fled for h is l ife . Don't 
hold Bernard Bel lerouche accountable because he's d ifferent .  Hold h im 
accountable because he's gu i lty . 

D I SCUSS ION 

Race-Based Prosecutor ial M isconduct 

Bel lerouche argues the prosecutor's use of the term "beef" d u ring tria l  evoked 

harmfu l stereotypes of B lack men engaged in a world of violent crime ,  consequently 

deprivi ng h im of a fa i r  tria l  by "other[ ing]" h im  from the j u ry .  The majority holds that 

Bel lerouche fa i led to estab l ish that an objective observer cou ld view the prosecutor's 

repeated use of "beef" as an appeal to racial p rejud ice .  Majority at 29 .  I d isag ree . 

A crim inal  defendant has a constitut ional ly protected rig ht to a "fa i r  tria l  by a 

panel of impartia l ,  ' i nd ifferent' j u rors . "  I rv in v. Dowd , 366 U . S .  7 1 7 ,  722 , 8 1  S .  Ct. 1 639 ,  

6 L .  Ed . 2d 751  ( 1 96 1 ) ;  U . S .  CONST. amends .  VI , XIV;  WASH .  CONST. art .  I , § 22 . The 
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rig ht to a fa i r  tria l  i ncludes the rig ht to be presumed i nnocent, '"and its enforcement l ies 

at the foundat ion of the adm in istrat ion of our  crim inal  law. "' State v .  Butler , 1 98 Wn . 

App .  484 ,  493 , 394 P . 3d 424 (20 1 7) ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng Este l le 

v. Wi l l iams ,  425 U . S .  50 1 , 503 ,  96 S .  Ct .  1 69 1 , 48 L .  Ed . 2d 1 26 ( 1 976)) . A j u ry is 

impart ia l if it is '"capable and wi l l i ng  to decide the case solely on the evidence before it . "' 

McDonough Power Equ ip . ,  I nc .  v. Greenwood , 464 U . S .  548 ,  554 ,  1 04 S .  Ct. 845 , 78 L .  

Ed . 2d 663 ( 1 984) (quoti ng Sm ith v .  Ph i l l ips , 455 U . S .  209 ,  2 1 7 , 1 02 S .  Ct .  940 ,  71  L .  

Ed . 2d 78 ( 1 982)) . Impart ia l ity requ i res that the j u ry be unb iased and unprejud iced . 

Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 787 . 

Racia l  p rej ud ice is "a fam i l iar  and recu rri ng evi l "  that r isks systemic harm to the 

just ice system .  Pena-Rod riquez v.  Colorado ,  580 U . S .  206 , 224 , 1 37 S. Ct. 855 , 1 97 L. 

Ed . 2d 1 07 (20 1 7) .  A crim inal  defendant re l ies on the j u ry to be a bu lwark aga inst racial 

p rejud ice and the wrongfu l  exercise of the government's power. kl at 223 .  "[C]ou rts 

have been 'cal led upon to enforce the Constitution 's guarantee aga inst state-sponsored 

racial d iscrim inat ion in the j u ry system'  and to safeguard 'a crim inal  defendant's 

fundamental  p rotect ion of l ife and l i berty aga inst race or co lor prejud ice . "' Zamora ,  1 99 

Wn .2d at 7 1 1 ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng Pena-Rod riquez, 580 U . S .  at 

222-23) . Al lowing b ias or prejud ice by even one j u ror to contribute to a verd ict v io lates a 

defendant's constitutional  rig hts .  Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at 658 . Th is g rave error 

"u nderm ines the pub l ic's fa ith i n  the fa i rness of our  j ud ic ia l  system . "  kl 

The Wash ington Supreme Cou rt has repeated ly observed a prosecutor's d ual 

ro le as crit ica l to ensuring our jud ic ia l  system's i nteg rity .  See, �. Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 

787 ; State v. Walker ,  1 82 Wn .2d 463, 476 , 34 1 P . 3d 976 (20 1 5) .  A prosecutor must 
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both enforce the law and represent the people in a quasi-jud ic ia l  capacity in the pu rsu it 

of just ice .  State v. Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d 667 , 676 , 257 P . 3d 55 1 (20 1 1 ) . Defendants are 

therefore among the people that a prosecutor represents . � Prosecutors owe a d uty to 

defendants to ensure that the i r  constitut ional  rig ht to a fa i r  tria l  is respected . � 

A defendant's state constitut ional rig ht to an impart ial j u ry " ' is g rave ly vio late[d] . . .  

when the prosecutor resorts to racist argument and appeals to racial stereotypes or 

racial b ias to ach ieve convict ions'-such convict ions underm ine the i nteg rity of our  

ent i re crim inal  just ice system . "  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at  788 (a lterat ions i n  orig i nal) (q uoti ng 

Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 676 , 680) ; see Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 676 n . 2 .  Courts must 

understand that " [w]hen the government resorts to appeals to racial b ias to ach ieve its 

ends ,  a l l  of society suffers , i nc lud ing victims . "  Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 68 1 n . 5 .  

A defendant's rig ht to an impart ia l j u ry i s  v io lated "when exp l icit or  impl icit racial 

b ias is a factor i n  [the] j u ry's verd ict . "  Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at 657 (emphasis added) .  

"Whether exp l icit or  imp l ic it ,  pu rposefu l or  unconscious ,  racial b ias has  no p lace i n  a 

system of just ice . "  Henderson ,  200 Wn .2d at 42 1 . Accord i ng ly ,  " [c]ourts must be vig i lant 

of conduct that appears to appeal to racial or  ethn ic  b ias even when [ it does] not 

expressly referenc[e] race or ethn icity . "  Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 7 1 4 .  

As the majority correctly states , when presented with an al legation of race-based 

prosecutor ial m isconduct ,  an appel late court must determ ine whether the prosecutor 

"flag rantly or  apparently i ntentiona l ly appealed to j u rors' potent ia l racia l  b ias . "  Bagby, 

200 Wn .2d at 793 (emphasis added) .  " [W]hen a prosecutor flag rantly or apparently 

i ntentiona l ly appeals to a j u ror's potent ial racial or  ethn ic  prejud ice ,  b ias ,  or  stereotypes , 

the resu lt ing prejud ice is incurable and requ i res reversal . "  Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 72 1 .  
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In consider ing a race-based prosecutoria l  m isconduct cla im , we must "ask 

whether an objective observer cou ld view the prosecutor's questions and comments as 

an appeal to j u rors' potent ia l p rejud ice ,  b ias ,  or stereotypes in a manner that 

underm ined the defendant's cred ib i l ity or  the presumption of i n nocence . "  Bagby, 200 

Wn .2d at 793 (emphasis added) (footnote om itted) .  We do not consider the prosecutor's 

subjective i ntent . kl at 79 1 . "An 'objective observer' is an i nd ivid ual  who is aware of the 

h istory of race and ethn ic  d iscrim inat ion i n  the U n ited States and that imp l ic it ,  

i nstitutiona l ,  and unconscious b iases , in add ition to pu rposefu l d iscrim ination ,  have 

influenced jury verdicts in Washington State."  kl at 793 n .7 (citing Berhe, 1 93 Wn.2d at 664-65) . 

To stand as an objective observer, a reviewing court must i nternal ize hard truths 

about the ro le of race in the U n ited States. " [R]acism is part of the common cu ltu ra l  

heritage of a l l  Americans . "  A. Leon H igg inbotham J r. ,  Racism i n  American and South 

African Courts : S im i larit ies and D ifferences , 65 N .Y. U .  L .  REV. 479 ,  546 ( 1 990) . "Mass 

med ia depict ion of B lacks as thugs ,  crim i na ls ,  or  people otherwise bent on socia l  

d isrupt ion has a 400-year h istory i n  America" that predates the b i rth of the U n ited States 

with "the possess ion and commod ificat ion of B lack bod ies" underway in the Americas 

by 1 6 1 9 . Bryan Adamson ,  "Thugs," "Crooks," and "Rebel l ious Negroes" : Racist and 

Racia l ized Med ia Coverage of M ichael Brown and the Ferguson Demonstrat ions ,  32 

HARV. J .  RAC IAL & ETHN IC  JUST. 1 89 , 2 1 8 (20 1 6) .  The g roup of assumptions that have 

permeated our  nation 's h istory "are based on notions ,  exp l icit or imp l ic it ,  of African­

Americans as . . .  i n  poor contro l  of the i r  ids ,  and otherwise less than fu l ly human . "  

H igg i nbotham , supra , at 546 . 

Desp ite h istorica l strides made with the C ivi l Rights Movement ,  "the net resu lt 
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appears to be that American cu ltu re has rejected outrig ht racism wh i le perpetuat ing a 

' h idden prej ud ice . "' E l izabeth L .  Earle, Note , Ban ish i ng the Th i rteenth J u ror :  An 

Approach to the Identificat ion of Prosecutor ial Racism , 92 CoLUM .  L .  REV. 1 2 1 2 , 1 222-

23 ( 1 992) (quoti ng Charles R .  Lawrence I l l ,  The Id ,  the Ego, and Equal  Protect ion : 

Reckon ing with Unconscious Racism ,  3 9  STAN . L .  REV. 3 1 7 ,  335 ( 1 987)) . 22 Perpetuated 

in our  society is the B lack-as-crim i nal  stereotype that l i nks B lack people with v io lence ,  

dangerousness , and  crim ina l ity . Cynth ia Lee , Making Race Sal ient :  Trayvon Mart in and 

I mpl icit B ias i n  a Not Yet Post-Racial Society, 9 1  N . C .  L .  REV. 1 555 ,  1 580-8 1 (20 1 3) ;  

see also Reyna Ara ib i ,  Note , "Every Rhyme I Write" :  Rap Music as Evidence in Crim inal  

Tria ls ,  62 ARIZ .  L .  REV. 805 ,  822 (2020) (d iscuss ing the acute effects of the B lack-as­

crim inal  stereotype , such that " [t]he mere presence of a B lack man . . .  can trigger 

thoughts that he is violent and crim i na l "  and " [m]erely th i nking about B lacks can lead 

people to eva luate ambiguous behavior  as agg ress ive") . 

It fo l lows that a court must also conduct its analys is with a close eye to the 

un ique danger of imp l icit bias. Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at 657 . To harbor imp l icit b iases is to 

be human . kl at 663 . '" [W]e a l l  l ive our l ives with stereotypes that are i ngra i ned and 

often unconscious ,  imp l icit b iases that endu re desp ite our best efforts to e l im inate 

them . "' kl (q uoti ng State v. Sai ntca l le ,  1 78 Wn .2d 34 , 46 , 309 P . 3d 326 (20 1 3) (p lu ra l ity 

op in ion) , abrogated on other grounds by C ity of Seattle v. Erickson ,  1 88 Wn .2d 72 1 , 

398 P . 3d 1 1 24 (20 1 7)) . Life s imp ly cannot be navigated without the ass istance of 

categories , schemas , and cogn itive shortcuts . Sai ntca l le ,  1 78 Wn .2d at 47 (citi ng 

22 Our state Supreme Court cites A. Leon H igg i nbotham J r. 's and E l izabeth L .  Earle's 
writ ings i n  Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 678-79 (cit ing H igg inbotham ,  supra , at 545-5 1 ; Earle , supra , 
at 1 222-23 ,  1 222 n . 67 ,  1 223 n . 7 1 ) .  
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Antony Page ,  Batson's B l i nd-Spot: Unconscious Stereotyping and the Peremptory 

Chal lenge , 85 B . U .  L .  REV. 1 55 ,  1 60-6 1 (2005)) . It is these shortcuts that lead people to 

unknowing ly d iscrim inate . .!sL. 

On race , we are not " 'on average or genera l ly ,  cogn itive ly co lorb l i nd . "' .!sL. at 46 

n . 3  (quoti ng TASK FORCE ON RACE & CRIM .  JUST. SYS . , PREL IM INARY REPORT ON RACE AND 

WASHINGTON'S CRIM INAL JUSTICE SYSTEM 1 ,  1 9  (20 1 1 ) ,  

http : //www. law. wash i ngton .edu/ About/Race T askF orce/pre l im inary _report _race_ crim ina l  

justice_ 030 1 1 1 . pdf [https ://perma . cc/6BV4-RBB8] . '" [P]eople are rare ly aware of  the 

actual reasons for the i r  d iscrim inat ion and wi l l  genu i nely bel ieve the race-neutral  reason 

they create to mask it . "' Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at 663-64 (quoti ng Sai ntca l le ,  1 78 Wn .2d at 

49) . This cou rt has the respons ib i l ity not on ly to acknowledge the un ique chal lenge 

presented by imp l icit b ias but to '" rise to meet it . "' .!sL. at 664 (quoti ng Sai ntca l le ,  1 78 

Wn .2d at 49) . 

With th is i ns ig ht i ntact , we are to cons ider fou r  factors identified by our  state 

Supreme Court to gu ide our  analys is :  ( 1 ) the content and subject of the questions and 

statements ,  (2) the frequency of the remarks , (3)  the apparent pu rpose of the remarks , 

and (4) whether the quest ions and statements were based on evidence or reasonable 

i nferences i n  the record . Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 793-94 . I d iffer from the majority i n  my 

conclus ions as to each of these factors . In apply ing the factors with i n  the enti re context 

of Bel lerouche's tria l ,  the prosecutor's repeated use of "beef" was an apparently 

i ntentional  effort to appeal to j u rors' potent ial racial b ias to fi l l  in a m iss ing motive with a 

racial ized image of a co ld-blooded violent crim ina l ,  a thug , the type of person who wou ld 

"s in aga in "  i n  the memory of h is rig ht-hand man by shooti ng Rob i nson i n  the face at 
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poi nt-b lank range for no reason and who conti n ued to shoot as Rob inson fled for h is l ife . 

To be clear, I do not suggest that us ing the term "beef" is a lways improper. Context 

matters . My examinat ion of the fou r  factors fo l lows . 

A. Content and Subject of Prosecutor's "Beef' Remarks 

F i rst, i n  considering the content and subject of the prosecutor's remarks , I 

observe that the exercise i n  semantics and etymology the majority re l ies on to d iscern 

the "general  mean ing"  of "beef" effectively d is regards the objective observer lens that a 

court must adopt to determine if a prosecutor's language is racially coded . See majority at 20-22 . 

The majority states a court shou ld assess a prosecutor's words " i n  the fi rst 

instance and when necessary" "by reference to the general  mean ing of the term found 

i n  a standard d ict ionary . "  kl at 22 . I n  do ing so ,  2 3  the majority d isti ngu ishes between the 

prosecutor's "beef" remarks and "other s im i lar  cases , "24 where in  prosecutors' language 

"clearly invoked racial b iases . "  kl at 20 .  None of the cases the majority re l ies on hold 

that we must l im it review of a prosecutor's rhetoric with i n  the bounds of standard 

d ict ionaries . See id . at 22 . I n  fact , the majority re l ies on cases that add ress issues of 

statutory i nterpretation ,  not prosecutoria l  m isconduct cla ims .  See majority at 20 .  25 

Notab ly ,  none of the majority's otherwise proffered race-based prosecutoria l  m isconduct 

23 WEBSTER'S TH IRD NEW I NTERNATIONAL D ICTIONARY 1 96 (2002) . The majority also notes 
a s im i lar  defi n it ion and "famous etymology" from the Oxford Eng l ish D ict ionary. See majority at 
2 1  n . 8  (cit ing OXFORD ENGL ISH D ICT IONARY, https ://www. oed . com/d ict ionary/beef_n2 ( last 
vis ited Feb. 2 1 , 2025)) . 

24 The majority cites to Bagby. 200 Wn .2d at 795-96 ; Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 678-79 ;  
State v. l barra-Erives,  23 Wn . App. 2d 596 , 606 , 5 1 6 P . 3d 1 246 (2022) ;  State v. McKenzie ,  2 1  
Wn . App. 2 d  722, 723, 508 P . 3d 205 (2022) ;  Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 703; and State v. 
Loughbom , 1 96 Wn .2d 64 , 67 ,  470 P . 3d 499 (2020) . 

25 See State v. Watson , 1 46 Wn .2d 947 ,  954 , 5 1  P . 3d 66 (2002) ;  State v. Gonzalez, 1 68 
Wn .2d 256, 263-64 , 226 P . 3d 1 3 1 (20 1 0) ;  State v. Hammock, 1 54 Wn . App. 630, 635, 226 P . 3d 
1 54 (20 1 0) ;  State v. Myles,  1 27 Wn .2d 807, 8 1 3 , 903 P .2d 979 ( 1 995) . 
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cases26 re l ied on d ictionary defi n it ions to estab l ish whether the prosecutor's chal lenged 

language was objectively racia l ly t inged . See Bagby. 200 Wn .2d at 793-96 ; Monday. 

1 7 1 Wn .2d at 676-78 ;  Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 7 1 2-2 1 ; State v .  l barra-Erives , 23 Wn . 

App .  2d 596 , 605-08 , 5 1 6 P . 3d 1 246 (2022) ; State v. McKenzie ,  2 1  Wn . App .  2d 722 , 

730-3 1 , 508 P . 3d 205 (2022) . 27 

The question is not whether a word or ph rase "unm istakab ly or excl us ively , "  or 

even l i kely, has a racial connotation , as the majority suggests . Majority at 23 .  Rather, 

th is cou rt must determ ine if an objective observer aware of our nation 's h istory of racial 

d iscrim inat ion and imp l icit ,  i nstitutiona l ,  and unconscious b iases cou ld 28 recogn ize i n  the 

context of Bel lerouche's tria l  that the prosecutor's use of "beef" constituted an a l lus ion 

to negative b iases or stereotypes about the Black commun ity .  See Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 

802 ; Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 7 1 8 .  Accord i ng ly ,  the state Supreme Cou rt has instructed 

courts not to presume that language capable of evoking racist stereotypes has no effect 

on them or the j u rors .  Henderson , 200 Wn .2d at 439 . 

Monday. 1 7 1 Wn .2d 667 , Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d 698 , and Bagby. 200 Wn .2d 777 , 

p rovide instructional  examples of app l ications of the objective observer framework to 

26 Notably, i n  Loughbom , 1 96 Wn .2d at 67 ,  the state Supreme Court addressed a 
general prosecutoria l  m isconduct al legation .  The majority's comparison of the instant matter 
with a decis ion that was not ana lyzed accord ing to a race-based framework is perhaps 
ind icative of the contextual considerations that are otherwise absent from the majority's opin ion .  
See majority at 20 .  

2 7  I n  McKenzie ,  21  Wn . App. 2d at 733-34 , th is court held that the prosecutor's use of 
"gori l la  p imp" constituted race-based prosecutorial m isconduct .  We referred to d ict ionary 
defi n it ions of "gori l la" and "gueri l la" i n  our  determ inat ion that the State's cla im that the court 
reporter m istaken ly transcribed the prosecutor's use of "gueri l la  p imp" as "gori l la  p imp" was , i n  
t he  context o f  the  re levant test imony,  unconvincing .  !fl at  731 , 731  n . 8 .  

28 This court has previously held that i n  assess ing the impact of the i nject ion of racial 
appeals i nto a tria l ,  "cou ld" does not mean always . S imbu lan v. Nw. Hosp. & Med . Ctr. , 32 Wn . 
App. 2d 1 64 ,  1 77 ,  1 83 ,  555 P . 3d 455 (2024) . We more recently clarified that "cou ld" means a 
" reasonable poss ib i l ity . "  Al Hayek v. M i les ,  No .  39989-3- 1 1 1 ,  s l i p  op .  at 9 (Wash .  Ct. App. Jan .  30 ,  
2025) , https ://www. courts .wa .gov/op in ions/pdf/399893_pub . pdf. 

3 1  



84887-9- 1/32 

d iscern the content and subject of a prosecutor's remarks . 

I n  Monday, i n  a case where " [w] itness cred ib i l ity was part icu larly at issue , "  our  

state Supreme Court he ld  that, i n  an effort to  d iscount the cred ib i l ity of  Monday's 

witnesses , the prosecutor's reference to "po l ice" as " 'po- leese"' was a subtle and 

imperm iss ib le appeal to j u rors' racial b ias used to emphas ize the prosecutor's assert ion 

that '"b lack fo lk don 't testify aga inst b lack fo lk . "' 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 67 1 , 676 , 678-79 .  I n  

reference to the prosecutor's pronunciat ion of '"po-leese , "'29 the court emphas ized that 

" [n]ot a l l  appeals to racia l  p rejud ice are b latant . "  kl at 678 .  "L ike wolves i n  sheep's 

cloth ing , a carefu l word here and there can trigger racial b ias . "  kl (citi ng Earle , supra ,  at 

1 222-23 ,  1 222 n .67 , 1 223 n . 7 1 ) ;  see also Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 795 (stat ing that 

" [s]tud ies have shown that even the s imp lest racial cues can trigger imp l icit b iases and 

affect the way j u rors eva luate evidence") . Remarks referri ng to race may be b latant 

s l u rs ,  g ratu itous ,  and ostens ib ly nonprejud ic ial references , or  comments that serve a 

probative function . Earle , supra , at 1 233 .  

To th is end , the Zamora court he ld  that prosecutor's references to immigration , 

border secu rity ,  and crime i nvoked prej ud ices about Lat inxs '"without ever sayi ng 

Lat in [x] . "' 1 99 Wn .2d at 7 1 2- 1 3 (a lterat ion i n  orig ina l) .  The court observed that the 

remarks were not remote ly re lated to the charges aga inst Zamora .  kl at 7 1 9 .  

Add it iona l ly ,  the court stressed our  nation 's h istoric and  cont in ued d iscrim i nation aga inst 

29 The prosecutor's "po-leese" pronunciat ion i n  Monday, nowhere to be found i n  the 
d ict ionaries the majority cites , demonstrates how i l l-fitt ing the majority's general ized defi n it ional  
analys is is to a racial appeal i nqu i ry .  Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 679. Th is nation 's evolvi ng cu ltu re 
of racial prejud ice and racia l  cod ing is not poss ib ly captured i n  the pages of a d ict ionary .  See 
Praatika Prasad , Note , I mpl icit Racial  B iases in Prosecutoria l  Summat ions :  Proposing an 
I ntegrated Response, 86 FORDHAM L .  REV. 309 1 , 3097-99 ,  3 1 04 (20 1 8) .  See genera l ly Deird re 
Pfe iffer & Xiaoq ian Hu ,  Deconstructi ng Racial  Code Words ,  58 L. & Soc'v REV. 294 (2024) . 
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Lati nxs , i nc lud ing in national  med ia rhetoric . .!sl at 7 1 9-20 .  The court held that the 

prosecutor's remarks were apparently i ntended to appeal to stereotypes about i l legal 

Lat inx immigrants engaged i n  crime ,  th us reflect ing poorly on Zamora based on h is 

perce ived ethn icity . .!sl at 7 1 9 .  

Most recently, i n  Bagby. 200  Wn .2d at 800-0 1 , the lead op in ion rebuked , i n  

add it ion to  other instances of prosecutoria l  m isconduct ,  see id . a t  795-98 ,  a prosecutor's 

question ing of Bagby regard i ng h is dog .  30 The court observed , cit i ng academic and 

socia l  commentary sou rces , that the prosecutor's question ing cou ld have evoked the 

harmfu l stereotype of B lack men as be ing too dangerous and v io lent to properly care for 

dogs ,  thus potentia l ly underm in ing Bagby's cred ib i l ity and presumption of i n nocence .  

See id . at 800 (lead op in ion of Montoya-Lewis , J . )  (citing Kevin Blackistone, Opin ion , 

Black Men and Dogs: Don't Believe Vick, NPR (Sept. 25, 2007) , 

https ://www. npr.org/templates/story/story .php?storyld= 1 4698643; Ann Linder, The Black 

Man's Dog: The Social Context of Breed Specific Legislation , 25 AN IMAL L. 5 1 , 57-68 (20 1 8)) .  

The majority m ischaracterizes J ust ice Stephens'  concu rrence i n  Bagby, jo i ned by 

fou r  just ices , when it states that the five just ices "appeared to caution aga inst 

determ in ing a word 's  mean ing th rough pop cu ltu re references . "  Majority at 22 . The 

majority correctly states the five just ices d isag reed with the lead op in ion 's hold ing that 

the prosecutor's references to Bagby's dog constituted race-based prosecutor ial 

m iscond uct .  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 804 (Stephens ,  J . ,  concu rring) . The d ifferences, 

however, were not based on the natu re of the potent ia l racial appea l ,  3 1  but whether the 

30 See supra note 3. 
3 1  Just ice Stephens stated , "Wh i le I can understand how a l ine of question ing about 

dogs,  breeds of dogs ,  or an ima l  abuse m ight play on racial stereotypes , the conclus ion that an 
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record supported that such an apparently i ntentional  appeal was made in the context of 

Bagby's tria l .  .!sl at 804-05 ,  808 . Just ice Stephens observed the lead op in ion om itted the 

fact that Bagby, not the prosecutor, fi rst ment ioned h is dog when testify ing to h is 

friendsh ip  with the vict im . .!sl at 805-06 . The five just ices thus concluded the 

prosecutor's apparent pu rpose was to estab l ish the victim 's cred ib i l ity by showing 

Bagby trusted her to watch h is beloved dog . .!sl at 805 , 808 .  The five just ices ca l led 

attent ion to the need for a reviewing court to " look at the record as a whole and the 

context in which an objective observer wou ld view the statements" when exam in i ng an 

al legation of a prosecutor's race-based m iscond uct. .!sl at 807 ; see also id . at 805 n . 1 2  

("As an appel late court , we consider the enti re context of the statement . ") .  

Un l i ke the prosecutor i n  Bagby, the prosecutor i n  the instant case introd uced the 

term "beef" at tria l  and was the on ly person at tria l  to use it .  The prosecutor's particu lar 

and repeated use of "beef" was consistent , each t ime j uxtapos ing "beef" with the 

alternative term of "argument" or  "fig hting . "  

At open ing  the prosecutor used "beef" to lay out the State's theory of the case , 

stat ing that Bel lerouche vicious ly shot Rob inson "po int b lank" i n  the face and that 

Rob inson was unarmed and unsuspect ing because " [t]here had been no argument" and 

" [t]here was no beef. " The prosecutor proceeded to ask Rob i nson about any prior "beef" 

or "fig hti ng" with Egger and "any beef or any argument with Crucia l . "  Rob i nson den ied 

both . The prosecutor later asked Bel lerouche on cross whether he had any "arguments" 

or "beef" with Robi nson , Egger, or Nguyen ,  which Bel lerouche den ied . 

At clos ing the prosecutor aga in  used the term "beef" d u ring a recitat ion of 

objective observer cou ld fi nd that occurred in th is case is . . .  unwarranted . "  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 
808 (Stephens,  J . ,  concurri ng ,  with four  j ustices jo in ing)  (emphasis added) . 
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Rob inson's test imony, p roffering that Rob inson was correct that "there were no 

arguments ,  no beefs between anybody at that parki ng lot that M r. Bel lerouche knew 

about . "  The prosecutor conti nued by assert ing that the otherwise unexpected shooti ng 

was exp la inable because Bel lerouche had "d isda in "  for Rob i nson and "Rob i nson meant 

noth ing to [Bel lerouche] . "  

I n  the context of an al legat ion aga inst a B lack defendant for comm itt ing gun  

vio lence aga inst another B lack man ,  the State's theory imp l ied the j u ry cou ld d isregard 

the absence of an obvious motive because Bel lerouche was s imp ly a "cold-b looded" 

violent crim ina l .  Consistent with th is theory was the prosecutor's unsupported cla im that 

Rob inson was shot at "po int b lank" range .  S im i lar  to "beef, " p rosecutor used the word 

"po int b lank" mu lt ip le t imes th roughout the cou rse of Bel lerouche's tria l ,  i nc lud ing at 

open ing , clos ing , and rebutta l .  However, other than the evidence of the shooti ng of 

Rob inson occu rri ng i n  Nguyen 's Aud i and that he was shot i n  the face , the record is 

devo id of evidence that Rob inson was shot at "po int b lank" range .  32 

I t  was i n  th is context that the prosecutor repeated ly used "beef" i n  comb inat ion 

with "argument" or  "fig hting . "  The j uxtaposit ion subtly suggests that "beef" means 

someth ing more ,  someth ing d ifferent than j ust an argument ,  fig ht ,  or  some other generic 

d isag reement. Un l i ke "fig hti ng" or  "argument , "  "beef" is common ly associated with B lack 

h i p  hop and rap cu ltu re to refer to feuds between rappers ,  i nc lud ing riva l ries that resu lt 

i n  gun  vio lence with trag ic end i ngs .  See Craig Epste in , Note , Where's the Beef: The 

Use of Med iation to Resolve Disputes Between Rappers , 2 1  CARDOZO J .  CONFL ICT 

32 The State d id not i ntroduce any expert who cou ld testify to the type of project i le that 
caused Robinson's i nj u ry ,  the trajectory or ang les re lated to h is i nj u ry ,  or whether Robinson was 
shot at po int-b lank range.  
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RESOL .  495 ,  495-506 (2020) ; Dor ian Lynskey , Tupac and B igg ie Die as a Resu lt of 

East/West Coast Beef, THE GUARD IAN (J une 1 2 , 20 1 1 ,  7 : 1 6  PM) ,  

https ://www.theguard ian . com/music/20 1 1 /j u n/1 3/tupac-bigg ie-deaths .  Common med ia 

coverage of crim inal  matters i nvolvi ng rap artists and "d isputes , or  ' beefs , '  between 

prom inent rap artists and the i r  entou rages" has contributed to the mainstream pub l ic's 

associat ion of rap cu ltu re with "vio lent ,  deviant ,  and crim inal  behaviors . "  And rea L. 

Denn is ,  Poetic ( l n)J ustice? Rap Music Lyrics as Art, L ife, and Crim inal  Evidence ,  3 1  

COLUMB IA J .  L .  & ARTS 1 ,  1 8  & n . 1 1 1  (2007) . Orig inat ing "as a n  express ion of un iq uely 

B lack identity , '' "the unconscious understand ing of rap mus ic remains underp in ned by 

notions of race and racia l  stereotypes about who crim inals are ,  what they look l i ke ,  and 

where they come from . "  Ara ib i ,  supra ,  at 8 1 0 .  

I n  pair ing "beef" with san itized terms for a d isag reement or  d ispute , the 

prosecutor's particu lar and unnecessary use of "beef" cou ld have primed j u rors to pay 

more attent ion , even subconsciously ,  to Bel lerouche's race and activated j u rors' imp l icit 

b iases to cause them to associate Bel lerouche with stereotypes that posit ion B lack 

crim inal  defendants in worlds and l ifestyles marked by crime and vio lence .  See Bagby, 

200 Wn .2d at 795-96 ; see also l barra-Erives , 23 Wn . App .  2d at 607-08 (hold ing that 

prosecutor's unnecessary use of street d rug-dea l ing term "Mexican ounce" improperly 

suggested defendant was more l i ke ly to have un lawfu l ly possessed or packaged d rugs 

because of h is apparent Lat inx ethn icity) . 

I n  Bagby. 33 the just ices ag reed as to the understand ing an appel late court must 

33 Notably, the tria l  court in the instant case d id not have the benefit of our  state 
Supreme Court's Bagby decis ion , which was decided in 2023 after Bel lerouche's tria l .  

Further, it is worth emphasizi ng the un ique ab i l ity and respons ib i l ity an appel late court 
has i n  analyzing a tria l  record when consider ing a prosecutorial m isconduct c la im .  See Bagby, 
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have with regard to how imp l icit racial b ias can be activated by coded rhetoric. See 200 

Wn .2d at 794-95 .  The Bagby court observed that "even the s imp lest racial cues can 

trigger imp l icit b iases and affect the way j u rors eva luate evidence . "  .!sl at 795 . I ndeed , 

subtle cues or references to racial identity and stereotypes can affect j u ror decis ion­

making more than even exp l icit appeals . 34 .!sl; Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 678-79 .  "B iases 

are often activated th rough the use of coded language or racial code words such as 

ph rases or symbols that ' p lay upon race . . .  [and] wh ite Americans'  negative views of 

[B] lack Americans-without exp l icitly ra is ing the race card . "' Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 794 

(a lterat ions i n  orig i nal) (q uoti ng and re doug las pond cummings ,  Racial Cod i ng and the 

F i nancia l  Market Cris is ,  1 UTAH L .  REV. 1 4 1 , 2 1 7 (20 1 1 )) .  Coded language that evokes 

racial stereotypes can ass ist prosecutors in i nd i rectly hu rt ing a witness's cred ib i l ity by 

identify ing the witness as the "other . " M ikah K. Thompson ,  B ias on Tria l :  Toward an 

Open D iscuss ion of Racial Stereotypes in the Courtroom , 20 1 8  M ICH .  ST. L .  REV. 1 243 ,  

1 263 (20 1 8) ;  see Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at  794-95 (d iscuss ing how racia l ly coded language 

can d istance defendants from j u rors (citi ng Thompson ,  supra ,  at 1 257)) . 

I n  the context of the i nstant case , the prosecutor's use of "beef" cou ld have 

d istanced Bel lerouche from the j u ry by p laying on "the perce ived negative qua l it ies and 

200 Wn .2d at  791 -93 ; Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at  7 1 7 .  The tria l  court necessari ly responds to 
object ions and issues as they arise in the course of tria l .  The context of the tria l  is thus unfo ld ing 
as the tria l  comes to l ife . On review, an appel late court has the retrospective ab i l ity to consider 
the enti re story of the tria l  cover to cover to determ ine whether a defendant's rig ht to a fa i r  tria l  
has been comprom ised by m isconduct .  See Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 704 .  We must not take th is 
duty l ig htly. Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at 664 . 

34 Th is risk equal ly appl ies to j udges. See Andrew S .  Po l l is ,  The Appel late Judge as the 
Th irteenth Ju ror: Combati ng I mpl icit Bias i n  Crim ina l  Convict ions ,  95 TEMP .  L .  REV. 1 ,  1 3  (2022) . 
See genera l ly Jeffrey J .  Rach l i nski et al . ,  Does Unconscious Racial  Bias Affect Tria l  Judges?,  
84 NOTRE DAME L .  REV. 1 1 95 (2009) . 
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dangerousness of B lack . . .  commun ities , "35 so as to evoke "a conception of ' us' versus 

'them . "' Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 794 .  Such "otheri ng" 36 can i nterfere with j u rors' ab i l ity to 

properly cons ider evidence by suggesti ng that B lack defendants are " i nherently 

d ifferent , "  "deserve less sympathy, "37 and are '"genera l ly out l iers in the mora l ,  civi l ized , 

and law-abid ing society to which the j u rors themselves belong . "' Thompson ,  supra ,  at 

1 257 (quoti ng Montre D .  Carod ine ,  "The M is-Characterizat ion of the Negro" :  A Race 

Critique of the Prior Conviction I mpeachment Ru le ,  84 IND .  L .J .  52 1 ,  570 (2009)) . 

The majority reasons that because the prosecutor asked both Rob inson and 

Bel lerouche whether any "beef" existed before the shooti ng , the prosecutor's use of 

"beef" cou ld not objective ly create the appearance of an "us-versus-them" narrative . 

Majority at 24 . The majority also states that because Rob inson and the tria l  j udge were 

also B lack, it is " i ncoherent" to conclude that the prosecutor used the term "beef" "to 

'suggest B lack defendants are i nherently d ifferent from wh ite j u rors and deserve less 

sympathy, "' because " [t]o do so wou ld have deprived the vict im and the presid ing j udge 

of the i r  h uman ity as wel l . "  lll (q uoti ng Bagby. 200 Wn .2d at 794) . 

The majority's rat ionale centers on a comparison of Bel lerouche's tria l  to the civi l 

tria l  at issue i n  Henderson ,  200 Wn .2d at 435 ,  where in  the Wash ington Supreme Court 

35 Prasad , supra , at 3 1 07-09 .  
3 6  "Otheri ng" is defi ned i n  an art icle cited by the Bagby court ,  200 Wn .2d at 795,  as " 'a  

process by wh ich ind iv iduals and society view and label people who are d ifferent i n  a way that 
devalues them . "' Thompson ,  supra , at 1 263 (quoti ng Susan J .  Stab i le ,  Otheri ng and the Law, 1 2  
U .  ST. THOMAS L .  J .  38 1 , 382 (20 1 6) ) .  "When ind iv iduals engage i n  'otheri ng , '  they 'determ ine 
that certa i n  people are not  us ,  and that determ inat ion funct ions to create . . .  a devalued and 
dehuman ized Other, and a d istancing of the other from ourse lves . "' Thompson ,  supra , at 1 263 
(a lterat ion i n  orig i nal )  (quot ing Stab i le ,  supra , at 382-83) . 

37 Bagby, 200 Wn.2d at 794 (citing Prasad , supra, at 31 08; Thompson, supra, at 1 257) . 
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app l ied a s im i lar  objective observer standard 38 to determ ine whether a civi l l it igant 

establ ished a pr ima facie case showing that race cou ld have been a factor i n  a civi l 

verd ict .  See majority at 23-24 . The court held that Henderson establ ished Thompson's 

defense counsel imperm iss ib ly re l ied on racial stereotypes and determ ined that ,  in 

consider ing the tota l ity of the c i rcumstances of the tria l ,  an objective observer cou ld 

conclude that racism affected the verd ict .  Henderson , 200 Wn .2d at 439 .  As the majority 

cites , see majority at 23 ,  the Henderson court observed that " [t] he on ly B lack people i n  

t he  courtroom" were Henderson herself, her lawyer, and her lay witnesses. 200 Wn .2d at 

423 .  

The majority's comparison is i napt. At issue i n  Henderson was whether 

Henderson presented a pr ima facie case to requ i re the tria l  cou rt to g rant Henderson an 

evident iary heari ng on her motion for a new tria l .  kl at 439-40 ;  see GR 37 .  The 

Henderson court exp lai ned that at such a hearing , "the tria l  cou rt is to presume that 

racial b ias affected the verd ict ,  and the party benefit ing from the al leged racial b ias has 

the bu rden to prove it d id not . "  kl at 435 . No such burden-sh ift ing between the State 

and a crim inal  defendant occu rs in the context of a race-based prosecutoria l  m iscond uct 

a l legation . Rather, the appel late court shou ld be concerned as to whether an objective 

observer cou ld conclude that a prosecutor's appeals to racial b ias cou ld have 

underm ined the cred ib i l ity or presumption of i nnocence of the crim inal  defendant so as 

to categorica l ly deprive the defendant of the i r  fa i r  tria l  rig ht to an impart ia l j u ry .  Bagby, 

200 Wn .2d at 787-89 .  

3 8  The  Henderson court held , " [U ]pon a mot ion for a new civ i l  tria l ,  courts must ascerta i n  
whether an objective observer who is aware that impl icit, institut ional, and  unconscious biases, 
in addit ion to purposefu l d iscrim ination ,  have i nfl uenced ju ry verd icts i n  Wash ington State cou ld 
view race as a factor i n  the verd ict . "  200 Wn .2d at 435 (cit ing Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at 665) . 
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In the instant case , a lthough the prosecutor may have also d rawn j u rors' 

attent ion to Rob inson's race by using the term "beef, " th is does not negate the 

reasonable poss ib i l ity that the prosecutor's racia l ly coded language cou ld have also 

impacted j u rors' decis ion-making processes as to Bel lerouche's gu i lt by "otheri ng" h im 

to  a stereotypica l ly B lack world of  v io lence and  crim ina l ity . See id . a t  793 ;  A l  Hayek v .  

M i les , No .  39989-3- 1 1 1 ,  s l i p  op .  at 8-9 (Wash .  Ct. App .  Jan . 30 ,  2025) , 

https ://www.courts .wa .gov/op in ions/pdf/399893_pub . pdf. The "otheri ng" that occu rs is 

not necessari ly between the accused and the victim ,  but between the accused and the 

j u ry .  See Bagby. 200 Wn .2d at 794-95 .  

I a lso d isag ree with the majority's statement that Bel lerouche cou ld not have 

been feas ib ly "othered" from the j u ry because he was not the on ly B lack person i n  the 

courtroom . See majority at 24 . Th is cla im fata l ly ignores the real ity of i ng ra i ned 

prejud ices aga inst B lack crim inal  defendants that has contributed to our nation 's mass 

incarcerat ion of people of co lor . 39 See Araib i ,  supra , at 822 , 838; Paige M. Walker, 

Comment, Restricting the Use of Rap Lyrics as Evidence in  Courts : A Targeted Approach to 

Tackl ing Discrimination in  Criminal Procedure ,  28 LEWIS & CLARK L. REV. 43 1 , 446 (2024) . 

Add it iona l ly ,  the tone of the majority's reason ing  suggests that it wou ld have 

been nonsens ical for the prosecutor to appeal to j u rors' potent ial racial b ias when such 

conduct wou ld dehuman ize the vict im and tria l  j udge as wel l .  See majority at 24 . Th is is 

untenable .  F i rst, the prosecutor's subjective i ntent is not cons idered i n  a race-based 

39 I note the majority's i nd i rect imp l icat ion that otherwise i njected racial appeals are 
perm issib le as long as they are spread out beyond the defendant is profound ly troub l ing . We 
must not veer toward al lowing racism i n  moderation .  '" [T]heories and arguments based upon 
racia l ,  ethn ic  and most other stereotypes are antithetical to and imperm issib le i n  a fa i r  and 
impart ia l  tria l . "' Monday. 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 678 (quot ing State v. Dha l iwal ,  1 50 Wn .2d 559, 583, 79 
P . 3d 432 (2003) (Chambers ,  J . ,  concurring) ) .  
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prosecutor ial m isconduct analys is . 40 See Bagby. 200 Wn .2d at 792-93 .  Second , the 

objective observer is aware that the victim ,  Rob i nson , adm itted to bring ing  a gun  to the 

bus i ness p laza parki ng lot, us ing coca ine ,  be ing h ig h ,  i n it ia l ly sayi ng that he d id not get 

a good look at who shot h im ,  and lyi ng about how he was shot .  The objective observer 

is also aware that the on ly evidence that Bel lerouche was the shooter was Rob i nson's 

test imony. Therefore ,  before the j u ry was a cred ib i l ity battle between Bel lerouche,  a 

B lack defendant ,  and h is a l leged victim .  It is i n  th is context that the objective observer 

cou ld conclude that the prosecutor apparently i ntentiona l ly appealed to j u rors' potent ia l 

racial b ias to underm ine Bel lerouche's cred ib i l ity to t ip the j u ry's favor toward Rob i nson 

or to weaken Bel lerouche's presumption of i nnocence that he was due as the 

defendant .  Lastly, whether conduct appeals to j u rors' racial b ias is not determ ined by 

the racial make-up of the courtroom . Imp l icit b ias transcends race . 41  See id . at 791 -92 ; 

40 Add it ional ly ,  the majority seems to suggest that a lack of object ion to the prosecutor's 
"beef' remarks cuts aga inst Bel lerouche's race-based m isconduct cla im .  See majority at 24. 
Th is content ion fl ies in the face of the ru le that " i naction by defense counsel cannot excuse a 
prosecutor's m isconduct . "  Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 7 1 7 .  "Un l i ke the ru les for general prosecutoria l  
m isconduct ,  the ru le for race-based prosecutoria l  m isconduct does not d ifferent iate between a 
defendant who objects and one who does not object . "  !fl I ndeed , the case that the majority cites 
addressed a general (non-race-based) prosecutoria l  m isconduct cla im .  See majority at 24 
(cit ing State v. Swan ,  1 1 4 Wn .2d 6 1 3 , 66 1 , 790 P .2d 6 1 0 ( 1 990) ) .  The State concedes that an 
object ion is not requ i red to preserve a race-based prosecutoria l  m isconduct cla im for appea l .  
Wash .  Ct .  of  Appeals oral argument ,  State v. Bel lerouche,  No .  84887-9- 1 (Sept. 1 3 , 2024) , a t  1 0  
m in . ,  26 sec. to 1 0  m in . ,  32 sec. , video record i ng by TVW, Wash ington State's Pub l ic  Affai rs 
Network, https : //www.tvw.org/watch/?cl ient 1 D=9375922947&event 1 D=202409 1 2 1 1 .  

41  The State argues i n  its briefi ng that the prosecutor's use of "beef' necessari ly cannot 
appeal to racial b ias because " it is common" and " i n  fact , it is the t it le of a popular Netfl ix series 
that beg ins with a ' road rage' i ncident between two random people ,  neither of whom is Black . "  
F i rst, the mu lt icu ltu ral adopt ion of a term does not negate the fact that it cou ld appeal to a j u ror's 
specific impl icit racial b ias .  See Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at 658 (" [A] l lowing bias or prejud ice by even 
one ju ror to be a factor i n  the verd ict v io lates a defendant's constitut ional  rig hts and underm ines 
the publ ic 's fa ith i n  the fai rness of our jud ic ia l  system . " ) .  Second ,  as Bel lerouche poi nts out in 
his reply brief, the State's cultural example i l l ustrates the associat ion between "beef' and 
v io lence .  I ndeed , the show, as noted by Bel lerouche, features escalat ing v io lence ,  inc lud ing gun  
v io lence .  See Alex Abad-Santos , Beef is t he  Best Show Netfl ix Has  Had  i n  Recent Memory,  
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see also L indsay Perez Huber et a l . , Naming Racism : A Conceptual Look at I nternal ized 

Racism in U .S .  Schools, 26 CHICANAIO-LATINAIO L. REV. 1 83 ,  1 83-84 , 1 86 (2006) (d iscussing 

the concept of internal ized racism) .  

B. Frequency 

I n  consider ing whether a prosecutor apparently i ntentiona l ly appealed to j u rors' 

racial bias, a reviewing court shou ld consider whether the prosecutor's remarks or 

questions were isolated incidents . See Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 796 ; Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d 

at 7 1 9 ;  Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 678 . In its analys is of the frequency factor, the majority 

states the prosecutor's use of "beef" d id not p lay any s ign ificant ro le i n  the State's 

theory.  Majority at 25-26 . Aga i n ,  I d isag ree and bel ieve the majority's conclus ion is 

erroneous for lack of contextual considerations .  See id . -- -

Here ,  the prosecutor used "beef" five t imes42 throughout Bel lerouche's tria l  i n  an 

objectively strateg ic manner. See Loughbom , 1 96 Wn .2d at 76 .  By i ntrod ucing "beef" 

early i n  open ing and referri ng back to it i n  clos ing , the prosecutor presented a racia l ly 

d riven prism th rough which the j u ry shou ld view the evidence .  See id . ;  State v. Ramos , 

1 64 Wn . App .  327,  340-4 1 , 263 P . 3d 1 268 (20 1 1 ) . L ikewise , the prosecutor punctuated 

the tria l  at key points by re i nforc ing the racia l ly t ied term when exam in i ng both 

Bel lerouche and Rob inson .  Th is is not a case where the prosecutor inadvertently 

uttered the word "beef" or  where the remarks were one-off or isolated occu rrences . See 

VOX (Apr. 1 2 , 2023, 7 : 00 AM) , https ://www.vox. com/cu ltu re/2023/4/1 2/23680055/netfl ix-beef­
review-end ing-expla ined-season-2-emmy-award-winn i ng . 

42 As the majority observes , the prosecutor used the term "beef' a s ixth t ime ,  but to ask 
Robinson if the Ch inese restaurant at the busi ness plaza had "Mongol ian beef . "  Ne ither party 
cites th is use of "beef' in its argument ,  and the prosecutor's quest ion had no apparent 
connection to the substantive question ing regard ing the shooti ng . The prosecutor qu ickly 
changed topics after Robinson's response, "They do [have Mongol ian beef] . "  
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Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 793 ; Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 7 1 9 .  

C. Apparent Purpose 

The majority correctly characterizes the th i rd factor as requ i ring a reviewing court 

to cons ider how an objective observer "cou ld understand the pu rpose of the" 

prosecutor's "beef" remarks . Majority at 26 ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (citi ng 

Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 796) ; see also Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 7 1 9-2 1 (app lyi ng the 

objective standard ) .  The majority ,  however, d ism isses Bel lerouche's identificat ion of 

problematic evident iary arguments as not connected to the prosecutor's use of "beef" 

and , i n  do ing so ,  crit ica l ly fa i ls to cons ider the larger tria l  narrative i n  which the remarks 

were made .  See majority at 22 n . 9 .  The majority fa i ls to apply the test as d i rected by our  

state Supreme Court that requ i res th is cou rt to assess an al legation of race-based 

prosecutor ial m isconduct with i n  the enti re context of the tria l .  Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 

7 1 8 ;  Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 807 (Stephens ,  J . ,  concu rring , with fou r  just ices jo in i ng ) .  Th is 

" i nc lude[s] the evidence presented , ' the context of the tota l argument, the issues in  the 

case , the evidence add ressed in  the argument, and the instruct ions g iven to the j u ry . "' 

Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 675 ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng State v .  

McKenzie ,  1 57 Wn .2d 44 , 52 , 1 34 P . 3d 22 1 (2006)) . 

Here ,  the record shows that the apparent pu rpose of the prosecutor's use of 

"beef" was not s imp ly to estab l ish the c i rcumstances of the crime as the majority ho lds .  

See majority at 26. Rather ,  the objective observer cou ld conclude that the "beef" 

remarks were among the breadcrumbs d ropped by the prosecutor to lead j u rors down a 

path to fi l l  an obvious gap i n  the State's evidence-why wou ld Bel lerouche shoot 

Rob inson? That path i nvo lved apparently i ntentiona l ly appea l ing to j u rors' racial b ias to 
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fi l l  in a m iss ing motive with an image of a co ld-blooded violent crim ina l ,  a thug , the type 

of person who wou ld "s i n  aga in "  in the memory of h is rig ht-hand man by shoot ing 

Rob inson i n  the face at poi nt-b lank range for no reason and who conti n ued to shoot as 

Rob inson fled for h is l ife . 

At open ing  the prosecutor teed up  the memorial video from Egger's ce l l  phone 

that the State later i ntrod uced , p layed for the j u ry ,  and adm itted i nto evidence .  The 

prosecutor to ld the j u ry they wou ld "see somebody who looks an awfu l lot l i ke Bernard 

Bel lerouche carry ing an object that looks an awfu l lot l i ke a fi rearm . "  (Emphasis added . )  

Defense to ld the j u ry that Bel lerouche was sad about the loss of h is best friend , 

Wh itney, or  "T . C . , "  who had d ied the year before .  On d i rect Bel lerouche expressed that 

he was not i n it ia l ly p lann i ng to go to Wh itney's memoria l  "because it was a sad s ituation 

for me to re l ive . "  The prosecutor later c i rcled back to Bel lerouche's emotional  state and 

e l icited from Bel lerouche that he was fee l ing sad on the b i rthday of h is friend and " rig ht­

hand man" Wh itney. When Bel lerouche described Wh itney as h is "best friend , "  the 

prosecutor was apparently not satisfied and fol lowed up  by sayi ng , "And you r  rig ht-hand 

man was the ph rase I was us ing . "  The prosecutor then poi nted out that Bel lerouche's 

tattoo of "TC" was located on h is rig ht hand and that Bel lerouche referred to Wh itney as 

h is " rig ht-hand man" i n  text messages . Earl ier  at tria l ,  the prosecutor adm itted without 

object ion a photo of Bel lerouche's hand with the "TC" tattoo .  See Ex. 68 .2 .  

The prosecutor, over defense object ion , p layed for the j u ry the  aud io  of the 

memoria l  video that i nc luded Li l Wayne's ent ire rap song I Miss My Dawgs. See Ex. 65 ,  

at  1 m in . ,  1 2  sec. to 5 m in . ,  30 sec. The reason the prosecutor gave for p layi ng the song 

aud io evolved . The State fi rst argued that the aud io was needed to captu re the sounds 
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of "somebody ask[ ing]  ' [A] re you off to Au rora?"' and l iq u id being pou red out of what the 

prosecutor bel ieved was the Remy Mart in cognac bottle later found at the scene of the 

shooting . After the tria l  cou rt poi nted out that both those sounds occu r outs ide the 

song's p layi ng t ime,  the prosecutor argued that the fu l l  aud io was needed because it 

captu red the sound of a car door clos ing after the B lack man in the b lue sh i rt walks i n  

front of the BMW toward the d river's s i de  and  ou t  of view. Th i s  is the same man al leged 

by the State to be Bel lerouche who "appeared" to be hold ing a fi rearm earl ier  in the 

video . See Ex. 65, at O m in . ,  52 sec. to O m in . ,  54 sec. ; 1 m in . ,  58 sec. to 1 m in . ,  59 sec. 

But the aud io does not captu re the sound of a car door clos ing near the t ime the B lack 

man in the b lue sh i rt walks across the screen at 2 m i nutes and 1 5  seconds as argued 

by the prosecutor. Du ring the song , at 4 m i nutes and 57 seconds ,  the video shows the 

B lack man i n  the blue sh i rt walk ing a d istance away from the veh icle . Ex. 65. When the 

B lack man in the blue sh i rt is shown aga in  walk ing across the screen ,  it is more than 4 

m i nutes after the song ends .  Ex. 65 ,  at 8 m in . ,  43 sec. 

Although Bel lerouche does not chal lenge the adm iss ion of the song aud io on 

appea l , 43 i ts p layi ng at tria l  is nonethe less part of the context with i n  which this cou rt 

43 With regard to defense's pretria l  mot ion argument that the song art ist L i l  Wayne 
publ ic ly boasts about h is  own gang i nvolvement ,  the tria l  court seemed to suggest that because 
"a number of the j u rors are not affi l iated with gangs , "  those j u rors who recogn ize L i l  Wayne as 
the art ist may not necessari ly "associate anyone that l istens to that mus ic with gangs . "  

Although not a t  issue on appeal ,  t he  court's comment brings to  l i ght an important 
d isti nct ion in assess ing the risk of potentia l  bias in  a tria l .  The quest ion is not whether a piece of 
evidence or remark should categorica l ly activate or always appeals to a j u ror's potent ial 
prejud ice, but whether it is reasonably poss ib le that it cou ld pose a prejud ic ia l  risk to a j u ror's 
percept ion of the defendant .  See Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at 665-66 ; Al Hayek, s l ip op .  at 9 .  A 
determ inat ion of potential prejud ice is not a va lue-based j udgment or a m ind-read ing test. See 
S imbu lan ,  32 Wn . App .  2d at  1 77 .  Th is  is antithetical to  the nature of  impl icit b ias ,  which i s  
un i ntended and operates i n  our  subconscious regard less of  any active suppress ion that i s  
conformed to  any postracia l  socia l ly acceptable concepts . Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at  663-64 ; Page ,  
supra , at 1 60-6 1 ; Lee , supra , at 1 559 .  I n  an effort to fu l ly recogn ize reasonably poss ib le 
i nject ions of prejud ice i nto a tria l ,  courts must operate from a standpo int of understand ing the 

45 



84887-9- 1/46 

shou ld examine the prosecutor's strateg ic use of the term "beef. " The majority re legates 

the State's enti re memorial video exh ib it to a footnote , stat ing that an appel late court 

does not genera l ly " 'app ly the concept [of prosecutoria l  m iscond uct] to the i ntrod uct ion 

of evidence . "' Majority at 29 n . 1 2  (a lterat ion i n  orig i nal) (quoti ng State v .  Ke l ly .  32 Wn . 

App .  2d 24 1 , 260 , 555 P . 3d 9 1 8 (2024)) . Th is is m is lead ing . Although th is cou rt has 

stated that such chal lenges are more appropriate ly add ressed in an evident iary error 

legal framework, Ke l ly ,  32 Wn . App .  2d at 260,  we ana lyze a race-based prosecutor ial 

m iscond uct cla im with i n  the fu l l  context of the tria l  based on a deta i led examinat ion of 

the enti re record . 44 Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 704 ,  7 1 5- 1 6 ,  7 1 8 ;  Monday. 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 

675 ; Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 807 (Stephens ,  J . ,  concu rring , with fou r  just ices jo in i ng ) .  

I ndeed , an appel late court's respons ib i l ity is to  assume the benefit of  20/20 h i nds ight to 

determ ine whether, g iven the fu l l  view of the State's tria l  p resentat ion , the prosecutor's 

conduct cou ld be objective ly viewed as a racial cue to the j u ry .  45 Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 

79 1 -93 ; Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 7 1 5- 1 7 .  

Here ,  as  a resu lt of the enti re rap song being p layed at tria l ,  the j u ry heard the 

lyr ic "Me and you to the very end , for on ly you I ' l l  s in aga in "  loud ly six t imes . Ex. 65, at 2 

m in . ,  37 sec. to 2 m in . ,  4 1  sec; 2 m in . ,  49 sec. to 2 m in . ,  53 sec. ; 3 m in . ,  5 1  sec. to 3 

imperfect real ity of the world we a l l  l ive i n  and that, despite efforts to d ispel them , we as humans 
are a l l  suscept ib le to the dangerous associat ions and stereotypes that pers ist i n  our  shared 
society . See Berhe ,  1 93 Wn .2d at 664-65 .  

4 4  The State conceded to th is  test at  oral argument .  Wash .  Ct . of  Appeals oral arg . ,  
supra , at 1 7  m in . ,  35 sec. to 1 8  m i n . , 1 3  sec. 

45 The majority also states that Bel lerouche did not exp la in  how the State's act ions were 
not i n  good fa ith to establ ish the apparent racia l ized purpose of the prosecutor's "beef' remarks . 
Majority at 22 n . 9 .  But subjective i ntent is i rre levant to th is court's analys is of a race-based 
prosecution al legation .  Zamora ,  1 99 Wn .2d at 7 1 6 ; see, �. l barra-Erives,  23 Wn . App. 2d at 
600-0 1 , 607-08 (reject ing the State's argument that the prosecutor used the street d rug-deal ing 
term "Mexican ounce" i n  good fa ith) . Our  state Supreme Court has elaborated on the many 
reasons why .  See Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at  791 -92 . 
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m in . ,  54 sec. ; 4 m in . ,  04 sec. to 4 m in . ,  07 sec; 5 m in . ,  05 sec. to 5 m in . ,  08 sec. ; 5 m in . ,  

1 8  sec. to 5 m in . ,  2 1  sec. They also heard the lyric "We thug . "  Ex. 65 ,  at 4 m in . ,  2 0  sec. 

to 4 m in . ,  21 sec. See Praatika Prasad , Note , I mpl icit Racia l  B iases in Prosecutoria l  

Summat ions :  Propos i ng an I ntegrated Response , 86 FORDHAM L .  REV. 309 1 , 3098 

(20 1 8) (cited i n  Bagby. 200 Wn .2d at 794) ( identify ing the word "thug" as racia l ly coded 

language) . An objective observer cou ld conclude that these lyrics were apparently 

i ntentiona l ly p layed to ins inuate , in a l ignment with the State's theory,  that the shooti ng 

was done i n  commemoration of the death of Bel lerouche's " rig ht-hand man" whom he 

was g rievi ng . 

It is wel l  documented that "the image that predominates rap mus ic i n  the pub l ic  

eye is that of  the stereotypical gangster, th ug ,  outlaw, or  crim ina l . "  Denn is ,  supra , at  1 8 ; 

see also, §.&., Walker ,  supra ,  at 443-46 ; Vid haath Sripath i ,  Note , Bars Beh i nd Bars :  

Rap Lyrics, Character Evidence, and  State V .  Skinner ,  24 J .  GENDER RACE & JUST. 207 , 

2 1 8- 1 9 (202 1 ) .  Prosecutors may i nterject rap lyrics i nto a case to leverage years of 

hosti le med ia coverage and negative stereotypes toward rap to impute a negative 

reflect ion onto the defendant's character or to "shore up a case . "  Jack Lerner ,  Rap on 

Tria l :  A Brief H istory, 27 CHAP . L. REV. 405 , 425 (2024) ; see also Thompson ,  supra ,  at 

1 269-70 (d iscuss ing the poss ib le dangerous prejud ic ia l  effects caused by racial 

stereotypes associated with rap music and lyrics) . 

Here ,  by never defi n ing what "beef" referred to and j uxtapos ing it with san itized 

terms for an otherwise generic "argument" or  "fig ht , " the prosecutor effectively cleared 

the way for the j u ry to associate the word "beef" with other objectively od ious 

breadcrumbs to re inforce the stereotype that Bel lerouche,  because he is B lack, was 
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more l i ke ly to have ruth lessly shot Rob i nson for no reason other than to "sin aga in "  as a 

commemorative act for h is dead friend . 

Also contribut ing to th is troub l i ng  context was detectives' test imony that the B lack 

man in the b lue sh i rt shown in the memorial video "appeared" to look l i ke Bel lerouche 

and that he held an object that "appeared" to be a fi rearm . The prosecutor i ntrod uced 

th is test imony desp ite the fact detectives had the ab i l ity to enhance the video to ru le i n  

or  ru le out  whether the object was a gun  but  chose not to  do so . See Ex .  78 .  Why risk 

ru l i ng  out potent ial evidence? The prosecutor's i ntrod uct ion of the detectives' op in ion 

test imony objectively appeals to the b iased notion that an un identified object i n  a B lack 

man 's hand is l i ke ly to be a fi rearm . See Lee , supra ,  at 1 580-86 , 1 582 n . 1 64 (d iscuss ing 

the B lack-as-crim i nal  stereotype i n  the context of  shooter b ias stud ies that "provide 

strong evidence that ind ivid uals are qu icker to associate B lack ind ivid uals with weapons 

[rather than , for example ,  harm less tools] and to perce ive B lacks as armed and 

dangerous ,  regard less of whether they are actua l ly armed and dangerous") . 

Another nefarious breadcrumb consisted of the prosecutor's question i ng of 

Bel lerouche that baselessly imp l ied he was a d rug dealer .  The prosecutor asked 

Rob inson whether he d id coca ine in the parki ng lot. Wh i le Rob inson testified that he 

used coca ine ,  he d id not testify that he bought it from Bel lerouche.  Rob i nson instead 

testified that both Bel lerouche and Nguyen had coca ine and he ,  Rob inson ,  "even 

pu rchased some from [Nguyen] . "  Sti l l ,  the prosecutor to ld Bel lerouche on cross , 

" [Robi nson] also testified that he bought some coca ine from you . "  After Bel lerouche,  

who presumably heard Rob i nson testify, responded by sayi ng that that was not true ,  the 

prosecutor fo l lowed up by aski ng , " I 'm  aski ng if you are testify ing ' I  know I d id not se l l  
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coca ine to Terrance Rob i nson , '  or  are you saying ' I t 's not true .  I never se l l  coca i ne'?" 

Bel lerouche answered , " I 've never sold coca ine to Terrance Rob i nson . "  The exchange 

left the subtle i nnuendo that Bel lerouche was a d rug dealer .  

I t  is i n  th is context of the enti re tria l  that an objective observer cou ld conclude the 

prosecutor's use of "beef" was apparently i ntentiona l ly used to activate j u rors' racial b ias 

based on stereotypes that associate B lack defendants with crim ina l ity and cu lpab i l ity 

based on the i r  race . See Cynth ia Kwei Yung Lee , Race and Self-Defense: Toward A 

Normative Conception of Reasonab leness , 8 1  M I N N .  L .  REV. 367 , 403-05 ,  409- 1 2 ( 1 996) 

(d iscuss ing the "entrenched" B lack-as-crim i nal stereotype) . 

The prosecutor's clos ing argument expressly h igh l i ghts the chal lenges the State 

faced to convi nce the j u ry to bel ieve Rob i nson over Bel lerouche.  The prosecutor fi rst 

argued that Rob inson "m ight be d ifferent from an average Seattle j u ror" and he was "not 

pretend ing to be a straight- laced boy scout hang ing out on Au rora at 2 : 30 a .m . "  The 

prosecutor conti n ued , " [Robi nson is] fam i l iar  with coca ine and guns . "  G iven the risk that 

th is evidence cou ld t ip the cred ib i l ity sca le i n  favor of Bel lerouche so as to fata l ly 

underm ine the State's case , an objective observer cou ld determ ine that the prosecutor's 

racia l ly coded "beef" remarks cou ld awaken j u rors' potent ial b ias to underm ine 

Bel lerouche's cred ib i l ity and t ip the scale back toward Rob inson . See Bagby, 200 

Wn .2d at 79 1 -92 , 802 . 

D. Basis in Evidence 

The fou rth and fi na l  factor requ i res a court to cons ider whether the al leged 

m iscond uct was re levant to the defendant's charges , re levant to the facts of the case , or 

was otherwise based on evidence in  the record . I d .  at 797 . 
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The majority concludes that the prosecutor employed the term "beef" to estab l ish 

the c i rcumstances around the crime .  Majority at 26 , 28 .  I d isag ree . F i rst, a prosecutor's 

race-based m isconduct is not excused by a race-neutral  exp lanation . See Berhe ,  1 93 

Wn .2d at 666 . Second , if the prosecutor's purpose was on ly to establ ish the 

c i rcumstances around the crime ,  the prosecutor cou ld have s imp ly l im ited the remarks 

or questions to the san itized terms of "argument" or "fig ht . " See Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 

795-96 ; Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d at 679 . Th i rd ,  the prosecutor's remarks were not prompted 

by the facts of the case . The prosecutor's repeated , strateg ic use of the term "beef, " i n  

context , was not re levant to  the defendant's charges or otherwise based on evidence i n  

t he  record . There was no evidence of any  "beef" between Bel lerouche and  Rob inson ,  or  

any of the ind ivid uals who were present at  the parki ng lot when the shoot ing occu rred . 

F ina l ly ,  the majority ana log izes the present case to th is cou rt's decis ion i n  

Roberts , 32 Wn . App .  2d 57 1 , also cited by the State . But Roberts is i napposite .  I n  

Roberts , th is cou rt held that "the prosecutor's apparent pu rpose for e l icit i ng the 

test imony was to show that [the defendant] was describ ing the c i rcumstances of the 

bu rg lary in h is music video and rap lyrics" that objectively contrad icted defense's theory.  

kl at 607 . In the instant case , Bel lerouche's defense d id not present any theory or 

argument regard i ng a preced ing "beef" that wou ld objectively warrant the State's 

response ,  as was establ ished i n  Roberts . See id . at 606-07 . As stated above , the use of 

"beef" at Bel lerouche's tria l  was i ntrod uced by the prosecutor at open ing . 46 And the 

46 As the majority notes , the State fi led a mot ion to supplement the record after oral 
argument .  See majority at 29 n . 1 1 .  The majority's decis ion to affi rm Bel lerouche's convict ion 
rendered the mot ion moot. See id .  I would deny the State's motion .  The State requested to fi le 
an explanat ion as to why the prosecutor used "beef" at tria l  that re l ied on facts outs ide of the 
record . F i rst, where the cla im is brought on d i rect appeal ,  the reviewing court wi l l  not consider 
matters outs ide the tria l  record . State v. McFarland , 1 27 Wn .2d 322 , 335, 899 P .2d 1 25 1  ( 1 995) . 
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prosecutor's contin ued use of "beef" was not i n  response to any evidence presented 

du ring the cou rse of tria l .  See Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 793 , 797 . The on ly t ime that "beef" 

was uttered du ring tria l  was by the prosecutor. 47 

For the forego ing reasons ,  based on a close review of the prosecutor's 

chal lenged conduct i n  the context of Bel lerouche's enti re tria l ,  I wou ld hold that 

Bel lerouche met h is burden of estab l ish ing that the prosecutor's repeated and strateg ic 

use of the term "beef" was an apparently i ntentional  appeal to j u rors' potent ial racial 

b ias that underm ined Bel lerouche's cred ib i l ity and presumption of i nnocence .  Such 

race-based prosecutor ial m iscond uct is per se prejud icia l .  kl at 786 n . 5 .  I wou ld thus 

reverse Bel lerouche's convict ion on th is basis and remand for a new tria l .  

Evidentiary Cha l lenge 

The majority fi nds no abuse of d iscret ion in the tria l  cou rt's adm ission of the 

December 2020 photos of Bel lerouche weari ng the "Hennyth ing Is  Poss ib le Ton ight" T­

sh i rt that depicts a mostly bare bottom next to a Hennessey bott le .  Majority at 1 1 - 1 2 . I 

d isag ree . Any ostens ib le re levance is based on specu lation . Even assum ing arguendo 

that the photos were m in ima l ly re levant, any such re levance is substantia l ly outweighed 

by the danger of unfa i r  p rejud ice .  Where some may describe the image as '"cheesy
"' 

and " l ig htly embarrass ing , "  as the majority does here ,  see id . at 1 2 , others cou ld 

Second , because th is court shou ld ana lyze race-based prosecutoria l  m isconduct from an 
objective standpo int ,  the subjective reasons beh ind the prosecutor's use of "beef' at  tria l  are 
i rre levant to th is court's i nqu i ry .  See Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 791 -92 . 

47 I am perplexed by the majority's statement that the prosecutor's use of "beef" was 
"derived" from Robinson and Bel lerouche's test imony.  See majority at 28 .  The prosecutor 
i ntroduced the term "beef' at open ing and , as I state above , conti nued to un i latera l ly i ntroduce 
the term throughout the tria l .  Neither Robinson nor Bel lerouche used the term during the ir  
test imony.  How Robinson or Bel lerouche can then take ownersh ip  for the prosecutor's use of 
"beef' at tria l  is unclear. 
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describe the image as objectify ing women and ag ree with defense that the photos 

improperly cast Bel lerouche in a negative l i ght laced with m isogyny. I wou ld thus hold 

that the tria l  cou rt abused its d iscret ion by adm itt ing the photos and that the error was 

not harm less . Accord ing ly ,  I also wou ld reverse Bel lerouche's convict ion on th is bas is .  

As the majority states , a tria l  cou rt's decis ion to adm it evidence shou ld not be 

overtu rned absent a man ifest abuse of d iscretion .  State v .  Nea l ,  1 44 Wn .2d 600 , 609 , 

30 P . 3d 1 255 (200 1 ) ; State v. Rice ,  48 Wn . App .  7 ,  1 1 ,  737 P .2d 726 ( 1 987) . A tria l  

cou rt abuses its d iscret ion when its decis ion is man ifestly un reasonable ,  exercised on 

untenable g rounds ,  or  exercised for untenable reasons .  State v .  Broussard , 25 Wn . 

App .  2d 781 , 787 , 525 P . 3d 6 1 5 (2023) . A court's decis ion is man ifestly un reasonable if 

it is "outs ide the range of acceptable choices g iven the facts and the legal standard . "  

State v .  Rundqu ist, 79 Wn . App .  786 , 793 , 905 P .2d 922 ( 1 995) . In other words ,  abuse 

of d iscret ion occu rs not where the issue cou ld be decided d ifferently but where '" no 

reasonable person wou ld take the view adopted by the tria l  cou rt . "' State v .  Salgado­

Mendoza , 1 89 Wn .2d 420 , 427 , 403 P . 3d 45 (20 1 7) (emphasis om itted) ( i nternal 

quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng State v .  Perez-Cervantes , 1 4 1  Wn .2d 468 , 475 , 6 

P . 3d 1 1 60 (2000)) . 

A. Background 

The tria l  cou rt adm itted the photos over defense object ions that the photos were 

not re levant, and even if they were m i n imal ly re levant, any re levance was substantia l ly 

outweighed by the danger of unfa i r  p rej ud ice .  

At tria l ,  after defense counsel moved to  exclude the photos outs ide of the 

presence of the j u ry ,  the State argued : 
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[O]ne of the ways that the State is identifying Mr. Bel lerouche as present 

at the scene of this crime is that his fingerprints were left on a cognac 
bottle. There is testimony that Mr. Bel lerouche - this testimony came in 
through Mr. Robinson that Mr .  Bellerouche was one of the people drinking 

cognac on the night of this shooting. The fact that Mr. Bellerouche is later 
arrested wearing a cognac t-shirt, a t-shirt indicating - wel l ,  it's a brand of 
cognac. It's a separate brand, but it's still the same drink. Is relevant. I 

think it makes it more probative, it makes it more l ikely that Mr. 
Bellerouche's prints would be left on a cognac bottle. It makes it more 
l ikely that the testimony that he was drinking cognac on the night of the 

shooting is credible testimony. So I think it is very relevant, and that is our 
theory of relevance. 

Bellerouche challenged both the relevancy and prejudicial prongs of ER 403. 

First, defense counsel asserted that the T-shirt was not relevant because Hennessy is a 

completely different brand of cognac than Remy Mart in .  Defense later added:  

To show a photo of a bare exposed bottom with a shirt with a totally 
different brand there's no value placed on why someone owns - these are 
al l  inferences the State is asking for the jury to draw, why someone buys 

the shirt, why someone wears the shirt, what that means. 

Second, defense counsel argued that any probative value was outweighed by the 

highly prejudicial nature of the image, which showed Bel lerouche "in a shirt with an 

exposed woman's bottom in it." Defense argued that there was alternative, less 

prejudicial evidence for the jury to consider: 

The State has [already] put on two of three fingerprint experts who are 
going to talk about Mr. Bellerouche's fingerprints on that [Remy Martin] 

bottle. That evidence is coming into court, has already come into court . 
. .  . I think, if anyth ing, maybe testimony from an officer saying, you know, 
when encountered, [Bellerouche] was wearing a shirt that had a Hennessy 

reference on it . . . .  

Indeed, prior to the parties' arguments regarding the admissibil ity of the photos, 

which occurred after trial began ,  the State introduced testimony from two fingerprint 

examiners who testified that latent prints on the Remy Martin cognac bottle from the 

parking lot were identified to Bellerouche. Earlier, it had been communicated to the 
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court that the State planned to question a third fingerprint examiner. Additionally, at the 

time the court heard the motion to exclude, Bellerouche had already conceded in his 

opening statement that he was in the parking lot when the shooting occurred.  

After hearing the parties' arguments, the trial court acknowledged that the T-shirt 

was for a different brand of cognac and the fact Bel lerouche was "wearing the shirt 

doesn't necessarily mean that he drinks it," but determined that defense could address 

these disconnects through cross examination. The court also acknowledged "the shirt 

can be potentially considered by the jury as crude," but denied defense's motion to 

exclude. The trial court stated : 

The State is asserting in this case that the cognac bottle located at 

the alleged scene of the incident had Mr. Bellerouche's fingerprints on it 
and is attempting to show that Mr. Bellerouche enjoyed drinking 
Hennessy, a type of cognac. Even though it's a d ifferent brand and even 

though the fact that he's wearing the shirt doesn't necessarily mean that 
he drinks it, those are al l  things that certa inly the defense is able to cross­
examine and argue about. But in this particular case, it is relevant the fact 

that Hennessy, a cognac bottle was found at the scene. 

The court granted the State's request to admit and publish to the jury both a CD and an 

8.5 x 1 1 -inch print of the images. 

The photos of Bel lerouche were referenced twice during trial. First, while 

publishing the photos to the jury, the prosecutor asked detective Rurey if it was 

Bellerouche depicted in the photos. The detective confirmed that it was. The prosecutor 

then asked, "He's wearing a 'Hennything is Possible Tonight' t-shirt. Is that correct?" 

Rurey agreed. The prosecutor then el icited from Rurey that Hennessy is a brand of 

cognac. Later during cross, the prosecutor asked Bellerouche whether he likes cognac, 

including Remy Martin and Hennessy. Despite Bellerouche answering in the positive, 

the prosecutor continued by having Bel lerouche confirm he was wearing a Hennessy-
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branded T-sh i rt when he was arrested in Arizona .  

B. ER 403 

(i) Relevance 

Differing from the majority ,  I ag ree with Bel lerouche's assert ion that the 

connection between the Hennyth ing Is  Poss ib le Ton ight T-sh i rt and Bel lerouche's 

presence at the scene of the shooting is "s imp ly too attenuated . "  State v .  O 'Connor ,  1 55 

Wn .2d 335 ,  352 , 1 1 9 P . 3d 806 (2005) . 

U nder ER 403 , a tria l  cou rt must determ ine if the probative va lue of re levant 

evidence is substantia l ly outweighed by unfa i r  p rejud ice .  To do th is ,  a cou rt must fi rst 

decide whether the evidence is re levant. Bengtsson v. Sunnyworld I ntl I nc . , 1 4  Wn . 

App .  2d 9 1 , 1 05 ,  469 P . 3d 339 (2020) ; see ER 402 . Evidence that is not re levant is not 

adm iss ib le .  ER 402 . Evidence is re levant if it has "any tendency to make the existence 

of any fact that is of consequence to the determ inat ion of the act ion more probable or 

less probable than it wou ld be without the evidence . "  ER 40 1 . A log ical  nexus must exist 

between the evidence and the fact it is p roffered to estab l ish . State v .  Bu rki ns ,  94 Wn . 

App .  677 , 692 , 973 P .2d 1 5  ( 1 999) . "Thus ,  the evidence must tend to prove , qua l ify or  

d isprove an issue for it to be re levant . " State v .  Peterson , 35 Wn . App .  48 1 , 484 , 667 

P .2d 645 ( 1 983) . 

Here ,  with the understand ing that the th reshold to adm it re levant evidence is very 

low and even m i n imal ly re levant evidence is adm iss ib le ,  State v .  Darden , 1 45 Wn .2d 

6 1 2 ,  62 1 , 4 1  P . 3d 1 1 89 (2002) , it sti l l  stra ins cred u l ity to conclude that Bel lerouche 

weari ng a T-sh i rt dep ict ing a Hennessy bottle i n  Arizona i n  December 2020 makes it 

any more probable that he d rank from a Remy Mart in cognac bottle in a Seattle parki ng 
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lot in J u ly 2020 . By adm itt ing photos of Bel lerouche in the T-sh i rt ,  the fact fi nder is left to 

specu late that Bel lerouche wears the sh i rt because he l i kes Hennessy and that because 

he l i kes Hennessy, he was d ri nking a d ifferent type of cognac one n ight fou r  months 

ago .  Relevancy is a low bar . !sl But it cannot be establ ished by j ump ing th rough hoops 

of conjectu re .  See Peterson , 35 Wn . App .  at 484-85 (affi rm ing tria l  cou rt's excl us ion of 

evidence under ER 401  ) .  

Because the on ly m i n imal  re levance was based o n  conjectu re ,  the photos were 

not probative of any mater ial fact . I wou ld ho ld the i r  adm iss ion was erroneous.  

(ii) Unfair Prejudice 

Assuming arguendo that the two photos of Bel lerouche in  the Hennyth ing Is  

Poss ib le Ton ight T-sh i rt he ld  any re levance ,  I wou ld nonethe less ho ld  that such 

re levance is substantia l ly outweighed by the danger of unfa i r  p rejud ice .  

U nder ER 403 , evidence is barred i f  its probative va lue of  re levance i s  

substantia l ly outweighed by  unfa i r  p rej ud ice .  " [E]vidence of 'scant or  cumu lative 

probative force , d ragged i n  by the heels for the sake of its prejud ic ial effect"' is not 

perm itted . Carson v. F ine ,  1 23 Wn .2d 206 ,  223 , 867 P .2d 6 1 0 ( 1 994) (quoti ng U n ited 

States v .  Roark, 753 F .2d 99 1 , 994 ( 1 1 th C i r . 1 985)) . Evidence is unfa i rly prejud ic ia l  if it 

is l i ke ly to stimu late a j u ror's emotional  response rather than a rat ional decis ion . State v. 

Powe l l ,  1 26 Wn .2d 244 , 264 , 893 P .2d 6 1 5 ( 1 995) ; Rice ,  48 Wn . App .  a t  1 3 . I n  

balancing the probative va lue aga inst the  potent ia l p rejud ic ia l  effect of the  evidence ,  a 

court shou ld consider 

"the importance of the fact of consequence for which the evidence is 
offered i n  the context of the l it igation , the strength and length of the cha in 
of i nferences necessary to estab l ish the fact of consequence ,  the 
ava i lab i l ity of a lternative means of proof, whether the fact of consequence 
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for which the evidence is offered is be ing d isputed , and , where 
appropriate , the potential effectiveness of a l im it ing instruction . "  

State v .  Bedada ,  1 3  Wn . App .  2d 1 85 ,  1 93-94 , 463 P . 3d 1 25 (2020) ( i nternal 

quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng State v .  Kend rick, 47 Wn . App .  620 , 628 ,  736 

P .2d 1 079 ( 1 987)) . '" [ l ] n  doubtfu l cases the scale shou ld be t ipped in favor of the 

defendant and excl us ion of the evidence . "' Powe l l ,  1 26 Wn .2d at 264 (a lterat ion 

i n  orig i nal) ( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng State v .  Sm ith , 1 06 Wn .2d 

772 , 776 , 725 P .2d 95 1 ( 1 986)) . 

U nder ER 403 , "each case must be decided on the basis of its own facts and 

c i rcumstances . "  Rice ,  48 Wn . App .  at 1 3 . In apply ing ER 403 ,  "the l i nchp in  word is 

' u nfa i r , "' which "ob l igates the court to weigh the evidence i n  the context of the tria l  itse lf, 

beari ng in m i nd fa i rness to both the State and defendant. " State v. Bernson ,  40 Wn . 

App .  729 , 736 , 700 P .2d 758 ( 1 985) . U nfa i r  p rejud ice exists where evidence "appeals to 

the j u ry's sympath ies , arouses its sense of horror, p rovokes its i nsti nct to pun ish , or  

'triggers other mainsprings of human action . "' Carson ,  1 23 Wn .2d at 223 (quoting 1 

JACK B .  WEI N STE I N  & MARGARET A. BERGER,  WEINSTE I N ' S  EVI DENCE ,I 403[03] , at 403-36 

( 1 985)) . " [T]he balance may be t ipped toward excl us ion if the evidence is of m i n imal  

p robative va lue or i f  the undesirable characteristics of the evidence are very pronounced . "  

Rice,  48 Wn . App .  at 1 3 . 

Images can sway j u rors i n  ways that words cannot by triggering rap id 

unconscious responses . In  re Pers .  Restra int of G lasmann ,  1 75 Wn .2d 696 , 707-09 ,  

286 P . 3d 673 (20 1 2) (p l u ra l ity op in ion) . "Visual arguments 'man ipu late aud iences by 

harness ing rapid unconscious or emotional  reason i ng processes and by exp lo it i ng the 

fact that we do not genera l ly question the rapid conclus ions we reach based on visua l ly 
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presented information . "' State v .  Salas , 1 Wn . App .  2d 931 , 946 , 408 P . 3d 383 (20 1 8) 

( i nternal quotat ion marks om itted) (quoti ng G lasmann ,  1 75 Wn .2d at 708) . The speed 

'"by which we process and make decis ions based on visual  i nformation confl icts with . . .  

[the] reasoned de l iberation [that] is necessary for a fa i r  just ice system . "' G lasmann ,  1 75 

Wn .2d at 709 (quoting Luci l le A. Jewe l ,  Through a G lass Darkly: Us ing Bra in  and Visual  

Rhetoric to Ga in a Profess ional  Perspective on Visual  Advocacy. 1 9  S. CAL . I NTERD ISC .  

L . J . 237 , 293 (20 1 0)) . Therefore , as a bas ic princ ip le ,  the State shou ld not use images 

to commun icate prejud ic ia l  statements about a defendant that are not supported by or 

i nferable from the record . See McKenzie , 1 57 Wn .2d at 58. In short ,  '"[ i ]f you can't  say 

it ,  don 't d isp lay it . "' Sa las , 1 Wn . App .  2d at 945 (quoti ng Kyle C. Reeves , PowerPoint i n  

Court :  The  Devi l 's Own Device, or  a Potent Prosecution Too l? ,  48 PROSECUTOR,  33 

Oct . -Dec. 20 1 4 , at 26) . 

Weari ng clothes without transm itt ing nonverbal cues is v irtua l ly imposs ib le .  See 

Mohammad Al iakbari , Does I t  Matter What We Wear? A Socio l i ngu istic Study of 

C loth i ng and Human Values , 5 I NT' L J .  L INGU ISTICS 34 , 35 (20 1 3) .  A person 's d ress can 

cause viewers to make decis ions about the person's socia l  backg round and moral 

character. kl Researchers have reported that cloth ing " i nfluences the cred ib i l ity of 

i nd ivid uals . "  kl at 36 . 

Here ,  the photos of Bel lerouche i n  a T-sh i rt featur ing a lcohol  next to a woman's 

mostly bare buttocks and a s logan with a sexual i nnuendo created the r isk of j u rors 

viewing h im negatively ,  i nc lud ing associat ing h im with the objectificat ion of women and 

re lated notions of m isogyny. 

The majority states that " [t] he [tria l ]  cou rt accu rate ly described the [Hennyth ing Is 
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Poss ib le Ton ight] sh i rt as 'crude . "' Majority at 1 1 .  The majority then d ism isses 

Bel lerouche's content ion based on the T-sh i rt be ing merely " 'cheesy"' and " l ig htly 

embarrass ing . "  !sL. at 1 2 . The majority basica l ly holds that a sh i rt with "a s ingu lar  

sexual ly suggestive image on it" cannot be sufficiently unfa i r  to warrant an ER 403 

vio lation . !sL. 

By v i rtue of be ing human , everyone is subject to cogn itive b iases based on our  

i nd ivid ual  l ife experiences . Da le  Larson ,  A Fa i r  and Impl icitly I mpart ia l J ury: An 

Argument for Adm in isteri ng the Impl icit Association Test Duri ng Voi r  D i re ,  3 DEPAUL J .  

FOR  Soc .  JUST. 1 39 ,  1 43-47 (20 1 O) ; Anna  Roberts , (Re)form ing the Jury: Detect ion and 

Dis i nfect ion of Impl icit J u ror B ias ,  44 CONN .  L .  REV. 827 ,  864 & n . 283 (20 1 2) .  For th is 

reason , a reviewing court shou ld try its best to refra i n  from fi ltering the potent ial 

p rejud ic ia l  effect of evidence th rough on ly its own subjective lens. See, Et.9.:., State v .  

Cameron , 1 00 Wn .2d 520 ,  529 , 674 P .2d 650 ( 1 983) (conclud ing that evidence had an 

objectively prejud ic ia l  effect) ; Jeffrey J .  Rach l i nski & And rew J .  Wistrich , Benevolent 

Sexism i n  J udges , 58 SAN D IEGO L .  REV. 1 0 1 ,  1 35 (202 1 )  (d iscuss ing approaches and 

cogn itive tools that j udges can uti l ize to red uce the effect of imp l icit b ias i n  the i r  

decis ions) ; Cou rtney Fraser, Comment ,  F rom "Lad ies F i rst" to "Asking for I t" :  

Benevolent Sexism i n  the Maintenance of Rape Cu ltu re ,  1 03 CAL .  L .  REV. 1 4 1 , 1 80-84 

(20 1 5) (d iscuss ing evident iary issues re lated to rape sh ield laws that can be 

man ipu lated based on gender b iases or norms) . 

The majority recogn izes the T-sh i rt as "sexua l ly suggestive" and proceeds to re ly 

on its own categorizat ion of the T-sh i rt without consideration of how the various 

members of a j u ry cou ld view it . Majority at 1 2 ; see Catherine Ross Dunham ,  Th i rd 
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Generation D iscrim i nation : The Ripple Effects of Gender B ias i n  the Workplace , 5 1  

AKRON L .  REV. 5 5 ,  90-92 (20 1 7) (d iscuss ing the ro le of gender b ias i n  jud ic ia l  decis ions) . 

I ndeed , the State i n  its briefi ng describes the T-sh i rt as "s l ig htly risq ue . "  I n  a society 

r idd led with systemic sexism and m isogyny, 48 the majority does not cons ider it is just as 

l i ke ly that one j u ror may not be impacted by the "crude" or " risque" T-sh i rt as it is that 

another may be offended by it-or by the not ion that someone wou ld choose to wear it .  

See id . at 92-94 (stat ing that appel late j udges are not immune from imp l icit b ias and 

"[c]hang ing hab itual modes of th i nking and act ing on gender requ i res a concerted effort 

by the jud ic iary") ; see also Jane L .  Dolkart ,  Hosti le Environment Harassment :  Equal ity, 

Objectivity, and the Shaping of Legal Standards ,  43 EMORY L . J . 1 5 1 ,  1 85-86 ( 1 994) 

(stat ing that gender "stereotypes act to sanct ion male deg radat ion and vio lence toward 

women and to triv ia l ize the i r  consequences" and " [s] ubstant ial socia l  science research 

supports the conclus ion that gender has a strong effect on ind ividua ls' perceptions of 

what constitutes sexual harassment, with women s ign ificantly more l i ke ly than men to 

label conduct as harass ing and offens ive") . 

Moreover, the majority fa i ls to consider ,  as requ i red i n  an ER 403 i nqu i ry ,  that 

there was ample alternative evidence49 to p lace Bel lerouche at the scene of the 

shoot ing and that ,  in fact , by the t ime the court considered the motion to exclude the 

photos , the State was aware that Bel lerouche's presence in the parki ng lot was not 

d isputed . See Bedada,  1 3  Wn . App .  2d at 1 94 ;  State v. Johnson ,  90 Wn . App .  54 , 62 , 

950 P .2d 98 1 ( 1 998) (cit ing ER 403 cmt. ) .  

48 Ann C .  McG in ley, M isogyny and Murder, 4 5  HARV. J .  L .  & GENDER 1 77 ,  228 (2022) . 
49 The majority acknowledges th is factor but fa i ls  to address it i n  its analys is .  See 

majority at 1 0 . 
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At open ing  defense counsel conceded Bel lerouche's presence at the scene of 

Rob inson's shooti ng . 5° Further , at the t ime the tria l  cou rt considered Bel lerouche's 

motion to exclude the photos , it was apparent to the court and the parties that the State 

had fi ngerpri nt evidence l i nking Bel lerouche to the Remy Mart in cognac bottle found in  

the parki ng lot. Even so ,  defense suggested that, i f  anyth ing , an officer cou ld testify that 

when the officer encountered Bel lerouche he was weari ng a sh i rt that had a Hennessy 

reference on it. 

"Wh i le our  standard of review provides g reat deference to the tria l  cou rt's 

evident iary ru l i ngs ,  it does not immun ize them . "  Broussard , 25 Wn . App .  2d at 789 . For 

the above reasons ,  I wou ld hold that any m in imal  re levance of the photos of 

Bel lerouche in the Hennyth ing Is  Poss ib le Ton ight T-sh i rt was eas i ly substantia l ly 

outweighed by the danger of unfa i r  p rej ud ice to render the i r  adm ission an abuse of 

d iscretion .  

(iii) Harmless Error 

To close , I ag ree with Bel lerouche's argument that the tria l  cou rt's erroneous 

adm ission of the photos cannot be harm less i n  a tria l  that boi led down to h is word 

aga inst Rob i nson 's .  

Because the tria l  cou rt's erroneous adm ission of  the photos was not one of  a 

"constitutional  mandate , "  th is cou rt appl ies the nonconstitutional  harm less error test to 

50 I n  its briefi ng the State cla ims that th is court cannot conclude that no reasonable 
person would have adm itted the photo of Bel lerouche weari ng the Hennyth ing I s  Poss ible 
Ton ight T-sh i rt "when a bottle of cognac was a key piece of evidence t ied to the scene of the 
shooti ng . "  The State states it " had no way to know that Bel lerouche would take the witness 
stand and adm it dri nking cognac. "  But, as the State purports in its briefi ng , the pu rpose of the 
bottle of cognac was to place Bel lerouche in the parki ng lot where Robinson was shot .  
Therefore , the fact that defense had conceded Bel lerouche's presence at the scene of the 
shooti ng at open ing makes the State's argument untenable .  
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determ ine whether reversal is requ i red . State v .  Bourgeo is ,  1 33 Wn .2d 389 , 403 , 945 

P .2d 1 1 20 ( 1 997) . U nder the nonconstitutional harm less error test, this cou rt's task is to 

determ ine whether it is reasonably probable that "had the error not occu rred , the 

outcome of the tria l  wou ld have been materia l ly affected . "  State v .  Cunn i ngham , 93 

Wn .2d 823 ,  83 1 , 6 1 3 P .2d 1 1 39 ( 1 980) . 

The nonconstitutional  harm less error "analys is does not tu rn on whether there is 

sufficient evidence to convict without the inadm iss ib le evidence . "  State v .  Gower, 1 79 

Wn .2d 85 1 , 857 , 32 1 P . 3d 1 1 78 (20 1 4) (citi ng State v. Gresham , 1 73 Wn .2d 405 , 433-

34 , 269 P . 3d 207 (20 1 2)) . Rather, " [t] he improper adm ission of evidence constitutes 

harm less error if the evidence is of m i nor s ign ificance in reference to the overa l l ,  

overwhe lm ing evidence as a whole . "  Bou rgeo is ,  1 33 Wn .2d at 403 (emphasis added) .  

The  State argues that any  potent ial p rejud ice posed by  the Hennessy T-sh i rt 

photos was "m in imal  when viewed aga inst the backd rop of the enti re tria l "  that consisted 

of g raph ic  testimon ies about Rob inson's i nj u ries , i nc lud ing h is own test imony about the 

shooting . But the question in front of the j u ry was not whether Rob inson was shot, but 

who shot h im .  And there s imp ly was not overwhe lm ing evidence as  a whole that 

Bel lerouche was the person who shot Rob inson .  

I t  i s  und isputed that Bel lerouche was present i n  the parki ng lot when Rob i nson 

was shot .  However, the video evidence and Rob i nson's own test imony estab l ish that 

many people were i n  the parki ng lot lead ing up  to and/or when the shoot ing occu rred . 

See Ex. 1 7 , at 2 : 02 : 34 a . m .  to 2 : 04 : 54 a . m . ;  2 : 1 6 :44 a . m .  to 2 : 1 6 : 55 a . m . ; 2 : 26 : 1 4  a . m .  

to 2 :26 :22 a . m .  Desp ite see ing that the veh icle i n  which Rob i nson was shot was a l ready 

parked with people i ns ide it at 2 a . m . ,  po l ice d id not request secu rity video that may 
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have captu red any i nteract ions or com ings and go ings prior to 2 a . m .  And although 

Rob inson was able to confi rm some i nformation about a potent ial witness who was i n  a 

car fac ing Nguyen 's car when the shooti ng occu rred , i nclud ing that it was a person who 

came alone and was from out of town , Rob i nson cla imed that he d id not know who this 

person was and d id not know the i r  "government" name. U lt imate ly, with no other d i rect 

evidence to estab l ish Bel lerouche as the shooter, it was h is word aga inst Rob inson 's .  

The majority's analys is ,  see majority at  1 3- 1 5 ,  d isregards precedent where in  

Wash ington cou rts have held that erroneously adm itted evidence cannot be harm less i n  

cases that are cred ib i l ity contests . See, �. Gresham , 1 73 Wn .2d a t  433-34 ; Gower, 

1 79 Wn .2d at 858 ;  State v .  Eaton , 30 Wn . App .  288 , 297 , 633 P .2d 92 1 ( 1 98 1 ) ;  State v .  

Lucas , 1 67 Wn . App .  1 00 ,  1 1 1 , 1 1 2 ,  27 1 P . 3d 394 (20 1 2) ,  overru led on other grounds 

QY State v .  Mohamed , 1 86 Wn .2d 235 ,  247-48 ,  375 P . 3d 1 068 (20 1 6) ;  State v .  Jones , 

1 2  Wn . App .  2d 677 , 686 , 459 P . 3d 424 (2020) . As th is cou rt stated previously i n  the 

context of a harm less error analys is ,  

Because cred ib i l ity determ inat ions cannot be dup l icated by a review of the 
written record , at least in cases where the defendant's excu lpati ng story is 
not facia l ly unbel ievable ,  th is cou rt is not i n  a posit ion to say, beyond a 
reasonable doubt ,  that any reasonable j u ry wou ld have reached the same 
resu lt ,  absent the prejud ic ia l  error comm itted . 

State v. Gut ierrez ,  50 Wn . App .  583 , 59 1 , 749 P .2d 2 1 3 ( 1 988) . 

For th is reason ,  the majority's reason i ng that "the j u ry had ample evidence other 

than the sh i rt photos to assess Bel lerouche's word aga inst Robi nson's" is off the mark.  

Majority at 1 5 ; see, �. Gower, 1 79 Wn .2d at 857-58 ("Because cred ib i l ity was the 

main issue i n  th is case, . . .  we cannot say [erroneous] adm iss ion of that evidence was 

harm less . ") .  The determ inat ion of the photos' harm lessness is not based on the j u ry 
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otherwise havi ng sufficient evidence to convict Bel lerouche of the charges aga inst h im ,  

see Grower, 1 79 Wn .2d at 857 , but whether the prejud ic ia l  effect of the photos is 

ins ign ificant as compared to overwhe lm ing evidence as a whole .  See Bourgeo is ,  1 33 

Wn .2d at 403 . That is categorica l ly not the case i n  a cred ib i l ity contest such as th is .  

Fu rthermore ,  the majority's comparison of the ro le of the Hennessy T-sh i rt 

photos i n  Bel lerouche's tria l  with the images i n  Salas, 1 Wn . App .  2d 93 1 is m isgu ided . 

See majority at 1 3 . I n  Salas , th is cou rt held that an image of Sa las next to the vict im 

with captions label l i ng  Salas as a footba l l  p layer and the vict im as a music ian evoked 

h igh  school stereotypes and "made the visual  po int that Salas was dangerous" and the 

vict im was meek. 1 Wn . App .  2d at 945-47 .  The court observed that because the s l ides 

were presented at clos ing , they "were among the j u rors' fi na l  impress ions of the case . "  

kl at 947 .  Because the photos of Bel lerouche were not s im i larly contrasted o r  

emphas ized du ring clos ing , the majority concludes the photos d id not have any mater ial 

effect on the j u ry's verd ict .  Majority at 1 4- 1 5 .  The majority observes that the T-sh i rt 

"photos were on ly briefly referenced by the State i n  front of the jury" and were not 

d isp layed or referenced at clos ing argument. kl at 1 4 . 

The record shows that the photos were d isp layed and adm itted i nto evidence 

du ring the prosecutor's question ing of detective Rurey. The majority overlooks the fact 

that because the photos were adm itted , the j u rors cou ld view them as much as they 

wanted du ring de l i berations .  When the photos were adm itted , the court g ranted the 

prosecutor's request to pub l ish wh i le the prosecutor unnecessari ly asked the detective 

to confi rm that Bel lerouche was "weari ng a 'Hennyth ing is Poss ib le Ton ight' t-sh i rt . "  

After the prosecutor e l icited from Bel lerouche that he l i kes cognac, inc lud ing Hennessy, 
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the prosecutor nonethe less asked him if he was "weari ng a Hennessy branded t-sh i rt . "  

The majority also does not add ress that the Salas court's analys is perta i ned to  a 

general  (non-race-based) prosecutoria l  m isconduct5 1  al legation , not an evident iary 

chal lenge.  See 1 Wn . App .  2d at 938-47 . To th is end , the majority aga in  d isregards the 

establ ished ru le that, i n  the context of a tria l  that red uced down to whether the j u ry 

bel ieved the defendant or  the victim ,  the erroneous adm iss ion of evidence cannot be 

harm less . See State v .  Gauth ier ,  1 74 Wn . App .  257 , 270-7 1 , 298 P . 3d 1 26 (20 1 3) .  Th is 

is not equ ivalent to the analys is the Salas court conducted to determ ine whether the 

prosecutor's conduct "de l iberate ly appealed to the j u ry's pass ion and prej ud ice" so as to 

"encou rage[] the j u ry to base the verd ict on the improper argument . "  Salas , 1 Wn . App .  

2d  at 946 (emphasis added) .  

As such , the majority's analys is conflates the issue of the photos' p rejud ic ia l  

effect with that of whether the i r  erroneous adm iss ion was harm less i n  the context of 

Bel lerouche's tria l .  See majority at 1 4- 1 5 .  I n  do ing so ,  the majority m istaken ly a l lows the 

facts and c i rcumstances of Salas to wash out the substantive ru le it stands for as to the 

use of visual  too ls .  That is ,  that images "may not be used to i nflame pass ion and 

prejud ice" or  "commun icate[] what the prosecutor cou ld not . . .  argue aloud . "  Salas, 1 

Wn . App .  2d at 944-45 ,  945-47 ;  see Walker ,  1 82 Wn .2d at 468.  

Here ,  the photos risked othering or d istancing Bel lerouche from the j u ry by 

portraying h im in an unfavorable l i ght .  As defense counsel argued below, d isp layi ng 

5 1  Under the general prosecutoria l  m isconduct test, a court must determ ine whether the 
prosecutor's conduct was both improper and prejud ic ia l  i n  the context of the ent ire tria l .  Monday, 
1 7 1 Wn .2d at 675; Bagby, 200 Wn .2d at 788. A prosecutor's conduct is prejud ic ia l  '"on ly where 
there is a substantia l  l i ke l i hood the m isconduct affected the j u ry's verd ict . "' Monday, 1 7 1 Wn .2d 
at 675 (emphasis and i nternal  quotat ion marks om itted) (quot ing State v. Yates,  1 6 1 Wn .2d 7 1 4 , 
774 , 1 68 P . 3d 359 (2007) ) .  
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Bel lerouche in the T-sh i rt begged j u rors to ask the quest ions of why someone wou ld 

buy or wear a sh i rt that objectifies women and what that means .  Th is is exactly the 

danger that the Salas court was referri ng to . See 1 Wn . App .  2d at 946-47 . 

I n  the context of a cred ib i l ity contest, it is not poss ib le for th is cou rt to say that 

had the error not occu rred , the outcome of the tria l  wou ld not have been materia l ly 

d ifferent. Accord ing ly ,  I wou ld hold that the tria l  cou rt's erroneous adm ission of the 

photos was not harm less and warrants reversa l .  I therefore respectfu l ly d issent. 

CONCLUS ION 

I n  sum , I wou ld ho ld that Bel lerouche met h is bu rden i n  estab l ish ing  that the 

prosecutor's use of "beef" i n  the context of th is tria l  was an apparently i ntentional  appeal 

to j u rors' potent ial racial b ias that cou ld have underm ined h is cred ib i l ity or  presumption 

of i n nocence .  I also wou ld hold that the tria l  cou rt abused its d iscret ion i n  adm itt ing the 

December 2020 photos of Bel lerouche weari ng the "Hennyth ing Is  Poss ib le Ton ight" T­

sh i rt .  Any potent ia l re levance was based on conjectu re ,  and , even if the photos were 

m i n imal ly re levant, such re levance was substantia l ly outweighed by the risk of unfa i r  

p rejud ice .  G iven that the j u ry's determ inat ion of  whether Bel lerouche was the shooter 

tu rned on a cred ib i l ity contest , the erroneous adm ission of the photos cannot be 

harm less . E ither error warrants reversal of Bel lerouche's conviction .  Accord i ng ly ,  I 

wou ld reverse both convict ions and remand for a new tria l .  
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F I LED 
3/26/2025 

Court of Appeals 
D iv ision I 

State of Wash ington 

IN TH E COU RT OF APPEALS OF TH E STATE OF WAS H I N GTON 

STATE OF WAS H I NGTO N ,  

Respondent ,  

V .  

BERNARD BELLEROUCHE ,  

A el lant .  

No. 84887-9- 1 

D IVIS ION ONE  

ORDER DENYI NG MOTION 
FOR RECONS I DERATION 

Appel lant ,  Bernard Bel lerouche,  fi led a motion for reconsideration of the 

op in ion fi led on March 1 7 , 2025 in the above case . A majority of the panel has 

determ ined that the motion should be den ied . Any clerical errors or scrivener's errors 

i n  the majority op in ion wi l l  be corrected by the Wash ington State Office of the 

Reporter of Decis ions. 

Now, therefore ,  it is hereby 

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration is den ied . 

FOR TH E COU RT: 

J udge 
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